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FOREWORD 

 
 
Dear Ian, 
 
I wish you luck with your book. 
 
I was happy to serve in H.M. Forces and I had the 
good fortune to be in The Band of the 10th Royal 
Hussars in India when I was only a teenager. Fate 
was kind and made me lucky. 
 
I could enjoy football, cricket, swimming, 
athletics and gymnastics; in fact, any sport you 
could think of. Smashing food, my own bed, and 
most important of all, wonderful mates. 
I then got into the Concert Party and you 
probably know the rest. I can assure you, that I 
owe every step of my happy career to the army. 
 
With kindest regards and best wishes. 
Yours most sincerely. 
 
 
NORMAN WISDOM. 
 



 

 
Norman & David at the very beginning 

of our fund-raising efforts. 



 
INTRODUCTION 

 
When I finally arrived at that magic age 

of 18, I was, at last officially old enough to have 
a drink with my father in the company of the 
people, and at the place where he felt welcome,  
Urmston Royal British Legion. 

In those days it was a family club. All the 
old, (that should read ex.), forces men and 
women gathered here week after week, month 
after month, year after year. It was their club, 
they had fought for it and they made sure they 
enjoyed it. 

It was here, that he and his mates used to 
reminisce about their youth. A very special 
youth, with many strange and wonderful tales 
that would captivate my imagination for ever. My 
youth, in comparison to his, just seemed so 
incredibly dull. After all, here I was at 18, sat in a 
bar in one of the most peaceful little towns in this 
great country of ours and not once had I ventured 
any further than our own beaches. Yet he and his 
whole generation were fighting their way across 
the battlefields of the world at my age; some even 
younger, many never destined to reach it.  

The final decision to collect all these 
stories, was made when I lost my father in 1993, 
just a couple of days before his 75th birthday. He 
was my hero. Not that he’d captured the whole 
German army single handed or anything; it was 
just the fact that my dad was a soldier; and he’d 



fought in a war. Now he was gone and along with 
him a lifetime of memories; not shared too often 
with the families. 

I will never forget him. Especially the 
times we used to travel together to Rhyl during 
those long summer holidays of childhood in a car 
that always seemed to be breaking down, (but my 
dad could fix it.) Like the time we ran out of 
petrol and he had to suck the fuel back up the 
petrol pipe. I remember how he cursed under his 
breath when he swallowed some for his troubles, 
and how he laughed when he saw the look of 
horror on my face as he lit up a cigarette 
afterwards. I was frightened he was going to 
blow up! He was in tears. I’ll never forget that 
day, I can even tell you where it happened. It was 
in the car park of Queensferry Royal British 
Legion; and it was raining. 

I can also remember the time he chased 
me from our house for a good two miles until he 
finally caught up with me. He wouldn’t give up. I 
got a well deserved slap on the backside for being 
cheeky to my mum. It was because of this 
incident that, I got to see the first of many of his 
running medals that he had won whilst he was in 
the Army. I used to think he was an old man then, 
but he was certainly a lot younger than I am now 
and most definitely much fitter.  

Back in Urmston Royal British Legion, in 
each and every corner there is still a story to be 
told. Oh yes, far fewer as the years pass by I 
admit, but they are still there for the listening. It’s 



a little like now. I’m sat here on my own in my 
little office after watching the 50th anniversary of 
‘D. Day’ Celebrations on the television, (yes it is 
still 1994 here). The stories that have emerged 
over these past few days, have been quite 
incredible. So many, and almost, so forgotten. It 
would be criminal not to record these memories 
in an age where history has never been so easily 
recordable. 

The response for this appeal alone, has 
produced enough interesting material for at least 
four books of this size and believe me, trying to 
select a specified number by size and content to 
start the series, was almost too difficult to 
imagine. If yours isn’t in this one; “Don’t miss 
next week’s exciting episode.” as they say, there 
are many more to come. Still so many more to be 
heard and now at long last, to be remembered 
forever in print. This book is a tribute to its 
authors and I’m sure, a treasured possession for 
each of their families. It is just an insight into 
some of the incredible acts of bravery, that had 
become just another way of life for them. 

Because of stories like these, I learned 
about my father ‘the man.’ The terrible things 
he’d endured, the frightening things he’d seen, 
and the way that he’d learned to live with the 
horrors that he must have witnessed during his 
first impressionable years of adulthood. He 
wasn’t bitter, he didn’t hate anyone, and most of 
all, as far as he was concerned, the world didn’t 



owe him anything. He did what was asked of 
him. He wasn’t alone. 

Here is a generation who had lost the 
freedom of their youth, so that mine, and my 
children’s generation, and hopefully many more 
could enjoy theirs. They gave it up for us; and 
what’s more, they were proud to. 

This book is written by people like my 
father. It is a book just about people like my 
father. Just simple, ordinary everyday people, 
with just a little tale to tell. Some very well 
written, some not so well written; Who cares? 
Some are factual accounts of battles and 
incidents, others are just very personal memories 
of a time in a life so long ago. 

I can assure you, these times really 
happened. Some I’m sure, slightly dusty with the 
passing of time and some, I’m even more certain, 
are very understated. Yet each and everyone of 
them touching and most definitely lived through. 
And more importantly, each one is written by a 
Hero, in his own right. 

Please enjoy them and spare a thought for 
what these people went through. A word of 
thanks and a sincere show of gratitude for what 
they gave up for us, would I’m sure, be 
appreciated. A cheery word and a friendly smile, 
five minutes of your time. It’s nothing to ask is 
it? After all, you might just learn something. 

 
 
Ian Billingsley. 
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A SAILOR 
 

Between the security of childhood and the 
insecurity of second childhood, we find a 
fascinating group of creatures called sailors. They 
come in assorted sizes, weights and states of 
sobriety. They are found in bars, on leave, in 
love, always in debt and sometimes on ships. 
Girls love them, taverns tolerate them and the 
tax-payers support them. 

 
A sailor is laziness with a pack of cards, bravery 
with a gun, a protector of the seas with tattooed 
arms and a copy of Playboy. He has the energy of 
a turtle, the slyness of a fox, the brain of an idiot, 
the tales of a sea-captain, the inspiration of 
Casanova and a consistent desire for shore leave. 
When he does work, he really wants something 
connected with a request form. 

 
Some of his likes are women, girls, females, 
parties (2 legged ones) and the opposite sex. His 
dislikes are answering letters, his uniform, 
superior officers, haircuts and getting out of bed. 
No-one else could get into a pocket: A little black 
book. a pack of cards, a packet of fags, a Zippo 
lighter, a can opener, a pencil, a piece of string, a 
picture of his girlfriend, an old station card and 
what’s left of last week’s pay. 

 
He likes to spend his money on girls, beer, 
women, drink, some on horse racing and the rest 



foolishly. Yet a sailor is a magic creature. You 
can lock him out of your home and you can 
scratch him off your mailing list but you can’t 
lock him out of your heart. 

 
He is everything women dream about, some of 
what Captains curse about and one of the only 
group of none swimmers left alive who venture 
on the stormy seas in frail craft. 

 
A sailor is your one and only bleary eyed, good 
for nothing, bundle of worries but all your 
shattered dreams become insignificant when your 
sailor docks and looks at you with bloodshot 
eyes, smiles slightly and says,  

 
“ Hi honey, I’m home.” 
 

So young woman, if you find a sailor, try to love 
him. He tries hard to be good - and his job is a 
lonely one - for many times he is at sea without 
your charms, maybe never seeing a woman for 
weeks on end. If you fall in love with him, do it 
properly, because you will be his life’s blood. He 
will cherish you and love you like no other man 
could. But remember, if you yourself can’t stand 
being alone, or being without your loved one for 
a long time, stay away from a sailor for his sake. 
If you let him down it will break his heart, for 
when he falls in love, it means everything to him 
and he gives his all.   
Anon. 



COURT of NEPTUNE

Whereas, by our Royal condescension,
We decree that our trusty and beloved 
subject

...............................................................
has this day entered our Domain and has 
been duly initiated with all ceremony as 
our subject on board an H.M. TRANSPORT.

We do hereby charge all Sharks, Whales, Eels, Dolphins, 
Gollywogs, etc, to abstain from eating, playing with or 
otherwise maltreating his person.

We further direct all Sailors, Marines, Soldiers and 
Landlubbers, who have not crossed the Equator of Our 
Royal Domain to treat him with the respect due to one of 
Our Loyal Subjects.

Given at our Court,

Davy Jones...

27th December, 1941.

CROSSING THE LINE

This certificate was issued to all ratings and officers on
their first crossing of the Equator.



SHANGHAI INCIDENT 1940. 
 
On the day that Italy declared war on the 

allies, I was stationed aboard the river gun boat 
H.M.S. Peterel.  At this time we were  moored on 
the river Wangpoo Kiang in Shanghai. In view of 
the difference in time, the declaration had come 
during the night hours. I had myself taken a camp 
bed outside onto a gun deck, together with 
mosquito net, as the night was hot and humid. I 
was rudely awakened by one of my crew mates 
shouting words to the effect that; Italy had 
declared war on us, and that we ought to blow 
their gunboat, moored astern of us,  out of the 
water. It was quickly pointed out that Shanghai 
was a neutral port and as such, must be respected. 
Excitement ruled out the possibility of any 
further sleep for the rest of the night. 

At dawn, the next morning, we could see 
an Italian gunboat astern of us at the next 
mooring. It’s crew members observing us 
through their binoculars. As the tide was flowing 
towards them, one of our crew members had the 
idea of inflating a surgical glove, painting the 
face of Hitler on it and letting it drift downstream 
towards them, giving them something to think 
about.   

This we did whilst being carefully 
observed by the ‘Japs’. This caused them to 
embark upon emergency  action as the fingers on 
the glove must have given  them the impression 
that they were the horns of a mine. Boats were 



lowered giving us much entertainment and 
pleasure. The Italian gunboat referred to, was the 
‘Lepanto’, which later that same morning, moved 
to a mew mooring further downstream. During 
this process, she had to pass our gunboat. Much 
to our surprise, they blew a bugle calling the 
ship’s company to attention and saluted us as 
they passed. Possibly therefore, we must have 
been the only warship to receive a salute from the 
enemy in a time of war. 



SALUTE TO THE PETEREL 
 
From what has been written about the 

Peterel, the salute was well deserved. Not only 
was she to engage the enemy a while later, but 
she was to do so in a most historic manner. 

It was in 1969, when Lord Mountbatten, 
Admiral of the Fleet, was leaving the Town Hall 
in Bournemouth, that he stopped to ask the 
Mayor if he knew the police motor-cyclist escort. 
The Mayor admitted that he didn’t. Not 
surprisingly, perhaps, as the officer was wearing 
helmet and goggles. 

Lord Mountbatten explained that the 
officer, Jim Mariner, was one of the Far East 
war-time heroes at the time of Pearl Harbour. He 
added that he hoped the people of Bournemouth 
knew they had such a brave man  serving in their 
police force. 

Jim Mariner, has gone down in history as 
the first British sailor to fire on the Japanese in 
the last war; though he was later to spend four 
years as a P.O.W. 

He was aboard H.M.S. Peterel which, in 
one of the most gallant yet little known actions of 
the war, went down off Shanghai with all guns 
firing, against overwhelming odds. Although a 
U.S. ship nearby had surrendered, the 350 ton 
Peterel, armed with only two three inch guns and 
a few machine guns, fought to the end, taking on 
the concentrated fire of a battle cruiser, a 
destroyer, a gunboat, field guns and tanks. 



Jim, who returned fire with a Lewis gun, 
swam to shore after the Peterel was blown to 
smithereens. He spent the rest of the war in 
P.O.W. camps in Manchuria and Korea. He was 
repatriated after Hiroshima, yet surprisingly 
neither he, nor any of his colleagues, received 
any honours. 

 
 

 
 
 



THE LEGEND OF PEDRO 
 
In my Japanese Prison Camp, there were 

seven long prison sheds to house the prisoners, 
each one divided into sections with rooms at 
strategic points. Running through each of them 
was a gangway with the toilets outside at one 
end. Around the sheds was an electric fence 
about five feet high with a four feet spread. The 
rooms were used by senior ratings and civilians. 
The officers, having their own shed.  

Outside our compound was a road and 
further buildings where the Japanese quarters and 
the cookhouse were. Behind these was a ten foot 
high brick wall running all the way around the 
outside of the camp. On top of this wall was an 
electric fence. There were also guard towers 
placed at strategic places along it, manned for 
twenty four hours a day. 

The Japanese Sgt Major started walking 
about the camp closely followed by a small 
chicken. This thing appeared to have a charmed 
life, for the electric fence was certainly active as 
the loss of a few prisoners had proven. We 
named the chicken Pedro. As the days got longer 
and longer, he began to look better and better. In 
fact, he looked so good that one day he 
disappeared. 

The Japanese pulled the camp virtually to 
pieces in their endeavour to find out just who had 
been responsible for his disappearance, but all 
they found was a few feathers in such a position 



as to be unable to lay the blame at anyone’s 
doorstep so to speak. I never knew how he was 
captured, but I did know how he tasted, for the 
senior American civilians in one of the smaller 
rooms invited me in as a guest to his demise 
party. Although we did not have the benefit of 
roast potatoes and Brussels sprouts to accompany 
him, I can assure everyone that he tasted just as 
good. 

The legend of Pedro gave us a good laugh 
and raised our morale considerably and became 
incorporated in our camp songs. 

 
Jim Mariner.  

Bournemouth, Dorset. 



This document was issued to Jim Mariner in 
January 1942 on boarding the Nitta Maru from 
Shanghai to Woosung. It was already, carrying 
American P.O.W.’s from Wake Island. A number 
were beheaded by order of Captain Saito the 
O.C. Troop executioners being Warrant Officer 
Yoshimura, Petty Officer Takamura and Chief 
Petty Officer Kohara. 

 
The prisoners disobeying the following orders 
will be punished with immediate death: 

 
1.Those disobeying orders and instructions. 
2.Those showing a motion of antagonism and 
raising a sign of opposition. 
3.Those disordering the regulations by 
individualism, egoism, thinking only about 
yourself, rushing for your own goods. 
4.Those talking without permission and raising 
loud voices. 
5. Those walking and moving without order. 
6. Those carrying unnecessary baggage in 
embarking. 
7. Those resisting mutually. 
8. Those touching the boat’s materials, wires, 
electric light, tools, switches, etc.  
9. Those climbing ladder without order. 
10. Those showing action of running away from 
the room or boat. 
11. Those trying to take more meal than given to 
them. 
12. Those using more than two blankets. 



 
Since the boat is not well equipped and inside 
being narrow, food being scarce and poor, you’ll 
feel uncomfortable during the short time on the 
boat. Those losing patience and disordering the 
regulations, will be heavily punished for the 
reason of not being able to escape. 

 
Be sure to finish your Nature’s call, evacuate the 
bowels and urine before embarking. 
Meal will be given twice a day. One plate only to 
one prisoner. The prisoners called by the guard, 
will give out the meal as quickly as possible and 
honestly. The remaining prisoners will stay in 
their places quietly and wait for your plates. 
Those moving from their places reaching for your 
plate without order will be heavily punished. 
Same orders will be applied in handling plates 
after meal. 

 
Toilet will be fixed at the four corners of the 
room. The buckets and cans will be placed. When 
filled up, a guard will appoint a prisoner. The 
prisoner called will take the buckets to the centre 
of the room. The buckets will be pulled up by the 
derrick and be thrown away. Toilet paper will be 
given. Everyone must co-operate to make the 
room sanitary. Those being careless will be 
punished. 

 
Navy of the Great Japanese Empire, will not try 
to punish you all with death. Those obeying all 



the rules and regulations, and believing the action 
and purpose of the Japanese Navy, co-operating 
with Japan in constructing the new order of the 
Great Asia which will lead the world will be well 
treated. 

 
Commander of the Prisoner Escort. Navy of the 
Great Japanese Empire. 

 



A SOUTH ATLANTIC INCIDENT 
 
I walked out on to the upper deck of the 

Fleet Destroyer on the beautiful afternoon of 
August 3rd 1942. Two ‘N’ Class Destroyers, the 
Australian ‘Nepal’ and the Dutchman 
‘Tjerkiddes’ were the anti-submarine escort to 
the troop convoy of several large liners. Troop 
convoys with big ships employed, are fast 
convoys and this one was no exception. In the 
distance on the port side, the Dutchman’s huge 
bow wave was plainly visible. 

The ships were bound for the Middle East 
around the Cape of Good Hope, where the safe 
arrival of the Armoured Division they carried, 
would greatly influence the outcome of the Battle 
of El Alamein. Steaming in the centre of the 
convoy could be seen the Cruiser ‘Orion’. She 
too was on her way back to the ‘Med’ after a 
major refit. The three bombs that badly damaged 
her during the Crete evacuation, penetrated her 
decks killing several hundred soldiers sheltering 
below. A gentle breeze blew across an almost 
calm sea with the nearest of the two great liners 
the ‘Windsor Castle’ and the ‘Arundel Castle’ 
presenting a magnificent view. 

Conditions were excellent for the off duty 
watch to sunbathe, so I walked aft and climbed 
the steel ladder that led to the twin 4.7 Gun 
Turret where the guns’ crew were closed up in 
second degree readiness. Seeing several dolphins 
playing in the ship’s wake was the last thing I 



remember before I dozed off into a restful sleep. 
Sometime later in the dim distance I heard one of 
the gunners make a remark about a string of flags 
flying from the foremast. In a suspended 
animated state, my brain told me. 

  
“That’s the twelve minute alter course 

signal for the zigzag manoeuvre.” 
 
Then came another remark. 
 
 “There’s a large black flag being hauled 

aloft now.”  
 
After a while, the Asdic’s reported the 

faint submarine echo had faded away. It was then 
Commander Morris gave the order to rejoin the 
troop convoy, which at high speed had already 
disappeared over the horizon. 

The quarter-master could be heard piping 
through the mess decks; 

 
 “All hands to tea.”  
 

but my mind was still on the submariners below. 
Rostered for the first dog watch, I walked into the 
Wireless office to take over the watch fifteen 
minutes before time. 

Even the thought of - it’s them or us - 
can’t justify erasing these incidents from one’s 
memory banks. Perhaps it is made a lot easier 
when the scales are weighed against the hundreds 



of soldiers that might have drowned if the 
torpedoes had found the target. We were told 
later that action was classified by the Admiralty 
as, ‘a most probable sinking of a submarine’. 

 
Leonard J. Cox. 

Highbury, Australia. 
 

.



THE ASSAULT ON 
MADAGASCAR 

 
(5th May 1942) 

 
Little publicity was given to the landings 

and occupation of Madagascar, but the success of 
the whole operation was paramount. 

In 1941 with Field Marshall Rommel 
advancing rapidly in North Africa, and German 
and Italian sea and air supremacy in the 
Mediterranean, supplies and reinforcements to 
the Eighth Army in the Middle East were shipped 
from the UK around the Cape of Good Hope and 
through the Mozambique Channel. Much 
shipping was lost on this sea route with the 
Germans ‘suspectedly’ operating from Vichy 
controlled Madagascar. Coupled with this, Japan 
had captured Singapore, sunk the Battle Cruisers 
Prince of Wales and Repulse, and were gaining 
control of Burma and rapidly progressing 
towards India, the Indian Ocean, Africa and the 
Middle East.  

It was at this stage, Winston Churchill 
personally gave instructions that Madagascar 
must be occupied at all costs.  

 
• To diminish the sinking of merchant 

ships bound for the Middle East.  
• To prevent Japan gaining a foothold on 

Madagascar, thereby controlling the air and seas 
adjacent to South Africa.  



 
 

Thus; the combined operations 13th Assault 
Flotilla was formed. The said, consisting of;  

 
Keren and Karana carrying Landing Craft 
Assault.  

 
Sobieski (A Polish vessel) carrying beach assault 
craft. 

 
One of the many landing craft carried by the ‘Mother 

Ships’. Each transported thirty Commandos 

 
Derwentdale, with specially constructed gantries 

carrying Landing Craft Mechanical, 15 in number. 
 



Winchester Castle 20.000 Tonnage, being 
the largest ship carrying Landing Craft Assault 
and Senior Officers. 

The flotilla joined a large convoy and 
sailed from the United Kingdom on the night of 
23rd March 1942 bound for Durban, South 
Africa. Here the assault force was joined by a 
Royal Navy protective screen, consisting of the 
Battleship Ramillies, two Aircraft Carriers, two 
Battle Cruisers, Destroyers, Corvettes and 
Minesweepers. 

Here, I would point out that, unlike later 
wartime landings usually timed for daybreak 
following gun and rocket barrages, it was earlier 
generally considered that darkness, quietness and 
surprise were the best methods of attack. 
Furthermore, rocket ships infantry and tank 
landing ships utilised as the war progressed, were 
virtually non existent at this stage. 

The huge land locked harbour of Diego 
Suarez and Port of Antisirane, Madagascar, were 
the primary objectives, all protected by strong 
seaward defences, mainly French 75 gun 
emplacements. We later learned the controlling 
Vichy French Government considered attack 
from the rear of the harbour unlikely as the 
coastline was extremely rocky and virtually un-
navigable for many miles. 

The landing and occupation was 
scheduled for the night of 5 May 1942 at 0200 
hrs which, fortunately was a very calm sea and 
pitch black. There was no moon. The five unlit 



assault ships , leaving their protective Royal 
Navy screen, headed towards the coast 
proceeding slowly and on line ahead. Orders 
were given. “Lower all Assault Crafts complete 
with Commando Forces and Mechanised Units to 
within six feet of the waterline. 

The outline of the nearest ship ahead was 
only faintly discernible, as we stealthily sailed 
onwards. Each with our own private thoughts. 
How long before we are discovered? Sitting 
ducks silhouetted on searchlights, then a gun 
barrage perhaps? What reception awaits us as we 
beach with our landing craft? 

Suddenly in the distance a pair of dim 
lights appeared ahead with more pairs stretching 
far away in the darkness and our ships still in line 
ahead, sailed on taking a long winding course 
between each pair of lights. The only sound on 
that night air was the faint throb of ships engines 
and the swish of water. 

Eventually, our ships hove to. Anchors 
released as quietly and slowly as possible and 
orders given simultaneously in all ships, 
complete drop and release all landing craft. They 
in turn, fully loaded with Commandos and 
equipment headed for faint guide lights on shore. 
Off load, and thereafter, making return trips to 
and fro with soldiers and equipment. 

As daylight gradually came, we 
discovered we were in a large bay called Courrier 
Bay, surrounded by jagged rocks as far out to 
seaward as we could see. 



I never found out when, how or who 
placed those lights. Each pair cleverly shaded 
from the shore, which marked our channel 
through those treacherous rocks that dark night. 
The success of the whole assault was dependant 
on them alone. It was a well planned clever 
manoeuvre enabling us to land forces and attack 
the port and harbour in the rear of it’s defences. 

Within four days the Commandos and 
supporting army had completely secured control 
of their objectives ashore, and our five Assault 
Ships moved from Courrier Bay to the land 
locked harbour of Diego Suarez, rejoining the 
Ramillies, Destroyers Corvettes and R.F.A. oil 
tanker British Liberty. Our first view of the port 
installations revealed a German ship, holed and 
lying on it’s side in dry dock. Obviously our 
Commandos handiwork. 

Winston Churchill’s assumptions were 
correct as within a week, a Japanese midget 
submarine penetrated our Corvette harbour 
entrance screen, sinking the British Liberty and 
severely damaging the Ramillies with torpedoes. 
Gunfire lasted into the night and the submarine 
crews, unable to escape through the sealed off 
harbour entrance attempted to land and disperse 
in the adjacent jungle, however they were all 
rounded up and efficiently dealt with by our 
Commandos. 

Various landings followed at other ports 
of Madagascar, and this diminished shipping 
losses in the Mozambique Channel and Indian 



Ocean. For the record, this was the first 
combined operations landings of World War Two 
that culminated in permanent occupation. 

The men of the 13th Assault Flotilla 
eventually were involved in landings in Burma, 
Sicily, Salerno, Naples, Anzio and Southern 
France before returning to the UK.  

 

 
  

Reg Voller, (centre) and friends, after the landings 
were complete at Madagascar. 

 
(Reg) E.G. Voller. 

Weymouth, Dorset. 



TWO SISTERS 
 

This is the true story of two destroyers, 
Ashanti and Somali. They were sister ships. 
Were, because the Somali was escorting with 
Ashanti, a convoy from Archangel Russia to the 
U.K. For seventy two hours, Ashanti and the 
ships company did their utmost to save their 
wounded sister. What happened during those 
hours gave me nightmares for many years 
afterwards. 

It was nearing the end of September 1942. 
We had already been part of the Fighting 
Destroyer Escort on three previous convoys to 
Russia. Also, we had in August, been escorting 
the famous Pedestal Convoy to Malta. 

We were on the homeward bound convoy 
and as our destroyer Ashanti was leader, we had 
to alternate our escort positions according to 
weather conditions. In the early hours of the 
morning we had changed positions with Somali 
and were about 120 feet ahead of her when she 
was hit in the engine room and boiler room by 
two torpedoes from a U-Boat. The hole in her 
was as large as a double decker bus. Smoke and 
steam were bellowing from her and she listed 
heavily to starboard. We thought she was about 
to sink. 

Ashanti immediately swept around and 
dropped several patterns of depth charges as a 
mine sweeper went alongside Somali and took 
off about 100 merchant seamen, and 140 Officers 



and ratings, leaving about 80 other officers and 
ratings still on board. 

Somali didn’t sink. Commander R.G. 
Onslow, C.O. of Ashanti, decided to tow her to 
Iceland. A very long tow. Eventually, after two 
unsuccessful attempts, we now had Somali in tow 
moving at roughly five knots. Meanwhile the 
remainder of the convoy had gone on, leaving the 
two sister ships alone. 

We were eight miles S.W. of Jan Mayan 
Island. The temperature was about 25 degrees 
Farenheight with and icy wind blowing and very 
soon the snow began to fall. As we crept along, 
we tried to ease Somali’s passage by pumping oil 
over the stern, but after an hour the tow parted 
again. We managed to rejoin the cables despite 
the weather conditions. Somali was asked, “How 
are you feeling?” the reply was, “Quite well, 
thank you.” 

All hands were kept at Action Stations 
and except for staggered watch changing no one 
was permitted to sleep. At the speed which we 
were moving, we were a sitting target. For the 
next three days and nights, we plodded on. 
Although the orders were no sleeping, we were 
cat napping whenever possible. 

At dawn of the second day, Commander 
Onslow sent myself and nineteen other ratings 
over to Somali in the motor cutter to help to cut 
loose her deck equipment, dump her ammunition, 
oil and as much top gear as possible. She was 
without lights and heat. Her steering was out of 



action and her port turbine had fell out making 
here list to starboard worse. She was by now 
completely water logged astern. 

During the remainder of that day, we ran 
an emergency power cable to her. It was a hard 
cold job, but when we’d finished, the working 
party returned to Ashanti. When the light went on 
Somali sent us a message saying, “Many thanks 
sister.” During the evening we also attached a 
telephone wire so the two C.O’s could talk. 

The third day went quietly and everyone 
was full of hope. All we thought of was saving 
Somali and getting some sleep. 

During the night the weather became very 
heavy, waves ran very high with white tops and 
very deep troughs causing the towing cable to 
part again taking with it of course the power and 
telephone cables. With the weather as it was, this 
was not altogether unexpected. Somali’s Aldis 
lamp flashed “Close in. I’m sinking. Goodbye.” 

With our searchlight on her we watched 
the stern go down first. The bow lifted and 
pointed upwards as we watched men jumping off 
into the cold sea. She sank very fast. The 
scrambling nets were put over the side but we 
dared not stop the engines as part of the tow 
cable was still streaming astern. We all did our 
utmost to spot and pick up survivors. Some were 
throwing lifebelts and codlines. Myself and half a 
dozen others were at the bottom of the 
scrambling nets up to our waists in the icy water. 



As the searchlight spotted the men in the 
water, (it was that clear you could see their legs 
and arms) we tried to grab them, when we 
missed, lifebelts and lines were thrown to them. 
They were either too frozen or dead and did not 
respond. Between 30 and 40 men floated past out 
of reach. A life raft came near us and we grabbed 
it. There were three men on it, one was an officer. 
We hooked the officer. His name was Lt Bruce. 
He refused to be brought aboard. He was 
determined that we took the men first. Sadly, by 
then, the raft was sucked away under the ship. If 
ever a man gave up his life for his men, Lt. Bruce 
did. We rescued thirty five survivors. The 
searchlights kept scanning the water for three 
hours but no more were found. 

The last man to be pulled from the water 
was unconscious. He was taken to the bridge to 
the Captain’s sea cabin. It was Lt.Com Maud. 
After about twenty minutes in the warm cabin he 
started to sing at the top of his voice. Afterwards 
he told us that, that was the only way he could 
stop himself from freezing. He had no knowledge 
that he had passed out in the icy sea. There is 
little doubt however that a fair share of Pussers 
Rum helped a lot. 

One of the seamen had been to the galley 
and taken a jug of ‘Kia’ (cocoa) on to the bridge’ 
While filling a mug to give to the frozen officer 
he spilled most of it onto his legs. All Lt.Com 
Maud said was, “More please.” 



The next morning he was on the bridge 
with Commander Onslow as right as rain. 
Although everyone was dead beat, none of us 
could sleep much because we were haunted by 
the thought of the men we had watched float by 
us frozen and dying, those we had been unable to 
save. We couldn’t forget them. It could just have 
easily been us. 

 

 
HMS Ashanti, December 26th 1941. 
 
Coming into Scapa Flow, we heard 

terrific cheering from the ships in harbour. I 
heard one A.B. say to another, “Who getting the 
cheers then?” He replied with surprise in his 
voice. “Blimey, it’s us!” 

 We all went up on deck and sure enough, 
every ship in harbour had it’s rails lined with 
cheering men waving and throwing their caps in 



the air. It was all for us. It did make us feel a little 
less down hearted. 

 
Reg’ Swan. 

Grimsby, 
South Humberside. 

 



H.M.S. LAFOREY 
(The Final Hours) 

 
We are returning to Naples for a boiler 

clean and a well earned break. The date was 
March 28th 1944: The scene: Anzio beach-head: 
The ship. H.M.S. Laforey, flotilla leader 
‘extraordinair’. The speaker: Lt. Boyer R.N.R., 
Laforey’s Gunnery Officer.  

“Thank God.” I murmured. At last there 
was the prospect of a break from demands which 
had kept us in action at sea for so long. We 
certainly needed it. The preceding three months 
had been exceedingly demanding, a period in 
which the Royal Navy had experienced heavy 
losses. Penelope, Royalist, Janus - to mention but 
a few ‘chummy ships’ - all lay on the bottom 
after constant attacks from the air. The Jerries’ 11 
inch gun on the railway from Rome and their 
radio controlled bomb. 

My heart sang as we headed south to 
Naples. And in Naples harbour on the morning of 
March 30th, Lt Boyer and I were talking idly 
about our hopes for the days of peace to come, 
when Jock Abernathy, a big raw-boned Scot, 
appeared to tell us that, Captain ‘Beaky’ 
Armstrong - our new skipper - wanted us in his 
cabin.  

What would be his news? A recall to the 
U.K? Or perhaps a few days in Sorrento or Capri, 
just as Captain ‘Tubby’ Hutton had ordered the 
previous November, when Naples had suffered a 



terrible Typhus epidemic. No such luck. Our 
skipper’s orders were that we were to proceed 
with full speed, to and area west of Stromboli, 
where a U-boat had been reported. 

After all our tremendous range of actions 
in the Mediterranean, U-boat hunting was 
recognised by most as a ‘piece of cake’. Had we 
not sunk the Italian submarine Asihangi off 
Sicily? And anyway, to operate in an area free 
from the Luftwaffe’s attentions, would be a relief 
in itself. 

At noon, just before we arrived in the area 
where the U-boat had been sighted, we were 
joined by Tumult, Blencathra. Quantock and 
Lammerton. And soon the metallic clang of the 
Asdic indicated we had located our quarry. 

Attack after attack failed to bring the U-
boat to the surface but as darkness fell, our Asdic 
team was confident that during the night, lack of 
air would bring her to the surface and my gun-
teams have the chance of delivering the coup-de-
grace. 

Shortly before 0100 hrs the next day, the 
message was passed to the transmitting station 
from the bridge, that the U-boat was blowing her 
tanks and we were to prepare for ‘starshell’ firing 
to illuminate her. 

Captain Armstrong, for reasons best 
known to himself decided not to sound off full 
action stations. The crew were therefore at 
defence stations, only half the armament manned 
and many men were asleep in the mess-decks. 



With hindsight, one can say that many of the 179 
men who lost their lives, would have been saved, 
had they been closed up at action stations. The 
order came suddenly to open fire and within 
moments, night became day, as the starshell 
illuminated the area where the U-boat would 
break surface. 
 

“Gunner’s mate to the bridge.”  
 

Sub/Lt Ticehurst, the youngest officer in the ship 
- for reasons that I was never to discover - made 
the call that was to save my life. When I got 
there, I found the U-boat was clearly visible on 
the port bow. Our 4.7 armament was soon 
straddling the target and when the Gunnery 
Officer arrived on the bridge. I jumped down 
over the bridge screen to the Oerlikon, 
determined to ensure that the U-boat’s deck was 
raked with fire in case resistance was offered. 

Then came the order to switch on the 
searchlight. It proved to be the opportunity the U-
boat skipper needed. Suddenly there was a 
deafening explosion and I found myself hurtling 
upwards and then landing with a thud on the 
Oerlikon’s safety rails. 

The U-boat had torpedoed us and I was 
conscious between bouts of blackness and pain, 
that Laforey was breaking up in her death throws. 
I tried to stand but had no movement in my legs. 
Using my elbows, I managed to propel my body 
to the ship’s side. Laforey was sinking and I 



clung to the rigging as she started her final 
plunge. Frantically, I tore myself free and with 
arms working like pistons, propelled myself as 
far from the inevitable whirlpool of suction as 
possible. 

Suddenly, like a cork, I was whirled 
round and round and drawn towards the vortex 
where our beloved ship had finally disappeared 
beneath the waves. Fortunately, my half inflated 
life belt kept me on the surface. 

Gradually, the black silence was broken 
with the cries of shipmates, dotted around the 
ocean. With the whistle always carried by a 
gunner’s mate for turret drill, I began to signal in 
the hope of collecting the survivors in a more 
compact group. Unconsciousness intervened and 
when I came round again, it was to hear the 
groans of a young London AB clinging to 
driftwood and obviously in a bad way. 

At odd intervals, shipmates would swim 
to us to offer words of comfort and 
encouragement and them swim off to assist 
others. Two such gallant friends, Dave Barton the 
PO. Cook and Knocker White, the Yeoman of 
Signals both uninjured but sadly not to survive, 
continued to help their more unfortunate 
shipmates. 

After what appeared to be an eternity, I 
spotted the darker shape of an approaching 
vessel. Suddenly there were cries of, “ Swim you 
German bastards, swim!” Our would be rescuers, 
were convinced that we were German survivors 



from the U-boat, which Tumult and Blencathra 
had eventually sunk. They were unaware of the 
fact that Laforey had gone too. 

Within moments, I was carefully and 
gently lifted from the sea and into the boat. Oil 
fuel fouled my mouth and eyes and hid the tears 
of relief and gratitude for my rescuers. 

I was hoisted aboard Tumult, encased in a 
Neil Robertson stretcher, injected with a liberal 
dose of morphia and despatched to the gunners 
mate’s holy of holy’s, the Transmitting Station. 
From the usual illegal matelot’s hidden resources, 
a full tumbler full of Nelson’s Blood was added 
to the pain relieving morphia and I sank into 

peaceful oblivion. 
 

HMS Laforey at the bombarding of the  
Anzio beach-head 



 
Vaguely, I remember being shipped from 

Tumult to a waiting ambulance in Naples harbour 
and arriving at the 65th General Hospital. There, 
the doctors found I had three spinal fractures. To 
begin with, I was paralysed from the waist down 
but my self pity soon disappeared when I looked 
around the overcrowded wards at our terribly 
wounded soldiers, being shipped in from their 
personal hell holes of Anzio or Cassino. 

Eventually, after spells in other military 
hospitals, I was shipped home in the hospital ship 
Somersetshire. At a hospital on Merseyside there 
came the never to be forgotten reunion with my 
dear wife and baby daughters. 

After long spells in hospitals and at a 
rehabilitation centre, I eventually returned to light 
duty at my depot, HMS Excellent. I finally 
completed my naval service after serving in 
Vanguard during the 1947 Royal Tour to South 
Africa. 

After nearly thirty years, I still have deep 
and abiding memories of Laforey and her crew. 
Overriding them all is the deep respect and 
affection for Captain Hutton, who made Laforey 
and her men into one of the greatest destroyer 
teams of the war. 

The people of Northampton paid from 
their pockets, around £750.000, for Laforey and 
events proved their investment was repaid a 
hundred fold. The generosity of Northampton to 
the crew, exceeded anything I had previously 



experienced in the Royal Navy. I shared Captain 
Hutton’s only regret, that the crew never marched 
through the town when final victory became 
reality. 

 I hope that one day, the Admiralty will 
name another Laforey, or Northampton and so 
maintain the links formed in the days of war. 

A further ambition yet to be realised, is to 
make contact with any of the 17 German 
survivors from the U223 picked up by either 
Tumult or Blencathra after they destroyed her. I 
would like to record the missing chapter of life in 
U223 as her end approached. 

Any feelings of bitterness or animosity 
towards our enemy of 60 years ago, has 
disappeared. Anyway, U223 proved a worthy and 
courageous foe. I only hope her survivors have 
enjoyed the years of peace with the same 
happiness and contentment with which I have 
been blessed. 

 
Bob Burns. D.S.M.  

Thornton, Liverpool.  
 



CHRISTMAS CONVOY 
 
When the second Christmas of the war 

came around, coastal convoys were still being 
shepherded in a regular shuttle service by a 
cheerful band of out of date destroyers, (mostly V 
and W boats of a war before), sleek Hunt class 
destroyers, a single flotilla of corvettes, (named 
appropriately after sea birds), and some 
malodorous trawlers. 

Radar was a dream awakening on the 
playing fields of Malvern, fighter cover was rare 
and spasmodic and motor launches fair weather 
friends. 

Convoys ran with a regularity which 
would have done credit to a pre-war railway 
timetable and which must have given great 
satisfaction to senior officers of the German 
Navy. 

It was the fault of no-one on this side of 
the English Channel. Coastal convoys were 
necessary to take the strain from the railways and 
roads of beleaguered Britain. So unsavoury was 
the east coast’s reputation among sailors, that 
even after the Germans had bombed and 
machine-gunned the lightships, their crews had 
reluctantly withdrawn. Buoys along the route had 
to remain lit as navigational aids. 

To friend and foe alike, the swept 
channels between shoals and minefields, were 
brightly lit main roads. Convoys and their 



escorts, went about their business with an 
unhappy, naked feeling. 

The Germans had destroyers, submarines, 
E-boats and aircraft and they deployed them to 
good effect. Aerial reconnaissance for instance, 
could easily assess the size and speed of a convoy 
and it’s progress could be plotted accurately 
throughout it’s passage. 

For His Majesty’s corvette Shearwater, 
Christmas 1940 was to have been a well earned 
respite in harbour. After, she claimed too many 
days and nights at sea in the worst patch of 
wintry weather in the memories of the hardened 
hands who were the core of her ship’s company. 
The rest were Reservists and ‘hostilities only’ 
and they believed the old hands. 

Sudden orders on 22nd December, of a 
convoy escort duty, were blows below the belt, 
and tongue in cheek official assurances that she 
would be greeted with coarse and universal 
scepticism. 

Christmas arrangements were thoroughly 
messed about, (though that was not the verb in 
current use in the wardroom and messdeck). 
Christmas fare was left in the wooden canteen on 
Parkeston Quay. This was in the days, remember, 
when the Navy was in the hands of the splendid 
sonorously named Lords Commissioners of the 
Admiralty. It was long before the logical 
integration of the Services and the birth of the 
leaden sounding, Ministry of Defence (Navy). 
Medicinal brandy and ritual rum apart. Their 



Lordships had quaintly chapel views about 
intoxicants in H.M. Ships, Christmas or no 
Christmas. 

So Shearwater shoved a reluctant nose 
beyond the boom at Shotley and met the short, 
steep waves of the North Sea in a collective 
frame of mind. So admirably summed up in an 
admirable Navy expression – Bloody minded. 

She joined the usual collection of old 
ships in dirty clothes which made up the convoy 
during a sinister, early dusk, with tattered scraps 
of cloud tearing themselves to pieces on the 
reeling masthead. 

She took station astern of one of the lines 
of ships. “Gash boat again.” commented the old 
hands gloomily and steamed for E-Boat ally. 
That bulge of the British coastline which covered 
a lot of Norfolk and seemed unhealthily close to 
enemy occupied territory. 

The gash boat had the unenviable task of 
looking after survivors of an attack on the 
convoy, as well as acting as a sort of maid-of-all-
work for Senior Officer Escorts. 

First dog watchman, those on duty from 
1600 to 1800, had just turned into their 
hammocks to prepare themselves for the middle 
watch (that’s the deadly midnight to 0400) when 
Action Stations sounded. 

Well-versed but cursing, the ship’s 
company closed up. The tiny bridge was 
suddenly alive with alert figures in duffle coats 
and seaboots, on the fo’castle the four inch gun’s 



crew waited tensely and aft on the quarterdeck, a 
depth-charge party mangled cold fingers on 
uncooperative metal and primed their weapons 
with live pistols. Below decks, the Chief stood by 
in a tangle of gauges and pipes, ready for 
impossible demands from the bridge for 
supernatural steaming powers. In the tiny w/t 
office the duty telegraphist strained his ears to 
catch the cheeping Morse and in the galley, the 
cook philosophically began cutting sandwiches 
against the order to douse the galley fire in 
action. Shearwater had closed up. 

Within minutes of the ‘Action’ rattlers 
sounding, the first torpedo hissed from the tube 
of a skulking E-boat and in confirmation, the first 
hammer blow of a hit buckled the sea. 

Two hundred yards on the beam the 
Dutch steamer, the Stad Maastricht, wallowed 
helpless, perhaps mortally wounded. Hatch 
covers, blown off by the explosion, littered her 
decks, a smoking hole gaped below the bridge. a 
boat dangled uselessly from a davit head. There 
was an eerie silence about her, as usually 
happened after violence at sea. 

Shearwater closed in to meet the single, 
overloaded boat which had got away and willing 
hands pulled inboard a Continental melange of 
dazed but miraculously alive seamen and a once 
white woolly dog. The four inch gun’s crew 
hurled a few projectiles in the general direction 
of a smudge which might have been a 
disappearing E-boat. 



From the point of view of convoy control 
ashore, who stuck coloured pins into oceanic 
displays and tried to keep the whole jigsaw intact, 
the Dutchman could not have been attacked in a 
more ill-favoured spot. She was drifting helpless 
in the middle of the swept channel and swept 
channels were precious things around the British 
coast just then. Potentially, she was a blockship, 
which could paralyse the whole convoy system, 
northbound and southbound. 

Everyone within earshot and reach of a 
wireless transmitter, urged Shearwater to stand 
by the stricken ship and whatever happened, not, 
(repeat not), to allow her to sink where she could 
endanger subsequent and more fortunate 
convoys. The purveyors of orders merited bold 
type in the Navy List and between them mustered 
a formidable weight of gold lace. Shearwater’s 
commanding officer, whose thin gold band 
between lieutenant’s stripes shone like a wedding 
ring and proclaimed him a recently promoted 
lieutenant-commander, sighed, acknowledged the 
signals and asked for tugs. 

The senior officer of the escort, in a 
destroyer, tore past in a flurry of foam and airily 
wished everyone good luck and disappeared into 
the growing gloom in pursuit of his convoy. 

The Eve of Christmas dawned. 
Shearwater and her charge lay somewhere due 
east of Great Yarmouth. They felt very alone. 
Among the ship’s company, speculation was 
fairly evenly divided between where the hell the 



tugs had got to, and how long their scanty mess 
stocks would last. This was discussed anxiously 
but without envy. Survivors were welcome to the 
last crumb in the bread locker. 

All in all, Christmas prospects were about 
as jolly as a snowflake in number one engine 
room. Still, as the Chief Stoker remarked: “If you 
can’t take a joke, you shouldn’t have joined.”                                                      

Hours later, sure enough, the lookout 
spotted two tugs bustling out of the mist and 
formal challenges and more friendly greetings 
over, Shearwater sent a boarding party across to 
the listing Stad Maastricht and secured a towing 
hawser for the tugs. 

The incident that changed the whole 
aspect, shifted the whole focus, as it were, 
happened whilst this was going on. One of the 
boarding party, having a quiet snoop while his 
mates were dutifully employed, discovered that 
the Stad Maastricht was really Father Christmas 
in disguise. No foolish virgin, she had come to 
sea prepared. Her chart-house was a fairy grotto, 
crammed with obese turkeys, Christmas 
puddings, Bolls, gin and whisky galore. 

The officer in charge of the boarding 
party, reported this treasure-trove to his captain 
through a mouth, every bit as wide as the 
megaphone he carried. Of course, he was Royal 
Naval Volunteer Reserve -poor chap. The skipper 
was Royal Navy and not for Dartmouth, the 
sloppy morale standards of amateur sailors. The 



metallic ring of the loud hailer, sounded strangely 
right for the response:  

“Now then, no loot please. Get that 
hawser secured and be back aboard chop chop.”  

The words felt like a death knell and the 
company lining Shearwater’s rail and it was a 
crestfallen whaler’s crew that pulled back to the 
parent corvette. 

But, now that she knew just how precious 
the steamer’s cargo was, Shearwater watched 
over her charge with a fresh urgency. A new 
spirit walked the decks, Christmas was only a 
couple of cables away.  

Sailors climbed into their hammocks with 
cheering dreams to help them through the hours 
ahead. In fact, the next twenty four passed 
quickly enough. Even at three knots with a 
towing line which parted from time to time, and 
occasional visits from Swastika decorated aircraft 
trying un-seasonably, to finish the E-boat’s job. 

There was some mention of machine tools 
of aircraft spares or something, in the Stad’s 
holds but the majority vote was for the chart-
house every time. 

Christmas day was only hours old, 
carefully hoarded rum tots, every one a drop of 
self denial, hadn’t even been broached sippers 
when sparks transmitted a long signal in cipher.  

It was just the thing for Christmas 
morning. Full on hopes and plans, a safe harbour, 
a cargo saved, a ship’s crew snatched from the 
sea to fight another day. The sea was calm, the 



wind had dropped, three knots could be 
maintained. 

Then it happened. Just about the time you 
ashore were sitting down to your austerity 
Christmas spread and the duty telegraphist was 
hammering out the bit about estimated arrival in 
harbour, some hard pressed bulkhead in the vitals 
of the Stad Maastricht, had had enough. 

 

 
Something deep inside her, ripped like 

tissue paper. There was a sigh heard clearly 
across the intervening waters. The Stad 
Maastricht lurched, settled, hesitated and was 
gone. A mast top, dipping at an idiots angle 
above the surface, was her headstone. 



Words were a poor substitute for the 
feelings of the men in the corvette and the tugs. 
At that moment, the chance that she had drifted 
clear of a vital channel immaterial. 

A second signal was sent, an ‘in 
memoriam’ to mourn the loss of another ship. 
The thwarted tugs, collected their useless gear 
and chugged their way home. Shearwater stayed 
behind, chief mute at the funeral to mark the spot 
with a dan buoy and sailors tears. Then she 
turned quietly for her home port alone. with a 
collectively full heart and a very empty stomach. 

Machine tools and aircraft spares are all 
very well but the bitter agony of all those turkeys, 
those puddings and horror of horrors, all those 
drams of war precious whisky, fathoms deep in 
the North Sea. 

Harwich greeted her with reproachful 
glances. Christmas dinner, corned beef between 
slabs of dry bread, had long since turned to ashes 
in the stomachs of her company. The rescued 
mariners and their woolly dog went their way 
expectorating gratitude in ‘double Dutch’ across 
the gangway. They left behind the temporarily 
defeated subjects of a great maritime nation. 
Nicholas Montsarrat was himself at sea, his best 
seller unwritten. But undeniably, this round went 
to The Cruel Sea. 
 

M.K. Tither. 
Chesterfield, Derbyshire. 



THE BETRAYAL 
 
Having joined the Royal Navy as an 18 

year old in 1943, I was taking my training at 
H.M.S. Duke, in Malvern, U.K. I really enjoyed 
my time there after leaving my home town of 
Rochdale, an industrial town in the North of 
England. The war was somewhere out there, but 
to us it was warm summer days and lots of 
healthy activities. 

One day we were visited while on parade 
by a very senior officer who said he had a 
proposition for us. Malvern was in the heart of 
farming country and with the horrendous loss of 
ships bringing food and supplies to Britain, it was 
vital that those losses be replaced by locally 
grown foods. What we were asked to do was to 
volunteer for work on farms and market gardens 
in the evenings and weekends.  He explained we 
would be paid for our efforts at the end of the 
summer and that we would be transported to and 
from the farms in service vehicles. Almost to a 
man, we volunteered and soon began with our 
hoeing, weeding and all the other tasks that were 
given to us. 

The weather in the summer of 1943 was 
grand. I certainly enjoyed the work. One of my 
tasks was going along to local brewery to pick up 
used hops which many farmers used, probably 
for fertilisers. We were always assured of a pint 
or two of the local brew and that was a very 
welcome bonus. We were quite often taken back 



to our base late at night, but we still had to get up 
at the usual time to get on with our training. But 
no matter, we were going to get paid eventually 
and we all had our own plans as to how we would 
spend that extra money. 

The day arrived when we were to receive 
payment for our voluntary labours and we fell in 
on the parade ground with great enthusiasm.  The 
senior officer spoke to us, telling how the local 
farmers were very pleased with our efforts and 
hopefully we would continue to volunteer. Then 
came the words of betrayal. He knew we all had 
great admiration for the British Red Cross. He 
was pleased to announce that all the monies 
earned had been donated to that organisation on 
our behalf. Weren’t we lucky devils to be 
donating money to that cause?   

“How about three rousing cheers for the 
Red Cross. Hip! Hip! Hooray!”  

In all my years in the service I never 
heard a more feeble round of cheers. The final 
insult was still to come.  

“By the way,” he said. “In future when 
you’re asked to give three cheers, make it Hoo 
Rah, not Hoo Ray. O.K. chaps?” 
 
Al Lever. 
British Columbia, Canada. 
 



A CLOSE SHAVE 
 

I was serving as a Coder in the 
communications branch of the Royal Navy on the 
cruiser-minelayer H.M.S. Adventure during 
World War Two. We had a Divisional Officer 
who took a fiendish delight in finding fault with 
almost everyone when we paraded for divisions 
on Sunday morning prior to the Captain’s 
Inspection. 

As I had the habit of shaving the night 
before, it was a fairly regular occurrence that 
many of the D.O.’s sarcastic comments came in 
my direction. Being determined to avoid these on 
this particular occasion, I dutifully shaved just 
before going on parade and went out full of 
confidence. 

After inspecting several of my shipmates, 
and finding fault with most of them, the D.O. 
thrust his chin close to mine and said,  

“Shaving at night again, eh Kelly?”  
When I replied,  
“As a matter of fact Sir, I shaved this 

morning.” a flow of sarcasm came in my 
direction and grave doubts were cast about my 
eyesight and truthfulness. The Divisional Officer 
then stepped back a few paces and while we all 
waited for the ‘Coup de grace’ a seagull flew 
over and despatched a full bowel movement 
which struck our beloved Officer from cap to 
boots; missing everyone else. There was a 
spontaneous roar of laughter from the lads to 



which a very  red faced Officer retorted, “I know 
what you bastards are thinking.” I returned to 
night shaving with no further problems. 

 
Dennis Kelly.  

Aintree Village. 
 



MAIL 
 
Let me tell you a story that happened to 

me in New Guinea. Well it’s funny now but I 
wasn’t then. I was in the Royal Marines attached 
to the American Seventh Fleet. It was from them 
that we received our orders. 

We left the Solomon Islands and headed 
towards New Guinea where we were going to 
help the Yanks drive the ‘Japs’ out. First it was 
Oro Bay then onto Hollandia, Finchaven, Game a 
Do Do, then down to Milne Bay where we 
dropped anchor a few miles out to sea; about 
twenty miles from Port Moresby. We were told to 
wait for further orders. 

There was a bad sea running and morale 
was getting low. We had not received any mail 
for a month or two as we were always on the 
move. A signal arrived from Port Moresby saying 
that there was a few sacks of mail for our ship 
awaiting collection.  I was asked by Lt. Bray if I 
would Coxswain a craft to go for it if we could 
get four volunteers. I looked at the sea which was 
very choppy, especially for a nine ton craft. I then 
went below to the messdeck and asked for four 
volunteers to come with me. You know what 
Marines are, not knowing the meaning of fear 
they all volunteered. As I only needed four I 
picked them myself. There was Danny from 
Somerset, Upshall, (sparks), a young lad called 
Pimm (stoker), and one other I picked to act as 
‘stern man’, I forget his name. 



I went amidships, picked a craft, told the 
stoker to check the fuel, (not forgetting to get 
extra Jerry cans for our journey), told the sparks 
to get his flags and lamp and Danny to check the 
pumps, compass and ramp. After donning our 
Mae West, we looked at the stormy sea and one 
of the lads said.  

“Just look at that bloody sea; and there’s 
sharks as well.” As we were being lowered into 
the water, we were getting bashed about by the 
waves. I took ages to unhook but we managed to 
get away without mishap. Twenty miles to go 
with the pump running all the time and we were 
bobbing about like a cork.  

As we neared the bay, the sea was a little 
kinder to us. Half a mile to go and I noticed a big 
shark. I told the decided to go around again 
before we smashed against it. We were half full 
of water by this time so we had to get it right on 
the second attempt or else we were going under. 
We made it. All hooked up, two Marines pulled 
out the bungs and we were lifted up to the safety 
of the ship. 

We went down to our messdeck and 
changed into some dry clothing. One hour later, 
they piped all hands on deck for mail. The duty 
N.C.O. called out names until all the mail had 
gone. There wasn’t one for me after all I’d been 
through. I told them that if I’d known that that 
was the case, they would have all gone for their 
own. I can laugh about it now, but it certainly 



wasn’t funny at the time. Mind you. I did get a tot 
of rum. 

 
Fred Payne. 

Worsley, Lancashire. 

Example of an Airgraph. 
 



SAUCY SIGNALS 
 
In 1941, a Senior Officer of an escort 

group with a convoy in the North Atlantic 
received an Immediate signal from the 
Admiralty. 

 
“Commence hostilities with Japan.”  
 
This was repeated to the other junior 

ships. One ship called up to ask, 
 
“Permission to send hands to breakfast 

first?.” 
 
Often in Fleet operations the smaller 

escort vessels were required to fuel at sea from 
the capital ships. A destroyer was engaged in this 
task and was closing up behind a large aircraft 
carrier to pick up the fuel line. A slight 
misjudgement and the bow of the destroyer hit 
the stern of the carrier causing slight damage. 
This prompted the carrier to signal the destroyer,  

 
“If you touch me there again, I will 

scream.” 
 
Two destroyers on patrol received a 

wireless message from base, that it was 
suspected, enemy aircraft had laid mines in the 
position given. The Captain of one destroyer 
looked at his chart and the estimated position of 



his ship, was the same as the one given in the 
signal. He called up the other ship and asked,  

 
“What is our position?”  
The reply came; 
“Perilous.” 
 

Aigraph by: Dvr. S.G. Cropp. 
8th Army, N.Africa. 

 
 



Thanks to John Solway. Honorary 
Membership Secretary. The Friends of the 

Imperial War Museum. 
 



THE SHOTLEY RUN 
 
Ships of the 16th Destroyer Flotilla, when 

in Harwich Harbour, would be either alongside 
Parkeston Quay for repairs, boiler cleaning, 
replenishing stores etc. or moored to buoys fore 
and aft, (to prevent swinging due to tides), in 
stream. When shore leave was given, the 
destroyers in mid stream would be visited by a 
large liberty-boat despatched from Parkeston 
Quay by the Harbour Master. This saved the use 
of individual ship’s boats. 

There were two points for landing liberty-
men, either Parkeston Quay itself, where one 
would have to go through customs and on to 
Harwich Town, or to catch a train to London. The 
other point, on the opposite side to Parkeston, 
was Shotley Pier; no customs or any kind of 
check here. A bus would be waiting to take you 
to Ipswich. A natural place for avoiding Customs. 

The Liberty boat made a round trip to the 
destroyers giving leave and after collecting the 
liberty men, proceeded first to Shotley Pier and 
then to Parkeston Quay to await further orders. 

On board the destroyers, a form of 
‘canteen messing’ was operated. This enabled 
each messdeck to purchase its own food 
requirements on a daily cost basis. However, 
some basic foodstuffs were provided from the 
ship’s own stores. The remaining requirements 
were chiefly purchased from the N.A.A.F.I., 
hence ‘Canteen Messing’. This system often 



provided surpluses, especially tea, sugar and of 
course, tobacco,  (Duty Free). 

The sailors who wished to pass on these 
surpluses to their loved ones at home would 
make up parcels to post to them; the general 
public being strictly rationed. It could be readily 
seen that landing at Shotley Pier provided a safe 
and convenient way of avoiding Customs duties. 

H.M.S. Walpole’s Duty Officer, kindly or 
wisely, turned a ‘Nelson’s blind eye’ to the 
packages when we paraded for shore leave before 
embarking on the liberty boat. 

As the wisdom and profit of landing at 
Shotley spread throughout the Flotilla, so the 
number of men and packages increased. No 
doubt the Customs at Harwich were alerted at 
this surge of activity and drew their own 
conclusions. 

One day, we were happily making our 
way to Shotley, complete with parcels securely 
fastened and addressed ready for posting in 
Ipswich, when the inevitable happened. As we 
left the last destroyer and headed for Shotley, the 
Customs boat left Parkeston Quay.  

A warning cry of  “Customs!” went up. 
When it could be seen that the boat was heading 
straight for us, in a flash, there were over thirty 
packages floating downstream on the ebb tide. 
The majority were lightweight and floated for 
some time. As mentioned previously, most of the 
parcels were addressed for posting, this enabled 
the Customs to trace some of them back to the 



would be senders once they had been retrieved 
from the water. I cannot remember the ultimate 
outcome as my parcel vanished with the tide. 
Some admonishments were made and the number 
of sailors making their runs to Shotley were quite 
reduced. 

The Shotley run was continued by the 
brave, or desperate, but the parcels were not 
addressed until safely reaching Ipswich; and a 
very keen lookout was maintained for Customs.  

 
Peter Cable.  
Telegraphist.  

HMS Walpole. 1941-45. 
 



LIFE ON A MINESWEEPER 
 
I was eighteen when I was called up in the 

Second World War. I need not have joined 
because I was in a reserved occupation. My 
employer called me a fool for going, yet when I 
did; each time I saw him, he gave me a pound 
which was a lot of money then. 

I started my initial training at H.M.S. 
Ganges, at Shotley Gate near Ipswich and was 
there for ten weeks. Here I learned my knots, 
splicing, rifle drill, sailing, and most importantly, 
I learned how to swim. I wasn’t on my own 
either; not many of our intake could. We were 
literally made to jump in at the deep end, only to 
be fished out with a large pole before we 
drowned. Rather a barbaric way to learn I know, 
but the incentive was there: If you couldn’t swim 
you weren’t allowed ashore. Once you had 
passed your swimming test it was then entered 
into your pay book. 

On passing out of H.M.S. Ganges, I 
volunteered for minesweepers. Being a young 
‘sprog’, I was very seasick. The minesweepers in 
those days were fishing boats commandeered by 
the navy because they were tough little ships. 

I was an Asdic rating, my job was to 
listen for other ships or submarines. We did four 
hours on watch, four hours off.  Two hours 
Asdic, one on the wheel and one hour on the 
guns. Our ship had twin Lewis guns on either 
side of the bridge, a twelve pounder on the bows, 



a twin ———— aft, and a bomb thrower 
midships for low flying aircraft. 

After three months at sea, we were made 
up to able seaman and after six months, if you 
lived that long, you were presented with a silver 
medal. This was authorised by Winston Churchill 
for any man that served on the minesweepers. We 
were not classed as the Royal Navy, but as the 
R.N.P.S., the Royal Navy Patrol Service. 

The job was a very hard and dirty one. 
We wore any old clothes that we could find. Not 
like the R.N., they had to wear uniform at all 
times. There were only two heads onboard for the 
twenty seven crew. Our minesweepers were the 
first ones out of port and in front of convoys. I 
have seen a lot of action. Being able to swim 
saved my life more than once. 

A piece of good news, I did get married 
whilst I was in the navy. I was granted forty eight 
hours leave. As soon as I arrived home, I sent for 
an extension. When the best man read the cards 
and telegrams out, there was one from our base 
giving me an extra seventy two hours.   

After I had done six years I was 
demobbed. I was given a suit, where it fitted, a 
pair of shoes, a hat, and one months leave.  A 
short while later, I received £73 gratuity for the 
six years of my life that I had spent in the navy.  I 
spent it on a utility bedroom suite, two fire side 
chairs and a second hand table. Don’t you think I 
did well out of it? 



In 1993, the Heritage Centre in Grimsby 
held a ‘Trawlers at War Exhibition’.  Some of us 
old shipmates explained just what it was like 
during those times. Our most famous visitor was 
Princess Ann. I was one of four people who was 
presented to her and she asked me if I was 
seasick. 

I am now seventy three years of age and I 
am still here.  Most of my friends and mates are 
not here to tell the tale. I would not have missed 
being in the navy for the world as it did widen 
my outlook on life. 

 
B. Richards. Scunthorpe. 



HMS TARANTULA 
 
The old Insect Class gun boat, fast having 

seen much service in the Far East from up the 
Yangtze River to Hong Kong, was one of the last 
to leave Singapore. She was lying moored up  
stern too, on a pontoon backing onto 'Little Sober 
Island.' It was a beautiful clear blue tropical 
night. The stars shining like diamonds in the sky. 
'Pipe down' had sounded, and all was quiet on 
board. You could hear the occasional challenge 
coming from the stern of the nearest ship to us, 
moored only a few cables to port. HMS Wayland, 
a Submarine Depot Ship. 

Having checked all secure, the Duty Petty 
Officer was making his way forward to the cabin 
he shared. He was half way down the companion 
ladder when the lights just flared up. It was then a 
piercing scream was heard. After a couple of 
minutes of total darkness the auxiliary 'genny' 
flashed up. There was total bedlam. 

On reaching the upper deck with the 
sparks P.O. I couldn't help but notice the many 
bodies leaping over the side. They were coming 
from every direction. The noise of the main 
generator situated on the upper deck aft, was 
terrific. It was screaming away out of control. 
The manifold was glowing red hot, clearly visible 
in the dark.  

As we were making our way aft, ratings 
were appearing from everywhere. I reached the 
'genny' and pushed in the emergency stop button. 



It came to rest and once more the ship was 
clouded in silence. 

The messdecks were cleared and all the 
ratings fished out of the water were to be well 
and truly charged. A couple were sent to the 
hospital camp up in the hills and some sent to the 
cells at H.M.S. Mayina; the shore base outside 
Polumbo. Order was restored and the following 
day brought the inquest along with it. 

The generator checked out A1. Nothing 
adrift. Some of the ratings, who by the way, slept 
down below by the side of the water tanks where 
it was always cool, said that they had heard a 
scream and the sound of wooden clogs clomping 
across the plates. Then a dark figure appeared 
fleeing up the rungs to gain access topside. They, 
after hearing this awful scream did likewise, 
rather hurriedly. Some, as I mentioned earlier 
went straight into the 'Oggin'.  

When the two lads in hospital were 
visited, one had lost his hair and the other had 
developed an uncontrollable stutter. We never 
saw hide nor hair of them again, ....but the story 
doesn't end there. 

Well, many months after our service in 
Singapore, at Blackang Matti Island, we 
eventually ended up on harbour clearing duties in 
Hong Kong, where we took up residence in the 
China Fleet Club for a while. We must have been 
the very first to use it after the Japs had left. We 
had the help of a couple of lifting craft, a giant 
Japanese floating crane. The Seisu Marv' and of 



course M.L.1080. (Tarantula.) There was 
certainly enough to do in the harbour. It was 
festooned with wrecks. 

One day, whilst browsing through a junk 
shop down Wanchai, a Petty Officer was 
browsing through some prospective rabbits. 
(Souvenirs.) One was a tankard, ancient and 
engraved another was a silver opium pipe, 
likewise engraved and a little pewter jewel casket 
lined with cedar wood. As he pulled the last item 
out of the box, there in the dust below was a very 
old postcard of the 'Tarantula'. On seeing this, the 
girl in the shop shouted out, "Al yu" which 
immediately led to the appearance in the shop, of 
an old man. 

It was made clear in no uncertain terms, 
that this postcard was not for sale. Apparently, 
the girl went on to explain that the old 
Chinaman's brother was murdered down in the 
engine room of the Tarantula after a gambling 
session behind the main bilge pump. He was 
actually murdered whilst trying to climb the 
rungs to get topside.  

It was unbelievable. Numerous little 
China cups of rice wine later, the P.O. returned to 
the M.L 1080 (Tarantula) with his rabbits. No 
doubt he'd paid a lot more for them than they 
were worth. But there again, what price can you 
put on a story like that one? I know this story to 
be true because I was that P.O.  

Amongst my most treasured possessions I 
still have these items. Including the postcard. 



I have only ever managed to trace three 
members of that special unit. One of them came 
from the Manchester area. A stoker by the name 
of Harry Rose. If any of you read this, I would be 
most pleased if you would contact me.  

 
Gordon M. Peake. 

West Houghton. 
Lancashire. 

Airgraph from A.C. Hedgecock. 
 



CHOCOLATE SAILOR 
 
It was in 1943, at the age of just 17, that I 

finished my basic training and found myself 
drafted to H.M.S. Sheffield as a fully fledged 
‘Boy Telegraphist’. 

Once sea training had been completed we 
went to sea patrolling the Bay of Biscay and the 
ship being in ‘Cruising State’ it was my job as 
junior member of my watch to make cocoa 
during the night watches for members of my 
watch. It was also one of my jobs to take a cup of 
cocoa to a lone telegraphist who was in a small 
office just below the bridge. 

So, once the cocoa was made in the Main 
Radio office, (which was situated well down 
below the water line of the ship), I then climbed a 
ladder just outside of the office door, placed the 
cup of cocoa on the top step of the ladder and 
opened a hatch which was secured by three clips. 
Care had to be taken opening the hatch because if 
the ship rolled the wrong way it was difficult to 
get the hatch to swing back. Once opened, a 
quick grab at the cup, up through the hatch with 
it, then climb through and shut the hatch behind 
me. I had then to step over a sill four feet high. 

I was now in a compartment which had 
only night lights - just enough light to be able to 
see where I was going but no more. I then went 
up another ladder to reach a heavy steel door 
leading to the upper deck. To open this door I had 
first to negotiate the canvas blackout curtain, 



swing back the two clips securing the door, push 
it open and making sure that I had the ship’s roll 
to help open the door, step quickly through and 
close and secure the door behind me. I was now 
in the open, on the fourth Gun Deck and I could 
feel the wind on my face and blowing through 
my hair, hear the water swishing past the ship 
and hear the murmur of voices from the guns’ 
crews as they sheltered wherever they could from 
the wind and spray. 

As I moved forward, I weaved along the 
deck to avoid ring bolts in the deck, projections 
and fittings that could cause a nasty sore. Then I 
reached the forward funnel where I had to climb 
three ladders up the outside of the funnel. So I 
reached the flag deck where I pushed through a 
canvas blackout curtain to a narrow passage into 
the Bridge Radio Office. 

The radio office was in darkness except 
for one light over the operator’s log book and dial 
lights from the receivers. I felt quite pleased with 
myself that I had not dropped the cup, fallen over 
or given myself a nasty knock somewhere; 
although I had spilt a certain amount of cocoa on 
the way up. 

“Here’s your ki.” I said,  
to be confronted with,  
“What the.. Have you been drinking it on 

the way up?” 
 

Mr. Lukehurst. 
Wood Street Village. 



LEADING STOKER R.A.F. 
 
The above rating/rank may seem quite out 

of place, yet I can assure you, a leading stoker in 
the RAF did actually exist and indeed today 
when the story is related, it creates some 
amusement. 

In the latter part of 1944, I was drafted to 
the Major General's staff, Colombo, then Ceylon. 
Within a couple of weeks, I was transferred to the 
Staff of the Senior Officer, Royal Marines. 
Bombay.(India) on security and courier duties. 

One afternoon, on returning to Bombay 
with our officer and several of our security team 
from a check at a nearby RM Commando Base, 
we left the Major at his Quarters and then 
decided to call in at the Town Hall. We knew we 
could obtain some very welcome 'char and wads' 
from the ladies operating the Services Canteen.  

Imagine ten Royal Marines in their travel 
stained khaki drills witnessing and afternoon tea 
dance which was in progress with many 
servicemen quick stepping the off duty WRNS, 
ATS, and WAAF's around the floor.  

We were sat quietly at the rear, enjoying a 
refreshing cup of tea, when we saw a party of 
soldiers bent on causing a little trouble by rolling 
and spinning empty bottles onto the dance floor; 
especially at some RAF chaps. Obviously, unless 
that was stopped, one way or another, trouble 
would ensue and some persons were going to get 
injured. 



We were members of the SORM's staff 
and he was the Provost Marshal, also through our 
duties, we were well aware of forthcoming raids 
etc. and if we were going to be there, no one was 
skiving off into hospital through some idiot's 
action. I pointed out to the soldiers the errors of 
their ways. Not only were they going to get hurt, 
if they cared to look behind me but they would 
also qualify for a rough stay in one of King 
George's special establishments. 

An LAC from the RAF party, having seen 
what action we had taken, came across to thank 
us and we got to know him quite well. In fact, 
even today we meet quite frequently in our Ex 
Serviceman's Club. 

The LAC, when he came down to 
Bombay, started to make our HQ on Apollo 
Bhunda a regular port of call, joining us on our 
visits to the Police Club and cinemas. He did not 
have the access to the 'duty frees' and 'nutty' that 
we as naval personnel enjoyed and so begged 
them from us. Each of us had a 'nutty card' which 
allowed us four hundred cigarettes and eight bars 
of chocolate a month from the NAAFI. 

One evening, when I came in off duty, the 
RPO. said that the RAF lad spent more time in 
the Navy Billet than we Royals did and that he 
was thinking of putting him on watch. On the 
next occasion the LAC called, I told him just 
what the RPO had said and that he was thinking 
of arming him with a pickaxe and sending him 



out on patrol. This rather alarmed him and he was 
quite worried that it just might happen. 

I told the RPO later, much to his 
amusement, that he had frightened the LAC with 
the thought of dealing with drunken stokers. I 
also told him that we were constantly supplying 
him with cigarettes and nutty and as he was 
spending so much time in the Navy Billet, it was 
time he was issued with his own nutty card. The 
RPO agreed. 

The RPO said he couldn't do that as the 
cards were only issued to Naval personnel. “So 
make him a rating." I suggested. "Leading Stoker 
will do." He agreed. I gave him his full name and 
he made out the nutty card to ..Leading stoker, 
Doug Williams. RAF. When he next arrived, we 
presented him with it. 

When the NAAFI opened, there was 
Leading Stoker Williams. RAF. standing in line. 
He in his khaki drills with his forage cap under 
his epaulette and the seamen and stokers all in 
their whites. 

I left Bombay, then when en-route to 
Singapore to join the RM Provost Company, I 
was ordered back to the UK, bringing back a 
party of Royal Marines on board HMS Berwick. 

Given the opportunity of leaving the 
service, I did so eventually transferring my police 
service to the West Midlands, where I came 
across Leading Stoker Williams. RAF. 

When this story has been related in the 
presence of many senior RAF Officers, Douglas 



always said that his biggest regret was not 
retaining his nutty card to prove that he was the 
only Leading Stoker in the Royal Air Force. 

The sequel to this story is however, a few 
years ago, the Royal Naval Association held a 
dance when on ‘Requestmen’ and ‘Defaulters’ 
being sounded, Leading Stoker Williams. RAF, 
was marched up to the Captain's Table where a 
request was made on his behalf for him to be 
issued with his Leading Stoker's Hook. This was 
granted and after many years he finally became 
the proud possessor of his Killick's Badge.  

 
J. Taylor.  

Ex RM. CH/X 3235 
Cannock, Staffordshire. 



THE MARINE 
  
I joined the Royal Marines in April 1942 

and did the full Sea Service Training with  184 
Squad, including Gunnery, Field Training, 
Forced Route Marches etc. Whilst training at 
Chatham we were told, that those who didn't pass 
out would be transferred to the Army. I think 
there were about ten who didn't make it and I am 
not sure what happened to them. However, I 
passed out and was issued with Blues which in 
those days was something. 

After passing out I, along with others 
from the 184, found ourselves at Portsmouth, 
Hayling Island, Fort Gomer doing further training 
for combined operations. After a spot of leave I 
had to make my own way to Appledore as a last 
minute replacement on LCF13. The next day we 
left for Gibralter along with LCF9, a few LCTs 
and a trawler. The journey took over two weeks. 
After about five days food was short and we 
found ourselves living on Spillers biscuits, 
known as hard tack. Water was rationed and a 
sentry was placed on the supply. We were 
allowed one inch in a bowl to do everything. We 
hit heavy storms and because we had a flat 
bottom and the forward turret was taking in 
water, we were bailing out for three days (not 
funny). However, we limped into Gibraltar and a 
sorry sight we must have looked. 

Then on to Algiers, Sousse and Djidjelli 
(North Africa), joining up with other landing 



craft. LCF9 was always with us. We were 
bombed night and day. A cover of smoke 
released from cannisters was forever hqanging 
round the port. What with our own guns firing, 
plus cross fire from other craft and land based 
guns, plus being sniped at by French, Vichy 
Sympathizers, it wasn't a healthy place to be. The 
bombing became more intensive as more craft 
joined us. We then went to Sousse to join a large 
landing force for the attack on Pantelleria (June 
10th 1943). We were told that 50% casualties 
were expected. 

We arrived off Pantelleria about dawn 
with a large task force. A tremendous air 
bombardment took place and of course our guns 
plus destroyers cruisers and battleships were all 
firing over us. The island just caved in and white 
flags appeared all over the place. 

The task force then left, leaving us LCF13 
and LCF9 to guard the island. That same evening 
when we were all relaxed, flares were dropped 
and it was like daylight. We were attacked by 
about a dozen German aircraft and this continued 
for about 36 hours. One bomb exploded 
underneath us making us immobile and we 
drifted on to the rocks. LCF9 tried to pull us off 
but to no avail. We were attacked again whilst 
grounded but most of the bombs hit the rocks, 
shattering them in pieces, which hit some of the 
crew. We had to abandon ship and scramble 
ashore where we found the Italians huddled up in 
caves dirty, unkempt and full of fleas. 



What was left of us, went aboard LCF9 
back to North Africa for a few days rest under 
canvas at Hammet. Quite a few of the LCF13 
Marines were flown home with shell shock but I 
was deemed fit enough to carry on and along 
with about five other Marines was transferred to 
LCF9. Here I met Skipper Bill King, Jim Faytor, 
O.C.R.M., Jack Brewin, Fred Allen, Reg Beard, 
Jim Rutland and Norman Warren sick bay Taffy, 
who like me was from Salford. 

The next month saw us in Malta. It was 
from here that we took part in the Sicilian 
landings on a beach near Syracuse, once again 
the noise and stink of gunpowder was imminent 
and we were all weary of it all. For some reason 
we went back to Malta for a spell and then 
returned to Messina. Soon after this we limped 
home to Westcliffe and a spell of leave. I 
travelled with Norman Warren LCF9 who was 
upset as I had seven more days leave than he had. 
The extra seven days was survivor's leave. After 
my leave I was told to report back to Portsmouth. 
I was only there a couple of days, mainly to be 
kitted out again because I had lost all mine on 
LCF13. 

Along with six other Marines I had to go 
to Oban (Scotland) where we boarded the Empire 
Defiant, an old Merchant Ship, not knowing why. 
We soon found out after we left harbour.  We had 
a skeleton crew of merchant seaman who were to 
get the ship into position on Gold Beach, June 
6th ‘D Day’, to form a breakwater for the landing 



craft. Our job was to blow a plate out below and 
sink it,(Operation Gooseberry). All went well 
apart from the noise, near misses, stink of gun 
powder, dead bodies etc. After sinking the ship 
we swam ashore and dug in on the beach near 
Arrowmanchie. We were there about four days 
before getting a lift on an LST back to the U.K. 

Once again I managed a few days leave 
after which I had to report back to Chatham 
where it had all started. To be honest I thought 
the war was over for me and I even started to 
enjoy being a Marine. In August 1944 I was 
informed that my brother Norman had been killed 
at Normandy. He was aged twenty-three. He was 
a couple of years older than me. Whilst feeling 
sorry for myself I was told to report to my old 
instructor  CPL. Calloway, now a Sergeant, who I 
might add, had never left the country. I joined the 
Sussex Detachment for a brief retrain and we 
then went aboard HMS Sussex for the Far East 
(here we go again). Most of the Marines on the 
Sussex were younger than me. I was almost a 
veteran being twenty-one. 

Life aboard the Sussex wasn't too bad. At 
least we had home baked bread which was made 
on board. It was nothing like the Landing Craft 
that I had been on. On the way out we called at 
Gibralter, Malta. Through the Suez Canal and 
Alexander, then to Calcutta (India). Our base was 
Trincamalee, Ceylon. Whilst everyone back 
home was celebrating V.E. Day we were attacked 
by Kamikaze planes in the Mallaga Straits 



(Operation Zipper). I was on the 4 guns and we 
shot a couple down. Once again the noise and the 
stink of gunpowder was back. Most of the 
Marines, including myself, were transferred to 
the Landing Craft Carrier, Princess Beatrice and 
joined other Marines from other ships to form a 
Commando Brigade for landing at Penang. The 
landing wasn't too bad except for a few awkward 
Japs. 

Whilst we were engaged in the landing, 
the Sussex had gone to Singapore to take the 
surrender. We were collected some weeks later 
by the Sussex which took us to Batavia (Jarva) 
We were now involved in another War between 
the Dutch and the Indonesians. The latter wanted 
independence. We also  had to contend with 
isolated groups of Japs who refused to surrender 
and we had to land at Semerang and Surabaya, 
moping up in the jungle. 

I got Malaria quite bad and spent a couple 
of weeks in the sick bay, losing quite a lot of 
weight. I left the Sussex at Chatham June 1946 
where I was finally demobbed. Although I was 
all skin and bone, I was passed fit A.1. 

Looking back on my experiences during 
the war, it's hard to say what was the worst. I 
think Pantellaria will go down as the most 
frightening, when they dropped those flares and 
we knew we were the target and also after being 
so relaxed after thinking we may be killed 
anyway. At Normandy I never really felt scared, 
although there was plenty of action. Perhaps I 



was used to it by now. The Far East with it's heat, 
diseases, mosquitos, jungle war fare and having 
witnessed the cruelty of the Japs was all very 
sickening. As I have mentioned, it left me with 
Malaria which I suffered with long after the War. 
Nevertheless, I am still here to tell the story. 

 
Alan Rowcroft. 

Prestwich, 
Manchester. 

 
 

 



MARINE STUPID 
 
Marine ‘Stupid', of that august body 

known to sailors as `Bootnecks', was even more 
unique because `Marine Stupid'......was a 
monkey. He was said to have been the pet of a 
pilot in the Fleet Air Arm who had failed to 
return. Out of deference to those brave men, I 
entertained the hope that the Officer just couldn't 
take him with him and had not been lost at all. 

He was taken aboard by the ship's 
compliment of Royal Marines serving on the 
Fleet Carrier, HMS Indomitable. It was early 
1945, and the ship was an integral part of the 
British Pacific Fleet, designated, Task Force 57. 

Whilst looked on by the `Bootnecks' as 
one of their own, he was regarded with mixed 
feelings by the ratings since when free of his 
charges he would scurry through the messdecks 
and anything not secured was to him, fair game. 
Loose items he would scoop up with 
unbelievable speed and be gone, clothing, 
personal items, it mattered not to him. He 
terrorised the ship's cat and his approach would 
be heralded with warning shouts. Matelots 
hurriedly gathered up their belongings. 

On pay Parade, ratings would be marched 
singly to the table. At the command `Off Caps' 
the said article would be removed smartly from 
the head and placed onto the table before the Pay 
Officer. The rating remained at attention whilst 



his dues were counted out into the cap; paper 
money only. 

You've guessed it. On one occasion, 
`Stupid' appeared from nowhere, snatched the 
lad's pay, he remaining ram-rod straight except 
for his head, which like all those present, turned 
to watch the retreating `Marine.' 

Being given the order "Get after him" the 
outraged `oppos' made after him in hopeful 
pursuit. When next seen, `Stupid' was eating two  
weeks pay, the remains of which he refused to 
give up. 

 

 



In his quieter moments, he would be seen 
in Marine company taking a breather on deck or 
accompanying the Marine Band at music 
practise, having been given the mouthpiece of 
one instrument or other to keep him quiet. 

The war ended. The surrender of Hong 
Kong taken and duly completed, Indomitable 
prepared for home and at Sydney, `Stupid' was 
given a draft-chit to another carrier. 

On the day of his transfer, Officers, men 
and undercover Ship's cats, turned out to bid him 
farewell. `Marine Stupid' dressed in made to 
measure tropical uniform pulling along his Kit 
bag, paraded through the lines of men, even those 
sinned against, sad at his departure as he took 
leave of us. Not a word of warning was given to 
the other ship. Let them find out for themselves. 
He was now to become Able Seaman Stupid. He 
was to have the last laugh as only he could. It 
seems that after meritorious service against the 
enemy, braving bombs and Kamikazes, he was 
honourably discharged to Sydney Zoo where 
`Stupid ` became .........................a mum. 

 
W.J. Brown. 

Bolton, Lancashire. 
 
 



A WAR REMEMBERED 
HMBYMS 2188 

 
Having qualified as a gun-layer at Whale 

Isand and Chatham, I was sent back to my depot 
at Lowestoft where soon after, I was drafted to 
places unknown. 

We boarded the troopship ‘Empress of 
Scotland’ at Greenock. We sailed alone finding 
ourselves in Halifax Nova Scotia, Canada, seven 
days later. We left there by train and away we 
went across the mighty continent of North 
America. 

After a brief stop in Montreal, we were 
soon speeding across the Rocky Mountains. 
Fitted to the front of the powerful steam train was 
a snow plough. It was exciting to watch the snow 
being piled high on both sides of the track. The 
scenery was magnificent and we hardened war 
veterans, were like a load of school children on 
an outing. In fact, at one stop we made, St 
Albans, the train swiftly emptied as everyone 
rushed over to the brightly lit street, and with the 
kindness of the people, we changed money and 
bought anything and everything just at the sheer 
delight of the lights and all the goodies on 
display. 

The train was delayed for an hour whilst 
the Officers rounded us all up. The journey to the 
U.S. took three days and two nights. It was a very 
brief glimpse of New York and then we arrived at 
our destination; Asbury Park. New Jersey. 



The Navy had taken over two large hotels 
in the sea front, erected railings and called the 
whole complex. HMS Asbury. This was now a 
receiving and holding barracks for crews 
awaiting ships yet to be built. I was to spend 
three weeks here and very nice it was too. 

The American people were most 
hospitable. Families would wait outside the gates 
in their huge cars and invite us to their homes for 
dinner. They were really wonderful to us. The 
U.S. Servicemen were tolerant of us, but many 
skirmishes took place. I suppose it was much the 
same attitude back home in the U.K. Their forces 
were overpaid and over there, whilst we were 
over in the States, and very underpaid. We found 
ourselves very popular. Free drinks in the bars 
etc, so it was inevitable that fights would break 
out now and then. Nothing serious though. After 
all. We were all on the same side in this war. All 
fighting to free the world from oppression. 

One amusing incident stands out in my 
mind. Whilst doing guard duty on the main gate 
one evening, two lorries sped past at a fair speed. 
They were crammed with U.S. sailors. They were 
all waving clubs and shouting “Come out you 
Limy bastards and fight” We would have 
willingly obliged had they stopped. 

Came the day that my name appeared on 
the notice board, to join a ship now at Brooklyn 
Navy Yard some ninety miles from Asbury. I 
left, along with a bunch of men who were to be 



my comrades in arms, and very dear shipmates 
over the next three and a half years. 

A coach took us and dumped us outside 
the Fulton Gate entrance to the navy yard. No-
one was in charge and no-one met us. All the 
officers and senior rates were already on board. 
Which ship and where, was still a mystery to us. 
Nobody knew. 

For some unknown reason they 
nominated me to find out where we were 
supposed to be. I approached the U.S. sentry and 
inquired as to the whereabouts of the 
minesweepers which were expecting crews. He 
directed me to a building to where the, ‘Limey’ 
Officers were.  

This proving successful, we were directed 
to one of the piers where our ship was berthed. It 
was the U.S.Y.M.S. 188. We straggled along, 
dragging our gear and we eventually found our 
new home. An officer was at the bridge watching 
this motley crowd arrive, swarming all over the 
gangway. It was our C.O. Skipper. Lt. Richard 
Hannaford. R.N.R., and did I detect a raised 
eyebrow at the sight of us. 

The Coxswain, C.P.O. Charlie Manthorpe 
met us and directed us below, saying that bunks 
had been allocated and that there was a hot meal 
ready. At last we were home. The family was 
ready to be moulded. 

The following morning the crew were 
assembled on the after deck and prayers were 
said. The Stars and Stripes were lowered, to be 



replaced by the White Ensign of the Royal Navy. 
We were now, H.M.B.Y.M.S. 2188. A wooden 
minesweeper with a complement of three 
Officers two Chiefs, three P.O.’s, twenty three 
ratings and no spare bunks. 

She was a neatly built ship of 700 tons. 
Twin screws and a large generator. The sweep-
gear went in and out on an electric winch. Life 
would be very easy from that point of view. For 
myself, I had two seaman gunners and I could 
also pick a guns crew from the others. Then train 
them to my standards in the coming weeks. 

The armament consisted of 1 x 3.50 
mounted on the forecastle. 2 X 20mm AA. One 
either side. There were 2 x 303 light machine 
guns, mounted on the flag deck. 2 x Lancaster 
repeating rifles on the bridge. 6 X 303 Lee 
Enfield rifles. 3 X 45 Colts and two depth 
charges stored on deck. The main magazine was 
in the fore peak. All in all, enough work to keep 
me and one seaman gunner busy throughout the 
working day. 

One of these gunners was a Leading 
Seaman. Jock Duthie. He was a fisherman from 
Peterhead. A real dour Scot. I became used to his 
silent moods and also became a firm friend. I still 
keep in contact after all these years through 
Christmas cards. 

We were in Brooklyn for ten days. Life in 
the exciting city of New York was hectic and 
full, of course. During the day we were busy 
storing ship and getting every thing shipshape 



and Bristol fashion. As befits a ship of the Royal 
Navy. 

Finally, we were, to all intents and 
purposes, ready for sea. First came the sea trials, 
then it was up the Hudson River to West Point. 
Although this is the famous Officer Training 
Academy, for the U.S. Army, during the was 
years it was also a storage dump for ammunition. 
All underground. It was here in this tranquil and 
peaceful countryside, that we took on board, the 
spawn of death and destruction. Although we 
didn’t think of the comparisons at the time and as 
the gunner in charge, it was my responsibility, so 
I had no time to think or enjoy the lovely setting 
of West Point. 

After taking on our deadly cargo, we 
returned back down the river. Passing on our 
way, the infamous Sing-Sing Prison, and also 
Grant’s Tomb. 

We docked at Staten Island. This was to 
be our last stop before leaving the great 
American continent. A bar that we frequented 
here was called ‘pop’s bar’. He was a sprightly 
man of about seventy years of age and whenever 
a fracas broke, and they did often, old pop would 
climb upon the bar, armed with a baseball bat and 
cheerfully crack anyone’s head that went 
anywhere near him. Not that we did. He made a 
comical sight all the same. 

We had an embarrassing moment one 
night. We were heading for pop’s when we heard 
some lively music coming from a building. 



Thinking it might be a dance, we entered the 
foyer. An old, coloured man stopped us and said 
“I don’t think as how you boys need this place 
right now, for this is the House of de Lord, and 
we coloured folk is at a prayer meeting, but bless 
you all for looking in.” Well folk music and 
Negro spirituals were always very tuneful and 
gay. In spite of our red faces, this kindly old man 
smiled us on our way. 

It was a wet and dreary morning when we 
at last left our berth at Staten Island, New York. 
The time was 0630 hrs. As we let go our own 
ropes, we slipped out to sea, with a new crew 
member. I found a kitten sheltering under the 
ropes so I threw her on board. We named her 
Pepsi. The entire crew cared for and raised her 
until she grew into a fine cat. Loved by all the 
men. Including the Captain. 

She became part of the ship and perhaps 
helped to weld together this happy band of 
sailors. She spread her favours evenly and would 
snuggle around our necks in the comfort of the 
Mae West life-belts that were compulsory at sea. 
In rough seas, she would adjust to the roll of the 
ship just like the rest of us and from the start she 
was house trained. Or should I say ship trained. 

When in harbour, even if we were 
outboard in a trot of four ships, she would go 
ashore and return to the 2188 after her night of 
courting. This wonderful animal gave birth to 
several litters of kittens in the mess deck and all 



of us acted like expectant fathers. The fuss we 
made and the devotion we had for her. 

On leaving Canada for home, our Pepsi 
didn’t return to the ship. There were many lumps 
in many throats. Although no one would admit it, 
a sadness spread throughout the ship. Perhaps she 
thought, this is my homeland and I’d better stay 
here, or did someone detain her knowing that we 
were sailing. We all hoped and prayed that 
someone somewhere would look after her with 
the same love and attention that we had done. 

The crew, by now had made their own 
little groups. We were all blooded in mine 
warfare. A good number of them had been 
fishermen before the start of hostilities, so 
seamanship was of the highest standard. We did 
our duty. We obeyed our officers and senior 
rates. Not from a strict naval point of view, but 
out of respect and a great feeling of loyalty. 

Loyalty has to start somewhere. I think 
the seeds of ours, started in a small bar in Boston 
Mass’. The Silver Dollar. On this particular 
night, a brawl started over nothing and a reason 
for not pitching in with your shipmates, never 
existed. The U.S. Marines and Navy mixed it up 
with us and a real battle took place. It raged from 
the club, half way around the square and down a 
subway. A local policeman was heard to remark 
“Let the silly b......s fight it out. We’ll clean up 
afterwards.” 

Some time later, the Captain came to bail 
the battered crew, out of the Boston nick. We 



must have looked a sorry state, lined up, heads 
bowed and our uniforms in various states of 
damage. The police sergeant demanded that we 
be punished and the skipper assured him that we 
would all be confined to the ship for five days. 
He added, with a twinkle in his eye that he would 
make sure that all of us complied with this 
punishment. He omitted to tell the Sergeant that 
we were sailing the following morning. We were 
to spend five days at sea. 

The skipper never queried the fight or 
how and who had started it. But by his standing 
up for us, we knew we had a treasure in this, wiry 
man. The sort of Captain every seaman longed to 
serve with. He proved his worth many times over 
the next few years we were together. 

We sailed from Boston to Halifax, Nova 
Scotia, on the west coast of Canada. We were en-
route for home, but the enemy laid a minefield 
just outside the harbour, thereby blocking the 
entrance to Bedford Basin. A starting point for 
the vital supply convoys.  
 

The Canadians were not well up on 
minesweeping, so the hierarchy decided that the 
flotilla that was in Halifax at the time, would be 
seconded to the RCN to deal with this problem. 
The flotilla consisted of four ships. The 2188 was 
one of them. We made many friends in this large 
seaport, as we did across in Dartmouth, where we 
were based. 



Nova Scotia at this period in time, was a 
dry state, and although we all had the liquor 
controls licence to draw monthly rations. This 
usually went on the first day of issue. However, it 
wasn’t long before our resourceful lads found a 
regular supply.....At the local bootleggers.  

 The real beer was quite expensive, but 
the home-made hooch, lovingly distilled in a 
bathtub was cheap. We called it ‘Kick-a-poo joy 
juice.’ It was deadly, but our Taff Cousins said it 
was ‘screech’. He loved it. One was enough for 
anyone. I reckon they could have run aircraft 
engines on it. 

During the winter months, with the snow 
piled high everywhere during an illegal 
bootleggers party, in a three story building, some 
members of the crew were enjoying themselves, 
when there was a loud banging on the door and a 
voice proclaimed very loudly. “Open up. 
Mounted police.” 

You should have seen the panic, as sailors 
tumbled from bedroom windows and plunged 
head first into snow drifts. We found out later 
that the police weren’t all that bothered at our 
illicit drinking but did this exercise every so 
often, just for laughs. They certainly had plenty 
to laugh at that night. What a sight it must have 
made. 

The Halifax Minefield was cleared and 
before we had time to relax, the Germans had 
laid another one, outside St.Johns Newfoundland. 
We were ordered to go there and deal with it, as 



this remote port was also of importance to the 
allied convoys. 

Our first impression of Newfoundland 
was one of bleak desolation. The towering, 
brooding cliffs, enclosing a land locked harbour. 
After navigating the narrow channel, the town 
came into view. It consisted of one main street. 
Water Street. Along it’s length were some stores, 
cafe’s, a cinema and two pubs. On one side of the 
harbour was a cod-liver oil factory and a fish 
market. This is where they chose to berth the 
flotilla. 

Once the minefield had been cleared, we 
made our way back through several miles of pack 
ice to Canada, thus avoiding getting frozen in for 
the winter. This leading to our eventual 
departure, where we left Halifax and a lot of fond 
memories behind. 

A refuelling stop was made at Horta 
Feuhel in the Portuguese island of the Azores. 
Due to the fact that Portugal was a neutral 
country, we were not allowed ashore, just to 
avoid any trouble with the German nationals 
living there; As were some English also. A berth 
was provided, as were fuel and water. This 
worked the same for the Germans, though, I 
might add, not at the same time.  

We were allowed ashore for an exercise 
route march, led by an Officer. On the return 
back from the town, our Taff Cousins had to be 
held up as he was that pickled. The Captain to 
this day doesn’t know how he got so drunk, as 



we’d only been allowed in the town for an hour 
anyway. No one else knew the answer either, and 
Taff didn’t talk. He just grinned. 

From this pretty island, we progressed to 
Londonderry in Southern Ireland and after just a 
brief stop over, we sailed back home, arriving at 
Swansea. We had been away from home for 
sixteen months. Leave was the main topic on the 
mess deck. 

When the powers that be refused us shore 
leave, without even giving us a reason, it caused 
quite a stir. After the threat of a mutiny and many 
heated talks between our Captain and the Base 
Commander, they relented and gave us six days. 
It should have been twenty six. However, the 
reason for our short spell at home, became 
apparent on the 6th June 1944. When the 
Invasion of Europe commenced. 

The 2188 played her part in this epic 
moment of our history. We plied our skills 
around Omaha Beach and around the Cherbourg 
Peninsular. We took part in the Battle of 
Walcrern Island and completed the massive task 
of clearing the River Scheldt into Antwerp. A 
vital port for the Allied Armies. 

We had many adventures, but this should 
be the subject of a book in it’s own right. Suffice 
to say, that we survived and our only casualty 
was ‘Legs’ Martin. Our Leading Seaman. He was 
discharged on medical grounds. He always had a 
knowing look on his face and he was a character. 
I remember him best for his stamp collection 



which he kept in the lifeboat, packed in several 
condoms. 

The way to victory led us through the 
coastal ports of France, Belgium, Holland and 
then Germany. We celebrated V.E. Day, moored 
in the harbour of Cuxhaven. The charts of the 
minefields were now in our hands and it became 
a straight forward task clearing them. 

 

 
The final port for myself was Imjuden, 

Holland, and by now, most of the original crew 
had been replaced. In fact, I was the last of the 
original crew to leave. Our great skipper and the 
1st Lt, (Lt. McKay), were to stay on and bring the 
ship back to the U.K. I left in the forenoon and 
went to the wardroom to bid farewell to the 



Captain. We just looked at each other and shook 
hands. All he said was, “It’s been a long time.” 
The clasp of our hands said the rest. Words 
weren’t needed.  

H.M.B.Y.M.S. 2188. was broken up at 
Grimsby in 1970, but the spirit of the men that 
made her alive, will always be there. She was a 
stout ship, a happy and therefore, a clean and 
efficient ship and her crew were the best mates a 
man could wish to have. After all, we were in a 
man’s world and the very small knit community 
of the little ship, so it would only need one bad 
apple in the barrel to make life difficult. 2188 
never had that problem. God bless them all. 

 
W.J. Davies. 

Newport, Gwent. 
 



GOODBYE ARK ROYAL 
 
The year: 1941. The place: just outside 

Gibraltar Harbour. I was serving on board HMS 
Malaya, a veteran battleship of the Battle of 
Jutland and together with Ark Royal. We  were 
part of force ‘H’ based on Gibraltar. 

It was 1600 hrs on a sunny afternoon. We 
were returning to port having succeeded in 
getting three ships out of a total of eleven through 
to sorely pressed Malta and were almost back in 
harbour, with the Ark Royal on our starboard 
beam. This mighty ship, (which was very 
instrumental in the sinking of the ‘Bismark’) 
looked a majestic sight as her planes took off 
heading inland towards the shore base. Our escort 
destroyers were steaming line ahead to harbour 
and we took up position astern. 

I was standing on top of ‘B’ turret, having 
just secured as a member of the gun’s crew, when 
suddenly, a great explosion rent the air. There 
was Ark Royal with smoke billowing up from her 
flight deck, followed by long tongues of flames. 
She was soon listing at a crazy angle and the 
planes that had remained on deck, were now 
slipping into the sea. 

The destroyers turned about and dropped 
depth charges in all directions. I was 
dumbfounded, but was even more so when to my 
amazement, I saw a periscope cutting through the 
still waters about one hundred yards off our 
starboard bow. After firing his torpedoes, the 



canny U-boat Captain had taken his boat not 
away from the scene as expected, but right in 
amongst the other ships. Somewhere aft, an A.A. 
Gun opened up from the ‘Malaya’ on the still 
visible periscope. Then it disappeared.  

A week later a small patrol vessel 
returned to Gibraltar harbour with survivors from 
the U-boat responsible for the sinking of that 
great ship HMS Ark Royal. 

 
John F. Cunningham. 

Runcorn, Cheshire. 
 



KAMIKAZE 
 
During World War Two, in the Pacific, 

the newly created British Pacific Fleet, began to 
take part in the great Pacific battles. 

The carriers; Indomitable, Indefatigable, 
Victorious, and Illustrious; Battleships King 
George V. and  Howe; Five cruisers and ten 
destroyers, took station on March 26th. They 
began round the clock strikes against the airfields 
of The Sakashime Islands and Formosa. The 
British ships were designated, Task Force 57. 

 

 
The wreckage one of two Kamikazes to hit  

HMS Indomitable. 



The Japanese had been using Kamikaze 
pilots for some time and had inflicted much 
damage on American warships. Task Force 57 in 
later operations were given similar attention. All 
the carriers mentioned, plus the Formidable, 
which relieved the Illustrious were hit, but were 
never out of action for more than a few hours. 
My first story concerns a Kamikaze attack on the 
King George V. 

During the engagement, the suicide plane 
was observed plunging through the heavy flak, 
towards the King George V. It hit the 
superstructure near to the Bridge, which became 
hidden from view by the resultant explosion and 
smoke. Almost immediately she re-appeared and 
from the winking of her signal light, flashed the 
message,  

“The Yellow B”. 
“I hope you are not referring to me”, 
flashed the Indomitable in reply, jokingly. 

This was quickly followed by a more concerned 
message. 

 
”Have you sustained any damage?” 
 
 To those of us who could read this silent 

conversation the amusing answer from King 
George V. was.  

 
“Scratched paintwork.” 
 

W.J. Brown. Bolton, Lancashire. 
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ONE MAN’S WAR 
 
On the 10th September 1939 I was 

approaching 30 years of age and was working for 
the Corporation Electricity Department, as a shift 
driver on a wage of approx. £2.18 per week. Out 
of this I had to pay super-annuation and union 
dues. I had been married for two years and I was 
buying a new house for £345. 

My wife also worked as a supervisory 
machinist, but even so, we could never have 
afforded to manage on our combined wages and 
live decently. I played the piano three nights a 
week at a local pub and also attended auction sale 
rooms in between shifts and bought vacuum 
cleaners, sewing machines and bric-a-brac, 
renovating them and selling same for a 
reasonable profit. I also had a clientele of about 
thirty five ladies for whom I serviced vacuums 
and sewing machines when required. 

As a corporation employee, I was 
informed by my manager, that I would be exempt 
from war service. However, on the Sunday prior 
to the 11th September 1939. I read in the 
newspapers an account of the sinking of the 
S.S.Athenia and of a passenger who ran around 
the ship to rescue his daughter then realised it 
was too late. She was dead. This, plus other 
accounts from the survivors gave me a feeling of 
utter anger. So much so, that on the Monday after 
the 11th September, I went to the nearest 
recruiting centre and volunteered for war service. 



I was medically examined and passed fit by the 
doctor and told to report back the next morning at 
0900 hrs and to bring some sandwiches with me. 

My wife was understandably upset, and 
my manager called me a bloody fool, but he was 
proud of me. He was an ex. Captain. I reported as 
requested and I was made acting Warrant Officer 
and given custody of six other young men to take 
to Aldershot, where we were kitted out. 

We were allowed into Aldershot at night 
but as we did not receive any army pay for a 
couple of weeks, I made a few bob playing the 
piano in a pub at night that was packed out with 
troops. 

Whilst serving here, I underwent a PT and 
an unarmed combat course for instructor, which I 
passed. Then finally we were marched to 
Rushmoor Arena, where we slept in the stands. 
We were issued with a couple of blankets each, 
weapons and instructions.  

After meals we would wander around the 
company office which was surrounded by trees. 
It was like a little forest. Attached to these trees 
were speakers from which the daily orders would 
be issued from the Sgt Major’s office. It was 
quite funny to hear him bellow “Stand still that 
man!” When it was quite obvious that he couldn’t 
possibly have seen anyone, but it worked. 
Everyone stood still. 

Finally, I was pasted to the R.A.S.C. 4th 
Division Ammunition Company at Andover 
where we were billeted in tents which were 



erected over deep holes in the chalk. It was not 
long before the whole unit were infested with lice 
and we all had to be decontaminated, our clothes 
as well. We went on regular manoeuvres on 
Salisbury Plain where we learned to use Bren 
guns and small arms. Those non drivers amongst 
us, were given a ten day drivers course. 

At the end of November, we were moved 
to a southern port where we embarked for France. 
The voyage was uneventful and we did what 
exercise we could around the crowded decks. We 
landed at St. Nazaire with the British 
Expeditionary Force where we were billeted in a 
disused glass factory near the docks. We were 
then issued with a mug of tea and the biggest 
cheese sandwich you ever saw. A couple of lads 
lost theirs to the rats that were scuttling around 
all night.  

The next morning we started to unload the 
vehicles and equipment and we started off 
through Nantes and Le Mans to the 
accompaniment of cheers and applause from the 
French en-route. We finally reached Arras (Pas 
de Calais) the scene of a big battle in World War 
One. It is about forty miles from the Belgian 
border. 

On the way there, we passed many 
cemeteries full of the allied troops from the first 
World War, all uniformly laid out with white 
crosses. As we passed, the lads stopped their 
singing and were strangely quiet. 



We spent the first night in a hall called the 
‘Salle de Fete’ and next morning, came my 
second volunteering mistake. Our Captain asked 
if anyone could speak French and I was about the 
only one who could make myself understood. 
The French of my school days turned out to be 
nothing like the French of the ‘Pas de Calais’. 

I accompanied the Captain around the 
district where at each house I asked the occupants 
if they could house any soldiers for which they 
would be paid ‘X’ francs per day. At the end of 
four hours we managed to house about seventy 
troops and officers and the rest of the company 
set to, packing palliasses with straw. 

Our next step was to position the lorries at 
strategic points close to the billets and off load 
the ammunition onto the pavements and organise 
a twenty four hour guard. Beside doing the 
vehicle maintenance, we also had to dig slit 
trenches all around. We dug up quite a few relics 
of the first war; helmets, swords and the bones of 
a donkey. 

I was up on orders to receive a lance 
corporal’s stripe and a week later given a further 
stripe to be made a fully paid up corporal. It was 
on being promoted that I realised that the welfare 
of the lads was all important and I vowed to give 
it my all. After all, I was thirty years old and the 
others were all teenagers.  

I was issued with a motorcycle and given 
charge of a section of seven lorries, carrying gun 
cotton, molotov cocktails and a Bren gun, rifle 



and revolver ammunition. I had sixteen drivers 
and four loaders in my section. Apart from the 
four loaders and myself, being so young, they all 
took it as some sort of picnic. 

We were allowed into Lille on pass and 
an amusing incident I recall outside one of the 
brothels there was a whitewashed sign which 
read, ‘Anglais Soldats visit here. It is the place 
your fathers visited in 1914/18’. Some wag had 
added, ‘same staff’. 

I also visited Ypres. The scene of two big 
battles in W.W.I. where the trenches and dugouts 
had been preserved; guarded by the ghosts of 
thousands of allied troops, lying in neat rows of 
well looked after graves with regulation white 
crosses near by. This is the place, I was told, that 
one Christmas, hostilities ceased for a few hours 
and the two sides made contact and shook hands 
until resuming the fight the next day. Here I must 
pay tribute to the French for the regular 
maintenance of these cemeteries. 

I managed to get up a fairly creditable 
concert party here and we gave several shows to 
units round about until one day it was announced 
that Gracie Fields was coming to give a show at 
the Round Theatre, (Roubaix) which was in Lille, 
only one mile from the Belgian border. 

The show was only for selected troops 
from the surrounding units and I was selected to 
go. The concert party had already given one show 
here and due to the late arrival of Gracie’s party, 



the Captain and I managed to round them up to 
stand in for her until she arrived.  

We were welcomed onto the stage with 
the accompaniment of loud cheers. Keeping 
going until she finally arrived at 2245 hrs. Gracie 
kept everybody happy by singing her little heart 
out until gone midnight. I was introduced to her 
whilst I was backstage, thanked for my help and 
invited for drinks with her party and the officers. 
I finally left at 0200 hrs in the O/C’s jeep. 

One day we received a signal from 
G.H.Q. To the effect that all officers were to be 
able to ride a motor cycle. I was given the 
unenviable task of teaching one junior officer. I 
picked a 500 cc Triumph as being the most 
suitable and as he had ridden a push bike 



previously, that made things a little easier. I 
started off by putting the bike up on it’s stand and 
getting him acquainted with the gears etc.  

The lesson was taken in a quadrangle 
behind the company office and he had his first 
attempt at riding around the yard. In the centre of 
the yard there was a pile of empty petrol cans. 
Yes, you’ve guessed it. Half way around he lost 
his balance and landed in the middle of them; 
much to the amusement of the Company Officer 
who was watching from his window. 

We had two dispatch riders who were 
inseparable pals. Night  

driving was always hazardous due to the 
poor lighting because  

of the blackout. The lorries only a small 
light underneath the back which used to shine 
onto a white spot on the axle. It was always 
difficult to ascertain just how far away you were 
from these vehicles. One of these poor lads must 
have judged the light wrong one night and he hit 
the back of the lorry. He was killed outright. 

When the Germans commenced 
hostilities, they bombed the cinema in Arras. We 
rounded up all the company and in the space of 
two hours, we were loaded up and on our way 
into Belgium.  

The 2nd may we were greeted with 
cascades of flowers and cheers from the Belgian 
people as we entered Brussels. We were 
deployed around the town square and I couldn’t 



help noticing just what a lovely, clean place it 
was; all snow white buildings. 

The lads kipped down in the lorries and I 
mounted a guard on the same. I was approached 
by a lady who spoke perfect English. I found out 
that she hailed from the same district as I did. She 
had married a French officer just after the first 
world war. She then invited me into her home for 
coffee and biscuits and we had a good chat about 
our home town. She also made a large jug of 
coffee for the lads on guard. 

We only stayed there one night. The 
following morning saw us on our way to Leuven 
and then towards Genk near the German frontier. 
Before we reached the town, a dispatch rider 
arrived with a message. I wasn’t to carry on any 
further. Instead, I was to proceed immediately to 
Mechalin (Malines) heading away from the 
frontier. 

During this time, we were subjected to 
spasmodic hedgehopping raids which made 
moving during the day very difficult. We 
travelled by night. From this point on, I never 
saw an officer but received all my instructions 
from dispatch riders as to which map reference I 
should move to. My last instruction was to off 
load all my ammunition in a field for the Royal 
Engineers to blow up and to destroy my vehicles. 
This I did, keeping only one lorry and a bren gun. 
We all travelled in this, living off the land as we 
went. My orders stated that it was now a case of 
‘every man for himself.’ 



We were on the outskirts of Kortrick near 
Menen, West Flanders and from here I took a 
route towards Poperinge and at one halt I went 
foraging for food in a deserted farm. There were 
a few cows that had not been milked for days so I 
brought the lads to the farm and we helped 
ourselves to a gallon or two. We also caught a 
couple of hens and in the cellar we found a stack 
of potatoes. We boiled it all up in a tin bath and 
had ourselves a feast. 

One night, we were hiding under some 
trees only to be awaken by a loud croaking noise. 
The noise was coming from dozens of frogs (or 
toads) we didn’t get any more sleep that night. 
The following morning we dammed the brook 
until we had about four feet of water and all had a 
damn good soak. 

As we neared Poperinge we could see a 
huge pall of smoke and flames, so I left the lorry 
and the lads and went to see if we could get 
through. Things seemed to be O.K. As we 
approached the main square, standing in amongst 
the rubble was a Military Policeman. He gave us 
instructions to follow a route which he had 
marked out with blitzed timber etc. We followed 
it around the town towards Dunkirk which was 
taking a terrible hammering from the Germans. It 
was at this point that a dispatch rider approached 
us and he advised us to skip Dunkirk and head 
for La Panne a few miles further up the coast. I 
took his advice. 



We came to a bridge where the R.E’s had 
mined ready to blow up. There was a rifle 
brigade deployed on the opposite bank. It was 
deemed most urgent that we should get across as 
soon as possible because the Germans were only 
a few miles away and 

their shells were getting awfully close. 
We moved damn quick. 

We arrived on the beach at 1500 hrs to be 
greeted by an officer who ordered us to fall in 
behind a column of boys waiting for boats to 
come in. I was then told to follow him to help 
keep order amongst all the men, (French and 
Belgians) who were also hoping to get off the 
beach. We had a little trouble from them because 
they were not allowed to embark whilst our lads 
were still there. One or two tried to board boats 
by wearing allied battle dress. One can only 
guess where they obtained them. 

There were only two small ships close to 
the water’s edge when we arrived, and some of 
the lads were on the verge of hysteria as the 
German planes strafed the beach quite often. I 
saw but one British plane during the five days I 
spent there and he was shot down into the sea by 
German fighters.  

As the planes attacked, a staff officer 
lying on his belly on the sand, was hit by a bullet. 
It went through the back of his thigh leaving a 
nasty hole in the front. A sergeant and myself 
carried him to the makeshift medical unit set up 
in a bombed out outhouse. He ordered us to get 



him aboard the next possible boat as he had some 
vital information to give. We found a small 
rowing boat in the shed, so off we rowed, out 
towards the waiting ships. We put him aboard 
and went back to the beach. 

That same afternoon during another 
attack, I was blown several yards up the beach as 
the planes dropped anti-personnel bombs on us. I 
remember being carried up to the medical unit 
and also getting a jab. I next remember coming to 
on a small boat out at sea. It all seemed so unreal 
to me that voyage. I just had this strange feeling 
of peace. We were diverted to Ramsgate by a 
patrol boat as we neared the English coastline 
and we were then carried ashore to the waiting 
ambulances. I have never seen so much chocolate 
or cigarettes as I saw that day on the quayside. 

 
An extract from the war memoirs of: 

Jack Gardner entitled: 
 

‘ONE MAN’S WAR’ 
 



TANKS 
 
As I left home on the morning of 5th Feb’ 

1940,  said “Cheerio.” to my mum. There were 
tears in her eyes as I said,  

 
“See you soon. It will all be over in six 

months.” 
 
Little did I know, as I reached the top of 

the road to turn and wave, that the next time I 
would see her would be a long four years away. I 
had already said goodbye to my girlfriend Peggy. 
She was to wait all those years for me to come 
home. 

I caught a train at Watford Junction for 
Farnborough to join the Royal Tank Corps. I 
arrived sometime in the afternoon and 
immediately started my six months training. It 
was quite and experience for me as I met people 
from all walks of life and needless to say, I made 
some great friends. As far as the training went, it 
made a great change from printing. I had only 
just finished my apprenticeship at the sun 
engraving company. I passed out after six months 
as a tank driver and wireless operator.  

November 1940, saw me billeted at East 
Grinstead. Whilst there, Peggy came to see me, 
(was I happy), they were two great days. I 
travelled from there to Liverpool en-route to 
North Africa. We boarded the ‘Reino del 



Pacifico.’ Having one torpedo scare before 
docking at Port Tufik seven weeks later.  

We were then put on a train bound for the 
Sudan being bombed by a lone italian plane as 
we travelled. It scored two direct hits killing 
several indians that were travelling with us. 
Arriving at Agordat, we unloaded the tanks 
without any aggro. We were then to make our 
way to Keren. A town held by the Italians. Our 
infantry were having trouble shifting them and 
had asked for tank support. It took us just two to 
three days to get them moving. To be quite 
honest, the baboons that inhabited the rocky hills 
gave us more trouble. They would get in our way 
and we didn’t have the heart to hurt them. 

Leaving Keren on our way to Asmara, 
I’ve never seen as many condoms left by the 
retreating Italians. I never did find out why they 
needed them, as women were very scarce around 
here. 

After two or three weeks I landed in 
Alexandria, Egypt. After my first taste of war, I 
was given a few days leave to go into Cairo. That 
was an experience. Especially round the back 
alleys and side streets. Mind you I was never 
alone. I always had my mates with me and we 
were armed. After this short spell, which 
included a short refit for the tanks, we were ready 
for the Libyan Desert. 

We arrived at Mersa Matru, our camp in 
early June 1941. It wasn’t long before we had 
orders to move up to the front line. 



It’s funny, but none of us seemed scared. 
Each tank crew was given a packet of cigs and a 
bottle of beer as we moved off. It was slow 
progress as the tanks would only travel at 10mph. 
We arrived at what they called the ‘wire’ that 
divided Egypt and Libya. There were gaps every 
quarter of a mile. 

It was now 05.00 Hrs. On the 7th July 
1941. We had waited through the previous night 
watching the German flares. It was like a 
firework display. By the time morning came they 
knew exactly where we were. At 05.30 Hrs., We 
received the order to attack, what a fiasco. We 
never stood a chance. We had 25 ton Matilda 
tanks (the biggest in the army) 2 pounder guns 
and a Bren machine gun. Twelve tanks against 
the Jerry Tiger tanks with 88mm guns. Each tank 
carried a 4 man crew. 

We had only moved forward 200 yards 
when we were hit by an 88mm shell. Fortunately 
it was only a glancing blow but enough to break a 
track and immobilise us. We stopped and smoke 
was coming up through the turret. The gunner 
(Cyril Hook) started to climb out. I tried to stop 
him, but he climbed to his death. The tank 
commander told me to see if I could get anything 
on the radio. They were the last words he ever 
spoke, as he was talking he opened the turret and 
was killed by a piece of shrapnel. The driver and 
myself managed to get out unharmed by climbing 
out of the driving hatch instead of the turret. 



Looking around it was chaos with tanks 
burning and bodies everywhere. An armoured car 
was coming towards us, I looked at my driver 
and said “This is it.” It stopped by us and as we 
surrendered. The German officer said, “For you 
the war is over.” I remember asking him if I 
could get my cigarettes from the tank. In perfect 
English he called over one of his men and off we 
went, we climbed back into the tank. I opened my 
locker as the German stuck a gun in my back. I 
retrieved my 50 Players Navy Cut and 50 Indian 
cigarettes (army issue), they were terrible. I 
expected him to take the players but to my joy he 
opted for the Indian cigs. I also took a tin of 
Walls sausages which he let me keep ( not a bad 
bloke really.) 

We were taken to Bardia for 
interrogation, there were 22 of us from various 
tanks. They wanted to know of our strengths and 
the capability of the tanks. I don’t know why 
because when I went before the German Officer 
he knew more than I did. He had more Leyland 
handbooks than I had ever seen. 

 
FROM BARDIA TO BENGHAZI. 
 
I wasn’t sorry to leave Bardia, as the 

Royal Navy started shelling it just before we left. 
It sounded like double decker busses going over. 
The Germans handed us over to the Italians 
whose job it was to take us to Benghazi. What a 
trek. We were put into open lorries with planks of 



wood for seats. We had water but no food and the 
Italians took great delight in putting bayonets to 
our throats and calling us English bastards. 

On our arrival at Benghazi, we were taken 
to a German working camp. There were already 
300 prisoners there. We were given a meal of 
Erzatz bread, Sauerkraut and coffee. I and three 
of my mates often talked of escaping but always 
came to the conclusion that it would be 
impossible here in the desert. We would just have 
to bide our time. 

After a night’s rest we were all given our 
various duties which involved cleaning the 
German barracks, the food stores, loading trucks 
for the front line, (which was strictly against the 
Geneva Convention), with oil and petrol at a 
station just outside Benghazi. 

Those that looked the fittest were picked 
for the oil dump. I was one of this team totalling 
roughly thirty. We were taken to the dump by 
lorries. Our task was to load 50 gallon oil drums 
and large cans of petrol on to the lorries. The oil 
drums were spaced 50 yards apart because of the 
bombing. It was hard work pushing them through 
the sand to the ramps.  

We still did our bit. The guards were quite 
a distance away and couldn’t see us. We 
unscrewed the stoppers on the barrels with a 
wrench that we had pinched from a lorry, all the 
oil drained out into the sand and we put the 
empty barrels onto the lorries. We made out they 
were heavy as we lifted them on. This must have 



had some effect at the front line as the German 
supplies were very limited. After a few weeks I 
was transferred to the food stores. 

This was a better job. We were loading 
food for the front line at Tobruk. As the guards 
were few, we would go round the back of the 
stacks, slide the top off the boxes and puncture as 
many tins as possible and replace the top ready 
for loading, you can imagine the result. We of 
course eat well.  

We were always searched before we went 
back to camp, so we had the idea of tying a sock 
between our legs with a piece of string around 
our waist, this was used to carry a tin out. 
Sometimes even chocolate. Because it dangled 
between our legs we got away with it, as the 
guards never touched there.  

This went on for some time until one of 
the gang got greedy and put two tins in. After 
being searched we were walking away and he 
started clanging. We were called back and 
searched again. The secret was out. The German 
Officer must have had a sense of humour, he just 
laughed, took our tins and let us go. 

I had now been in Benghazi for five and 
half months and was now assigned to barrack 
cleaning. I became friendly with a German whilst 
doing this work and he took a liking to me. Every 
morning he would give me scraps of food, talk 
about his family and more importantly update me 
on the happenings at the front.  



The Germans were being pushed back, 
mainly due to lack of supplies. This, of course, 
was good news. It was obvious our army was 
getting closer as we were being bombed almost 
every night by our own planes. On one of these 
raids the German barracks was hit killing many, 
including my friend. 

On the 24th December 1941, the Germans 
were becoming excited. Our boys were on the 
outskirts of Benghazi, and we were all looking 
forward to being liberated, but the Germans had 
other ideas. On the 26th December we embarked 
on a Italian cruiser and taken to Brindisi, Italy. 

 
MY CAPTIVITY IN ITALY 
 
On our arrival at Brindisi, we were taken 

to a makeshift camp of tents. It had been snowing 
and it was bitterly cold. All we had on was our 
tropical clothes. We were given a bread roll and 
coffee, we were starving. We stayed in this field, 
under canvas for four days.  

We were then put on a train bound for 
Porto St Giogio. Our next camp, had a head count 
of 1.500  prisoners already there. I remember 
walking through the streets to the camp, being 
jeered at jostled and stoned by the town folk. We 
arrived at the camp for the start of a new year 
1942. 

Each hut housed 200 prisoners, we slept 
in bunks. I slept on top, a chap named Walter 
Walton had the bottom bunk. We became good 



pals sharing what food we had. The beds were 
infested with woodlice.  

About the middle of February I was 
seriously ill with pleurisy, and spent four weeks 
in the camp hospital. (If you could call it that.)  

As the weather started to improve there 
was talk of escaping. Twenty airforce prisoners 
decided that our bunk was the best location to 
start digging the tunnel under. They dug for five 
weeks replacing the concrete slabs when the 
guards were due. It was never found until 18 
airmen had escaped. I had the opportunity to go 
with Wally, but declined. All the airmen were 
recaptured.  

After several months we were moved 
again, this time to a camp at Masserata, still on 
the Adriatic. I became friendly with three chaps 
who were very eager to escape. This was the best 
opportunity I’d had so far.  

About the end of august 1943, there were 
rumours of a landing by our forces at Salerno. On 
September 3rd 1943, all the guards had 
disappeared, so I said to my three mates, “lets 
go.” At 1100 hrs. We broke down the door and 
we were away. We ran expecting a bullet in the 
back, but nothing happened.  

We came to a farm and to our surprise, 
we were offered food and wine. We were then 
told that Italy had capitulated and they were on 
our side. (But beware of the Fascists, as I was to 
find out later.) We were the only ones to escape, 



as the others in the camp were taken to Germany 
the very next day. 

We slept under haystacks, scrounging 
food as we made our way south. We heard that 
the Fascists were looking for us, they had put 
posters up in the villages telling people not to 
help the escaped prisoners. Apparently, quite a 
few had escaped from up north and were making 
their way south also. We talked and decided that 
it was now too dangerous to stay together, we 
went our separate ways. There I was on my own, 
in a hostile country, but I coped. I never did see 
either of these three again.  

When I became desperate, throwing 
caution to the wind I stopped at a farm. Luckily, 
they gave me food and drink, because their son 
had come home from the army. According to him 
all the Italians threw down their weapons and 
went home. They made me very welcome and I 
was to stop there on and off for eight months. 

It had become almost impossible for me 
to head south towards Naples because of the 
retreating Germans. I joined the Partisans along 
with the son of these people. About twelve of us 
would go out at night, placing barriers across the 
main roads to stop the Germans. The Italians 
looked after me well. 

I was lying in bed one day when they 
woke me to say, that the Germans were coming 
to the house. I dressed quickly and jumped out of 
the back bedroom window. I hid until I got the all 
clear.  



After a couple of months, I went down 
with malaria. Our troops were in the vicinity 
now, so the son contacted them saying, that a 
British soldier was staying with them and that he 
had contacted malaria. An ambulance was sent 
for me and I was taken to hospital in Porto St 
Giogio. I remember the tears that flowed as I left. 
I felt very sad. After all, they had in effect saved 
my life. 

After two days in hospital I was flown to 
Bari for further treatment. I was treated with 
quinine for about three weeks and recovered. 
When discharged, I was given a rail pass to 
Naples. I sat on a seat in Garibaldi Square to read 
my instructions again, when two American 
soldiers sat beside me. We were chatting. When I 
told them that I had escaped from a POW camp, 
they were amazed. They couldn’t do enough for 
me. I was taken back to their barracks and 
introduced to their Commanding Officer. I was 
treated like royalty. They even laid on a staff car 
to take me the rest of my journey to Resina. I left 
promising to return one day, but sadly, I never 
did. 

When I arrived at my new camp, I was 
completely kitted out with a new uniform. 
Including a greatcoat. I kicked my heels for two 
days only to be told that I wouldn’t get a boat to 
England for at least one month. I decided to ask 
the co for permission to visit the family at the 
farm but he refused point blank. I wasn’t happy. 
Deciding to go anyway, I jumped out of a side 



window to avoid the MP’s on the gate, and hitch 
hiked back to the farm. I stayed for two months 
missing my boat home. 

I left early November 1944. Making my 
way to Naples via Rome. Having hitched a lift to 
Rome, I stopped a car on the Rome to Naples 
road. It was the Military Police. I explained that I 
was going to Resina. Without any fuss, they 
made arrangements for me to stop at their camp 
overnight. They then took me back to Resina the 
next day. 

I arrived in quite a state. Gone was the 
newly issued uniform they had supplied me with 
last time I was here. All I had now was a dirty old 
pair of trousers, worn out shoes and shirt, and an 
old hat. I looked like a tramp. After telling them 
who I was they put me straight into the cells.  

Next morning after another refit, I was 
told that I was on a charge.... Desertion. This was 
obviously ridiculous. When I was marched before 
the CO. He asked me what I had to say. After 
explaining about my escapades in the desert, and 
how I managed to escape from the POW camp, 
he shook my hand and said that I deserved a 
holiday. He wished me luck. Nothing was ever 
mentioned about my clothes. 

There was a ship in Naples Harbour that 
was to take me home. I finally arrived in 
Liverpool via Gibraltar. It was November 1944. I 
was informed that my final destination was to be 
Amersham, Bucks’. I was elated. It was only four 
miles from my home. No sooner had I arrived, 



than I was on a bus to Watford. When I knocked 
on the door, after four years away from home, 
there wasn’t any reply. Of course they weren’t 
expecting me, they didn’t even know that I was 
in England. 

A neighbour informed me that they were 
all at a wedding for the day. It wasn’t far away so 
off I went. When the family saw me, everything 
stopped. What a reunion. Even my girlfriend 
Peggy was there. We were married on the 2nd 
December 1944. 

 



 
 

I was demobbed in Northampton in march 
1946. After serving my time in Germany. There 
are many that served their country and suffered 
more than I did. I was lucky. I at least, have lived 
to have, and enjoy my family. 
 

R. B. Watson. 
7906725 Royal Tank Corps. 

This story is dedicated to my Granddaughter, 
Mandy Reed. 

 



THE ESCAPE 
 
As a twenty-one year old soldier I was 

taken prisoner by the Germans in Belgium at 
18:00 hours on Sunday 26th May 1940 and taken 
to a camp at Dortmund from where after a few 
days, I escaped. 

After three days I was captured again and 
ended up with a lot of other prisoners in a cattle 
truck and transported by rail to Jorun in Poland. 

My camp was known as the ‘Balloon 
Hangar’ and we lived in tents. I escaped from this 
camp also, but again was captured after six days. 
So that was an improvement on my previous 
escape. 

I was then put into a Fort known as 
‘XXA’, where I made my third and successful 
escape on Saturday 17th August 1940. 

I made my way towards Warsaw having 
many scary moments on the way. Some time in 
October, I arrived at a place called Laski which is 
five or six miles from Warsaw and I may add, 
that all along my route I had been helped by 
many brave Polish people who would have been 
shot had they been caught. 

By the time I got to Laski, my socks had 
worn out and my heels were infected and my legs 
were very swollen and blue with red veins 
showing. I had a large lump in each groin. To 
Slither along, I had to put my hands in my trouser 
pockets and press the lumps. I felt so tired I 
didn’t care whether I was captured again. 



I came across a mansion type house with 
a wall around it with a large pair of iron gates. I 
rang the bell and a boy of about fourteen years of 
age came to me and said something in Polish 
which I didn’t understand. I used my two magic 
words ‘Angelski Soldat!’ (English soldier), and 
the boy went back to the house and appeared with 
a dark lady who spoke English. I told her my 
circumstances and she opened the gate and took 
me in to the kitchen where she let me have a 
wash and made me some cheese sandwiches and 
a glass of milk. 

 

 



The dark haired lady was obviously the 
mistress of the house and she brought a young 
lady who appeared to be a maid. She said 
something to her. The maid disappeared and then 
returned with a bowl of hot water and soap and 
then she took of my boots and stinking socks. 
She gently washed my feet till they were clean, 
and then bathed my heels in fresh water then 
bandaged them. 

In the mean time, the young lad had 
brought a two wheeled flat bottomed cart in the 
house and with the maids help, I got on the cart 
and the lad drove me to a local doctor where the 
maid gave him a letter from her mistress. 

I had to take my trousers off and after 
scanning me the doctor said in passable English 
that another forty-eight hours without attention 
and I would have had to have my legs amputated 
or die. The doctor gave me an injection in each 
buttock with a very large syringe. 

I was then transported on the cart to a 
convent where the maid gave the Mother 
Superior another letter. I was then taken by two 
nuns who bathed me, I was too ill to be 
embarrassed. 

After my bath I was put to bed in a small 
ward with four beds in it where I fell into a deep 
sleep. Whilst asleep, I dreamed that I came out of 
the ward in a white coat and looked down at 
myself on the bed. Then, I took a large saw and 
cut my legs off but there was no blood. I then 
threw the legs into a dustbin. 



When I awoke after two days, a nun was 
sat by my side bathing my fore head and taking 
my temperature. I think they were of the 
Franciscan Order as they wore brown habits. 

I was with them for three weeks and then 
they put me in touch with the Polish 
Underground movement who got me to Russia 
where I was taken to Hubyanka prison. 

I was released on the twenty fourth of 
June, two days after the German invasion of 
Russia. Afterwards I served at the British 
Embassy in Moscow until October 1941 when I 
was sent home for my own safety. 

I am not a Roman Catholic nor am I very 
religious but whenever I think of those brave 
nuns I think of them as ‘Gods Angels on Earth.’ 
 

S. Green. D.C.M.  
Gorton,  

Manchester. 
 



YOU WISH TO CHANGE WHAT? 
 
Early in 1945, when the war was nearly 

over, men who signed on for twelve years either 
before the war or when it had just started, were 
forever trying new dodges to work their ticket - 
like wetting their hammock, loss of memory and 
many more excuses. Some worked, some did not. 
Not that I am suggesting that the man in the 
following story was not genuine - God forbid. So 
please, read on and make your own mind up. 

It was a dull and rainy Monday morning 
in Wellesley when this man returned from a 
week-end leave in Bradford. He went straight to 
the Jaunty at 0800 hrs and asked him if he could 
join Commander's’Requestmen’ at 0900 hrs that 
day, whereby, at the appointed time, he was 
lining up on the quarterdeck with other 
‘Requestmen’. There were half a dozen went in 
before him but then he was called in, saluted the 
Commander and the Jaunty read out his request. 

The commander, had obviously been 
giving the Gin a hammering the night before and 
the expression on his face told everyone, that he 
just wanted to get ’Requestmen’ over and done 
with, until the Jaunty read out the request, which 
was as follows: Leading Tel' Smith, requests to 
change his religion from.... C of E to Jehovas 
Witness. 

The Commander who had been sitting 
with his head down over the table, slowly lifted 
his head to catch sight of the man in front of him. 



His face was not a pretty sight and the Jaunty 
who felt very uneasy was hopping about from 
one foot to the other wondering what the 
Commander was going to reply. At last he spoke 
and said "Why do you want to change your 
religion?" To which our man answered that 
having met some of these people in Bradford 
while on leave, he had become very interested in 
their way of thinking. Without further ado the 
Commander said "Request granted" Our man 
turned and walked away and was promptly pulled 
back by the Jaunty who said. "Salute the 
Commander, then double away." 

Our man stood in front of the Commander 
and said, "Thou shalt not bow down to any 
Craven Image’ then walked out. The Jaunty and 
the RPO, dragged him back inside whilst others 
were trying to get the Commander down from the 
deckhead. Then our friend took off his cap tally, 
his collar and silk stating to the assembled 
company. Thou shalt not wear and false 
adornments. Everyone was speechless, until the 
Commander bellowed, "Cancel ‘Requestmen’ 
and take this rating to the cells." 

The Jaunty and the Regulating Staff were 
shaking like jellies having never come across, or 
even heard of a situation like this. So, in the 
following weeks it was decided that it was a 
Court Martial offence. In the meantime our friend 
was confined to Wellesly. He was not in the cells, 
as there were none, but he had to report to the 
office several times a day. Several evenings a 



week, he would walk around the mess deck with 
several tracts about his new religion and try to 
interest any of us in them. I think the nearest he 
got to a convert was Taffy Jones, (does anyone 
know of Him?), but the smell of rum was so great 
that he picked up his tracts and walked to seek 
greener pastures. 

Come the day of the Court Martial at 
HMS President, he was dismissed from the Navy 
- services no longer required. He was brought 
back to Wellesley where Lower Deck was 
mustered on the Parade Ground and the findings 
of the Court Martial were read out. 'Smith' who 
was present at the reading was then lead away.  

We were told to stand fast as Captain 
Dickson wanted a word. These I still remember 
so clearly to this day. He said,  

 
"If anyone else here puts in a request to 

change his religion, I will personally see to it that 
he has his sex changed at the same time. Parade 
Dismiss!" 

 
 As you can imagine, this case was a topic 

of conversation world wide throughout the ships 
and boats of the fleet. 

So my friends, next time you answer the 
door at home and find a Jehova's Witness on the 
doorstep, ask him if he ever served in DEMS, 
then we shall all find out the truth. 
 

A Crossley. Allenton, Derbyshire. 



 
THE PROMISE 

 
The memory haunts me. The memory of a 

promise made to a pretty girl fifty years ago. A 
promise never fulfilled. 

It was in the town of Herakleion, on 
Crete. The month was May 1941. The German 
paratroopers had landed ten days ago and after 
hard and bitter fighting, had been driven from the 
town. My battalion of infantry were now holding 
the west end of the town with positions along the 
ancient Venetian wall. My own company the end 
nearest the sea. There was still German activity 
away to our front as the occasional sticks of 
parachutes denoted. Whether these were 
reinforcements or supplies, was too far away to 
ascertain. The area immediately to our front was 
still an unoccupied zone, except for the dead 
German, Greek and British we couldn’t bury. 

I was a company runner, my job was to 
take messages from the Company HQ to platoons 
and to the Battalion HQ a mile to the rear in some 
badly damaged houses in the town centre. I had 
made the trip a number of times when messages 
too important to trust to our single telephone 
wire.  

Early one afternoon “Dusty Rhodes” 
came to me and said the line was out again and I 
had to go with him. There was still plenty of air 
activity with ME110’s patrolling almost 
continually. Diving and strafing anything that 



moved or gave them suspicions. Dusty followed 
the wire through the debris scattered streets and I 
kept a wary eye on the sky. 

Almost half way to HQ stood a 
reasonably large building on the left side of the 
road. I had noticed particularly because of the 
large red cross painted on the roof. One gable had 
been damaged by a bomb and like the rest of the 
buildings seemed completely lifeless. Dusty and I 
had got about twenty yards past when I heard a 
girls voice calling. “Soldier, soldier.” A girl stood 
on top the stairs of the hospital, I told dusty that I 
would see what she wanted and went back. 

She was dressed in a brown skirt and 
white blouse. She was very pale and pretty. She 
spoke in broken English but was easily 
understood. “ German soldiers inside.” She told 
us. “And the doctor and his wife German. When 
planes come they go out back and signal with 
sheets.” I said to Dusty.” Come on and we will 
see what’s going on.” He insisted that he had to 
go on and repair the wire. 

I followed the girl into the little vestibule 
and then a rather stout woman dressed in a nurses 
uniform arrived. She rattled off some Greek to 
the girl a then took her arm and tried to pull her 
through the facing door. The girl resisted and a 
little struggle took place, and then another 
woman appeared. She was smartly dressed and 
looked to be in her thirties, she joined in the 
argument, she then turned to me and tried to pull 
my rifle from my shoulder.  



I was not having any of that and told her 
forcibly. She gave up and flounced through the 
door and disappeared. The girl and I followed, 
but the nurse stayed where she was. 

Through the inner door was a small 
hospital ward with six or eight beds down either 
side. It was immaculate. A highly polished 
wooden floor which made my army boots sound 
like the crack of doom. The beds had snowy 
white sheets and light blue counterpanes. In each 
bed was a man. Some were lying quite still, with 
only the movements of their eyes as they 
followed me down the ward. A few were asleep, 
or pretended to be. One or two were bandaged. 
One blonde-haired lad was sitting up and he 
spoke as we drew level with his cot. “Hello 
Tommy, it will not be long now before we take 
all the island,” he said. “You’ve no hope of that” 
I answered. He just gave a knowing grin. 

At the end of the ward was another door 
which the girl opened. She beckoned me in, we 
went down a short flight of steps. It was like 
descending in to a sewer. The stench made me 
gag. A six feet wide corridor ran the length of the 
split level building, some thirty feet. Every 
available foot was taken up by people, men 
women children. Some were lying on blankets 
others were sitting against the wall. Some women 
were nursing children but all were deadly quiet. 
An old man gave me a feeble smile and a child 
whimpered as it’s mother clutched it to her. 



There where doors on either side, all open 
to show tiny rooms all crammed with figures, 
some had dirty bandages on their heads and 
limbs. In others were bare cots with two or three 
people lying on top. The whole place was badly 
lit and it was difficult not to stumble over the 
bodies. 

The girl went to the end of the passage 
where an open door led to a small enclosed 
courtyard. Along one wall was a mountain of 
filth and rubbish. Empty tins, filthy rags and 
blood stained bandages. Lying on the heap was a 
man dressed in British Battle Dress. I ran across 
to him and the girl called out. “Italiano prisoner 
“I knew there were some prisoners on the island 
but since the early days when I saw them being 
brought ashore and then herded in ragged 
columns away from the docks, I had not seen 
any. The man was dead, and not too recently 
either. 

Going back up the stairs the girl halted. 
“You bring British?” She asked. I was choked 
and could barely speak “Have no soldiers seen 
this?” She looked at me and said. “Nobody 
come.” 

I stamped my feet down hard as I went 
back down the ward. If any of the Jerries were 
actually sleeping , I wanted them awake and 
aware of me. She came to the outside door with 
me and once again I promised that I would see 
that the army knew what was going on. As I 



walked up the road I turned and waved, she 
waved back and went indoors. 

Battalion H.Q., when I reached there, 
showed more activity than I had ever seen before. 
It was now a hive of activity with men rushing 
about everywhere. In the corner, two had started 
a fire and were feeding it from stacks of paper. 
My Company Sergeant Major had a little den 
where he conducted the never ending paper work 
of returns and orders. He was sitting at the table 
and I poked my head around the door “ Where 
the hell have you been ?” He greeted me. I never 
gave a thought as to how he knew I was coming 
to H.Q. 

“Sir” I said. “Do you know there’s a 
hospital full of Jerries just down the road and 
there are no guards ?”  

“I don’t know and what’s more I don’t 
bloody care.” he said, “We’re pulling out and 
nobody has time to bother about Jerries now”. 
For a moment I thought he meant we were 
moving positions but then he gave me a written 
message. “Get straight down to the Company and 
give this to the second in charge and for God’s 
sake don’t lose it or let anyone see it.” 

I took the message and scooted, not 
pausing until I was well clear of H.Q. When I 
read it I felt sick. It was a order for all Officers to 
report to Battalion H.Q. We were evacuating the 
island that very night. I could hardly believe it, 
we had soundly thrashed the Germans, kept 
possession of the airfields and although we were 



short of food, supplies and ammunition we 
seemed set to stay on the island.  

The little news that filtered through from 
the other end of the island was too good. The 
New Zealanders and Aussies were having 
difficulties but that’s all we rank and file knew 
about the situation. I hurried back down the road 
passing the hospital which once more seemed 
dead and deserted. 

That night we left for other countries and 
other campaigns. Over the years I have wondered 
about the girl. Did she get punished for bringing 
in a British Soldier ? What became of her? Did 
she survive the war ? What did she think of the 
promise I made and broke ? 

How it came about that someone ran a 
hospital for German wounded in the middle of 
British positions unknown to anybody but the 
few people inside is a mystery I will never solve.  
 

John Wyatt. 
Bradford. 

West Yorkshire. 
 



THE SUN IS SETTING 
 
At last we were on our way. The previous 

night we had lain an a beach on the Indian coast 
waiting to board the Royal Navy ships for our 
first combined operations. Now, we were sitting 
below decks approaching Ramree Island, which 
had been held by the Japs since the early part of 
the war. As we neared the island, the sound of 
planes and guns grew louder. We all seemed to 
stiffen up, but the guts were still there because 
the grins were still on their faces. I suppose a bit 
forced, just as mine was.  

We belonged to the 36th L.A.A. 
Regiment and our lot was, A Troop of the 97th 
Battery, and we had been in and out of Burma for 
the last two years. One of our officers must have 
noticed the tension because he disappeared up the 
ladder. After a few minutes, he returned and told 
us to split our group in half and then for one half 
to go up to the upper deck for some fresh air.  

I thought then that it wasn’t the state of 
the air he was worried about. It was more our 
nerves. However, the fresh air did the trick. We 
all felt a great deal better for it.  

As we got our first look at the island, I 
wondered what was in store for me. Fighter 
Bombers were diving over the island bombing 
and machine gunning. Two destroyers were 
bombarding the beaches with shells. Further 
inland, one solitary gun was replying to the fire 
of the destroyers. It was a cat and mouse game 



between them. As the shells from shore dropped 
near the ships. The ships moved further out, and 
as the Japs got the range again, they moved 
further in. 

Suddenly we were ordered below decks, 
and I thought to myself. This is it. Then, the 
officer’s voice on the Tannoy system told us to 
get ready. As I gulped the air down, and it 
seemed I couldn’t get enough of it, I started to fix 
my gear on. I couldn’t manage it so I helped one 
of my mates on with his, and he, with mine. 

An officer’s voice spoke again, telling us 
what was going to happen. Actually, we had 
already been briefed for the job, but he said he 
would let us know how the landings were going. 
I will never forget his voice as we sat there; it 
was cool. Cooler than that of a commentator at a 
race meeting. 

The Lincolns and Green Howards were 
making the first landings if my memory serves 
me right, and my mob was to follow in as second 
line infantry, to hold the beach until our guns, the 
Bofors, came ashore. 

The officer began to describe the 
landings, saying. The Lincolns are nearing the 
beach, and now they are scrambling ashore and 
every man is still on his feet. I took a deep breath 
and exclaimed, The Lincolns are over the first 
barrier and every man is still on his feet. Now 
they are spreading out in and moving forward. I 
don’t know how it happened, but all the lads 
around me gave quiet hurrahs at the same time. 



Then suddenly. What we had been 
waiting for happened. Over the Tannoy came the 
shout. Up on deck A. Troop. The next minute, we 
were climbing down the nets into the assault craft 
and making our way to the shore. There were six 
craft in line, and ours was first. As our craft 
approached the island, the petty officer in charge 
was looking back, and noticed a naval officer 
sending a message in semaphore, as he couldn’t 
read it, he asked the AB on the wheel if he could 
read it for him. 

“OK P.O.”, he answered, “I’ll have to 
turn the boat about so that I can see.”  

“OK.” said the P.O. “Come about then, 
and afterwards, fall back in line behind the 
second boat.”  

While this was happening my job was to 
watch the skies for Jap planes. When the message 
was read, the craft turned and fell back into line, 
heading once again, towards the shore. 
Apparently, the message was only a joke from 
one of the officers on board, to our own officer. 
They had become friendly. His reply was a smile, 
and a V sign directed back towards the ship. 

At the same time, a corvette was 
approaching, she was to cross the bows of the 
first assault craft, which actually should have 
been us. The next second, there was a bright flash 
and a terrific roar. Turning my head, all I could 
see was the bows of the corvette sinking back 
under the water. There was no sign of the assault 
craft. Everything had disappeared, including the 



men. All I could think of, was that if it wasn’t for 
that signal from the ship, then it would have been 
us. It was no consolation to the men who 
perished. 

Nobody spoke as we sailed over the spot 
where the craft had disappeared. We looked 
hopefully into the water for somebody to rescue. 
There was no sign of life at all, and we weren’t 
allowed to stop. 

We hit the beach, waded ashore and took 
cover behind a five feet high mud wall. Stretched 
out along the wall was a mixture of Frontier 
Force, Rifles, and Gurkhas. The British troops 
were ready to hold the beach if the Japs counter 
attacked.  

As we sat there, a Scottish sergeant 
belonging to one of our guns came across to give 
us a pep talk. He stood there telling us what we 
were going to do to the little so and so’s. He kept 
chasing away flies and mosquitoes from his neck. 
He was about six feet in height, and he towered 
over the wall we were sheltering behind. I sat 
beside two of my pals, Eddie Cahill from 
Newcastle, my home town, and an Irish lad by 
the name of Mickey. We were on the beer 
together whenever there was any. We’d been 
together since 1941 and it was now April or May 
of 1945. 

The sergeant kept talking and cursing the 
flies and mosquitoes. A Gurkha came across, 
bent over, and tapped our sergeant on the back 
saying. Sahb. Nay mosquito. Japany wallah 



Bonduk. He then pointed his finger across the 
area where the Jap was. Well, the sergeant just 
fell flat and looked at us. We burst out laughing, 
as we couldn’t help it. What he thought was flies 
and like , was a Jap sniper. After a few minutes, 
he crawled away. I’m sure he went to change his 
pants. 

Further along, I noticed a Gurkha, 
Havilda, speaking to a couple of his men, who 
promptly drew their kukris, put them in their 
mouths, and crawled off. One of our lads 
murmured, Bye, bye Jap. Sure enough , about 
one hour later, they crawled back, grinned at us, 
and drew their fingers over their throats. 

Some of the Japs had buried themselves 
in small trenches, covered over by the Japs, and 
left there. Some of the Lincolns must have 
actually walked over them as they advanced 
forward. When the Lincolns were well forward, 
the Japs lifted their heads and began sniping at 
us. 

Later on in the afternoon, we heard a faint 
drone in the sky. One of our lads pointed to an 
aeroplane about 20.000 - 30.000 feet up. We 
couldn’t identify it until we heard the faint noise 
of machine guns. Above the plane was a smaller 
one, and they were having a go at it until a black 
object fell suddenly from the larger plane. The 
plane itself began falling, going around and 
around like a falling leaf. We then saw the 
markings, it was a Jap plane, and over it a 
Spitfire did a victory roll. At once, the launch 



went out before the plane ever hit the water and 
brought the Jap pilot ashore. He was still alive, 
but died later. The black object we had seen 
falling away was the engine, which had broken 
away from the plane after the Spitty had blasted 
it. 

Eventually, our guns came ashore. 
Bofors, 25 pounders and the vehicles. We took 
over our gun to revert to our normal role of anti-
aircraft, and our bofors were fully mobile as the 
gun was built onto the chassis of a truck and did 
not have to be towed. Its speed was reckoned to 
be about 40 mph. and I know that on one 
occasion it went faster than that on the Burmese 
mainland. 

We were giver orders, and off we went, 
following a small narrow track hemmed on by 
trees. The track was about as wide as the span or 
width of our wheels and we were watching every 
bush, ready to shoot if necessary. To the right of 
the track we saw a Jap bunker. There was only 
one thing to do. Reconnoitre, and so we did. We 
found that it was empty but we didn’t go in as the 
Japs were too handy with booby traps. Travelling 
a bit further. we selected our gun site and settled 
in for the night. 

The following morning, more shocks 
were in store for us . As we were standing at 
dawn, with the light just breaking through, our 
eyes were glued on every tree and bush to our 
right. At the about three hundred yards away was 
the sea. Suddenly, one of our lads, by the name of 



Barfoot said. What’s that down by the water’s 
edge? We all crouched as we looked. It could 
have been logs, or it may have been Japs who had 
come ashore during the darkness. After a while, 
our sergeant. who had been a gunner with us said 
Let’s have a dekho. We found what was left of 
the lads who had been blown up in front of us the 
previous day.  

After reporting our findings to HQ we 
took their belongings from them, paybooks etc, 
including any personal ones. One of them had a 
letter from his mother, asking why he wasn’t 
being as he was six months overdue on his expat. 
I thought then that this poor fellow wouldn’t be 
going home, and somehow, I thought Blighty is a 
long way away, If I ever reached it. 

Later that morning, as we sat around the 
gunpit scrounging dog-ends off each other, 
several blokes came through the bushes toward 
us. We noticed they were Sappers looking for any 
traps the Japs had left behind. The corporal in 
charge came across and asked us how we had 
gotten here. Straight along the track and turned 
off into the bushes across here, I replied. He 
asked, Let’s have a look? So two or three of us 
went back with them to the same pathway we had 
travelled on the previous night. The NCO. asked. 
Did you pass this spot? We told him we had, so 
he took us about two or three yards off the track 
and pulled us to one side. We were speechless, as 
standing on its base was a 500lb bomb. That, said 
the corporal, was wired up with the detonator 



right in the middle of the road. How did you miss 
setting it off? We all realised then that it was only 
because we were riding on the bun that we had 
been saved. If that pathway had been wider, one 
of our wheels would have set off that detonator. 

After that things became quieter. The Japs 
were driven to the north of the island. Every 
night, they tried to escape by small boats to the 
mainland. But the Royal Navy’s patrol boats 
generally caught them. If they made a fight of it, 
it was their bad luck. 

At night time as we lay in our slit 
trenches, we could hear the Japs shouting, 
yelling, and screaming. We thought they were 
trying to wear our nerves our in readiness for an 
attack on our lines which had them cut off from 
the rest of the island. 

It was later when we got to the north of 
the island that we came across the remains of 
Japs who had been attacked by crocodiles who 
had came out of the swamps and dragged them in 
terror screaming back into the darkness of the 
swamps. That was the screaming we had heard. 

The days rolled by, and the 25pounder 
crews were brought back to the centre of the 
island to dig in and rest. Our job was to guard 
them from any Jap planes. These generally came 
over at night in ones and twos. A Jap came across 
flying very low, trying his usual tricks. An idea 
must have struck him. It was a moonlit night, and 
he probably saw the native village in our area. 
The so and so attacked it, and sent it up in flames. 



It lit up the surrounding area, and we could see 
him plain as daylight repeatedly diving in low. 
We decided to have a bash because he was flying 
low over the 25 pounders. Waiting until he 
passed our crossing point, we let him have it. We 
missed, but he turned and made the same run. 
Crossing our fingers, we  

waited until he was between us and the 
moon, and we had another go at it. I was behind 
Jack, our gunner driver, who was in No. 2 seat, 
directing his aim by observing the tracer. The 
sergeant was behind in No.3, directing him. 

It seemed he was going out of range, but 
during our second last round, the burst got his 
tail. A great glow of fire spread around him, and 
he started diving toward the sea, speedily 
disappearing out of sight behind the trees. It was 
pats on the back for each other and big grins all 
around. 

The next day, we were credited with the 
plane from our headquarters and given an official 
pat on the back. Later that night, some NCO’s 
and gunners from the 25 pounders came across 
and asked us if it was our gun which had shot 
down the Jap. We told them it was, and out came 
a bottle of rum and a few bottles of beet. We had 
our own ration of beer, and what a night we had.  

About 0200 hrs that night, the others 
decided it was time they want back, so our cook, 
Bill, said he would show them the way. He didn’t 
come back until about 0900 hrs the next morning. 
It appeared he had fallen down in an animal trap 



set by the natives. So the other fellows took him 
back to their camp for the night. After that when 
we asked him to show us the way, we had to 
duck quickly. 

As time went bye we got the usual 
football matches going. Until the day a call came 
from the Air Force for supply dropping to the 
West Africans on the mainland, I thought I might 
as well have a go, so about twenty of us each day 
went up into the Dakotas until the Africans were 
supplied. 

Finally, the day we had been waiting for 
came. We were going back to India. After that, 
we didn’t know the war wasn’t over yet. I think it 
was either June or July of 1945 when we boarded 
the transports which were to take us off the 
island. As I stood by the rails alongside my pals, 
watching the island receding in the distance, I 
thought, That’s that. What now?  
 

R.L. Conroy.  
Gateshead,  

Tyne & Wear. 
 



A WOODEN STORY 
(6th June 1943) 

 
We were in the desert at a place known as 

Knightsbridge. Nothing there but sand; merely a 
name on a military map. I was an N.C.O. in a 
signal section attached to a regiment of artillery, 
(25 Pounders). The day before, we had been told 
to dig in. This was the start of Rommel’s big 
push that lead to Alamein. 

On the 5th June, tanks of the 7th 
Armoured had gone in to attack Rommel but they 
were outnumbered and forced back through our 
lines. We were ordered to hold the enemy up as 
long as possible and by the morning of the 6th we 
were completely surrounded. The enemy tanks 
fired into us from all angles and by late 
afternoon, all our vehicles and guns had been hit. 

The order was given to destroy everything 
which may be of use to the enemy. I had burnt 
the code books and I was busily destroying the 
wireless set with a pickaxe head when I heard a 
voice behind me. I didn’t understand what he was 
saying, but when I looked around and saw the 
German with his machine gun pointed at my 
back, I knew exactly what he meant. The set was 
already destroyed so I stood up and joined the 
growing column of P.O.W.’s. 

We set off on our long march with tanks 
on either side as escort. For three days we had 
neither food nor drink as the enemy had only 
enough for their own men. On the second day we 



were machine gunned by our own fighter planes. 
A squadron with sharks painted on their fuselage. 
They probably thought that we were German 
Infantry pulling out for a rest as we were escorted 
by tanks. Some men tried to take cover at the side 
of the tanks. Some were wounded as it was the 
tanks that the planes were attacking. I made a 
dash to the side, out of the line of fire and then 
realised afterwards that I might have been shot by 
the tank gunners had they thought that I was 
making a break for it. The pilots soon saw that 
we were POW’s, and after waggling their wings, 
flew off. 

On the third day some men who had 
collected discarded tins drank their own urine. 
Our tongues were dry and swollen. Later we 
came upon an Italian camp. Outside one of the 
tents there was a water barrel. One of our men 
held out a small tomato tin and indicated to a 
soldier standing near the barrel, that he would 
like some water. The Italian filled the can but 
before releasing it, he indicated that he wanted 
the ring he saw on the man’s finger. A German 
soldier who had been with us throughout our 
hardship saw this and taking the can off the 
Italian, gave it to the POW at the same time 
slapping his open hand across the Italian’s face. 
As you see, there were good and bad on both 
sides. 

I recall a story that some Australians had 
captured a number of Italians. After previously 
hearing of their own men being ill treated by their 



captors. The ‘Japs’ were made to sit within the 
confines of a circle of stones as there was no 
internment camp close by. They were warned 
that if any of them stepped out of the circle they 
would be shot immediately. During the night the 
Australians shot the lot of them and moved the 
stones. 

Eventually, we arrived at a holding camp, 
where we received food and drink. Some of the 
men were desperate for a cigarette. Here, the 
‘Mother of Invention’ came into operation as 
blotting paper was used for cigarette paper and 
coffee beans were used for tobacco. As you can 
imagine, a lot of men were taken ill. 

Came the day of embarkation to Italy. We 
were shipped out on an old coal boat and were 
cramped up in the hold. There were one of two 
panics over air raid alarms and eventually, we 
arrived at Naples. It was evening. The Italians did 
not want us to disembark until daylight so that 
they could parade their captives in front of the 
locals. (Even though we were not captured by 
them.) We were told to bed down for the night 
only to be disturbed again as they brought strong 
lights to continually shine down into the hold. 
This made it impossible for us to sleep. 

We all kept shouting until finally they 
took away the lights. As we settled down, I felt 
cold clammy feet over my face. It was a rat. 
Everybody was shouting again. “Rats! Rats!” 
They were everywhere. People were trampling 
over each other to get away from them in the 



dark. We shouted to fetch back the lights but we 
were ignored. The Italians took no notice of our 
cries and just let us suffer. 

The following morning we were marched 
through the streets of Naples as we were spit 
upon by the crowds. We shouted to them. “We’ll 
be back for you one day.” And we were. 

After a short term in a camp at Capus, we 
eventually arrived at a camp built to house a few 
thousand prisoners; Masserata. This camp had a 
P.O.W.’s magazine issued in England to let our 
relatives know just how well we were being 
treated. It stated that on the camp there were two 
swimming pools. A true statement sure enough, 
but there was never any water in them at any 
time. Just empty tins. 

Our daily ration of food was a cup of 
‘look alike’ coffee that was very hot and 
welcome; to those who needed a shave that is, a 
piece of bread about as large as a hot cross bun, a 
piece of cheese two fingers wide and a half inch 
thick and in late afternoon, something they called 
soup. A large bin - like the old type dustbin - was 
filled with water and a few cabbages were 
chopped and thrown in, (I can never remember 
any meat or carrots being added). The Red Cross 
parcels were very welcome. We were allowed 
one parcel a week when available. Many times 
they were not. 

During a time when they were regular, 
auctions were set up where you could swap items 
from your parcel that you didn’t like, for 



something you did. Of course this activity 
brought out the rats amongst us. One man offered 
a tin of bacon for a Yorkshire pudding mixture. 
The swap was made but when the packet was 
opened, the Yorkshire pudding mix had been 
replaced with sand.  

Sometimes there was tea in the parcels. 
Some of the more inventive of us, made cookers 
or stoves by cutting tins up to make the fan and 
sides of a stove. The two lids pressed together to 
make a pulley. Connecting the pulley to the fan 
created enough draft to blow the wood into a 
fierce flame. However, there was only one 
problem with this. Shortage of wood. As the beds 
were made of wood, four uprights and three lots 
of slats to make three beds, it was easy to guess 
where it was to come from. It was soon 
discovered that one or two slats could easily be 
removed still allowing the body to be supported 
quite comfortably. It was commonplace to see a 
bed sagging due to the removal of too many slats. 

When wood once again became a 
problem, we had to look elsewhere. But where? 
We then realised that the sentries used a wooden 
hut to stand in whilst they were on duty and 
guess what? Yes! It was made of wood. 

That night, as the guard in the inner 
compound was approaching the end of his beat, 
six of us nipped out and nicked his hut and 
hurriedly carried it back to out dorm. I still regret 
not seeing the sentry’s face when he returned to 
find his hut missing. Or better still, when he 



reported the same to the Guard Commander. It 
wasn’t long before he along with a number of 
guards came looking for their hut. 

By this time though, it had been whittled 
down as the men attacked it like ants with home 
made knives and chisels storing the pieces under 
beds and in empty red cross boxes. As they were 
looking for a hut, it was quite easy to fool them. 
In the camp there was about five thousand 
prisoners and the next day we were all deducted 
one lire from our measly biscuit money. 

I remember two men attempting a daring 
escape. The perimeter of the camp was a high 
stone wall with machine gun posts at intervals. 
Within this there was a high wire fence which 
had armed sentries at the corners. Then there was 
a trip wire about ten inches high over which we 
were not permitted to step. One P.O.W. did so 
once whilst playing football; he was only trying 
to retrieve the ball when the sentry shot him, 
even though it was obvious that he was not 
attempting to escape. It was daylight.  

Getting back to the escape, the two men 
had taken slats of wood that were used to support 
the mattresses, from a number of beds and carved 
them to the shape of rifles. They were then 
blackened with dirt of ashes and then they 
fashioned ammo pouches from cardboard and 
darkened these also. They were issued with 
Italian uniforms that had a red band sewn onto 
the arm. When these were removed they left the 
arms a bit short but as their arms were bent 



holding the rifles, it could not be noticed. At 
dusk, as the guard changed within the compound, 
they fell in behind them and marched out of the 
camp. 

Unfortunately, they were all caught the 
following day because they didn’t have any 
passes. The Camp Commandant didn’t punish 
them but he gave his guards the punishment 
instead. 

Eventually, we were all separated and 
despatched to working camps. I was with fifty 
others at a camp called Garbagna near Novara, in 
the North of Italy. I, with another N.C.O., was 
appointed joint camp leaders and we were called 
upon every day to receive the orders for the men.  

We were sent out every day to work on 
the farms in groups of ten. We had two Italians 
guards who always had fixed bayonets. Having a 
working knowledge of Italian, I passed on the 
orders from the farmers to the men. We worked 
for two farmers. One was called Tozi and the 
other was called Primo Saccho. 

We worked alongside old men but the 
farmers thought that we were working too slow. 
He made us work with the women thinking that 
we would be shamed into working faster. He was 
wrong. The women slowed down instead. When 
we asked for food from the farmers we were 
refused as they said, they weren’t allowed to feed 
us. 

One day, Tozi asked me why we all 
worked better for Saccho. I replied it was because 



he gave us fruit and milk. From that day on he 
used to give us wine or eggs. Of course he had to 
give the guards something also. The next day we 
let slip to Saccho that Tozi was feeding us and of 
course he then gave us something. 

One day, I was asked by one of the men if 
it could be arranged for him to see a dentist. I 
saw the officer in charge who said that he would 
make the arrangements. Sure enough, a couple of 
days later, a civilian accompanied by four 
soldiers came up to me and said. “All those 
wishing to see the dentist could form a queue.” 
Altogether there were eight men. The first in the 
queue needed an extraction. As he sat in the 
chair, two soldiers held his head and neck and the 
other two held his legs. The dentist (amongst a 
lot of bubbling and gurgling) then extracted the 
tooth. He then shouted for the next patient but 
there was no longer a queue. The lack of any 
anaesthetic seemed to have cured them 
immediately. 

Came the day the Germans moved into 
the area, we made a break for it, hiding in 
cornfields as they fired into them to try and flush 
us out. We laid low and they finally moved on. 
We hid at a farm we knew hoping to stay until 
our own troops arrived on the scene.  

After a few days, an Italian officer arrived 
who wanted to speak to me. He wanted us to go 
with him to defend Novarra against the Germans. 
I refused. At this point he pulled out his gun and 
pressed it into my stomach telling me that I and 



my men would be going, whether we liked it or 
not. 

I thought to myself: Here was a man 
dressed in full Italian uniform, walking along 
roads constantly patrolled by German troops and 
who was unafraid of being picked up by them. 
He must be a Fascist hoping to gain praise from 
the Germans by handing us over. He repeatedly 
tried to make me agree to go with him, and the 
lads, sensing something was wrong, gathered 
around us. On noticing them he decided to back 
down. I realised how close I came to being shot. 
Not willing to risk the chance of him coming 
back with reinforcements, I decided to move on.  

We all voted that Tozi’s farm was about 
the best place to hide as it was on the far side of 
the village. Tozi agreed to let us stop as long as 
we slept in an old water mill on an area well 
away from the farmhouse. We promised to work 
the farm in exchange for food until our troops 
arrived from the north. 

It all went well until one morning, about 
0300 hrs, I heard a noise coming from below us 
in the bottom part of the mill. It was a creaking 
noise. Someone was working the small hand-
pump and I didn’t recognise their voices. I lay for 
a while, (about half a second) and decided to 
wake Bill.  

He was six feet plus with a fist like the 
back of a pig. He was hard to wake but as he did 
he shouted out loud. I explained what was going 
on and he asked as to whether he should wake the 



rest of the men. I told him that if they made as 
much noise as he did, that we would all buy it. I 
picked up the only weapon we had; an old sickle. 
Bill stood on the other side of the door ready to 
put the first man through it, into orbit. We stood 
there in the dark whilst the others snored 
blissfully on and the pump handle went creak-
creak. You can imagine how we felt, as we were 
hunted men. The noise long since gone, we 
remained there until daybreak. 

When the farmer entered the room, he 
went white when he saw me armed with the 
sickle and this great big fist on the other side of 
the door. He explained to us just what had 
happened during the night. It was only two men 
from the village who had been out catching frogs 
and they were washing them under the pump. 

 

 
The working party at Garbagna  

(Novara) northern Italy. 



 
 
One day we were working amongst the 

maize when Tozi came up to me and told me that 
the next farm down the road had some German 
motorcyclists approach three men and say, 
“You’re English, you’re English, you’re English” 
Bang! Bang! Bang! They didn’t ask, they just 
fired. We believed it was because the patrol had 
noticed that they were wearing shoes. We 
couldn’t walk in our bare feet like the Italians 
did. We now decided that this incident was a bit 
too close for comfort. The time had come to 
move on again. 

It was decided that we would travel by 
road to the Alps but Tozi said that he had heard 
that men were now trying to escape on the 
railroad. We opted for his idea. His son told us 
that he knew a conductor on the train and that he 
could get us some tickets. Garbagna was a small 
station which meant we would have to change at 
the mainline station of Novarra. Tozi’s son 
agreed to come with us that far.  

The train at Novarra was a corridor train 
and all the seats were occupied. The lads stood in 
the corridor whilst I waited on the platform as 
Tozi’s son informed the conductor that we were 
on board. When I met him, he told me that the 
Germans  

were doing spot checks but he would do 
his best to warn us if anything was to happen. It 
was up to us then to make good our escape. He 



advised me to stay on the platform until the train 
was ready to leave. 

As I was waiting, two German Officers 
covered in braid and badges approached me. I felt 
as if I had a big sign above me saying P.O.W. I 
was dreading them asking me any questions and I 
felt such relief when I finally joined the others on 
the train. 

I had not been on the train long when an 
Italian walked up to me and said. “You’re 
English aren’t you?” I replied in my best Italian 
(which was rotten) “No stupido no!” “Si si” he 
insisted. This carried on until ‘Bill of the big fist’ 
got on the other side of him. With the Italian 
nicely placed opposite an open window, I 
admitted it. He told me not to worry. He had lots 
of friends in England before the war. He used to 
fly a plane from Rome to Croydon. He asked 
where we were bound for. “Domodossola” I said. 
“On the frontier” 

He warned us that the Germans were 
searching all passengers at Domodossola and that 
it would be safer to get off at the station before. 
Villa Dossolar was where he was getting off and 
we would be safer if we followed him. I told the 
lads and suggested that they keep in twos or 
threes so as not to attract too much attention. 

Once out of the station, we could see the 
Alps in the distance. The Italian led us away from 
the town eventually coming to a few houses. He 
said that he lived there. I told the lads to keep on 
going until they came to a track or something that 



seemed a good starting point for our attempt to 
cross over. They were to wait until I arrived with 
any helpful information regarding our crossing.  

I went into the house with him. He said 
that he would try and get a guide to take us over 
the mountains. He then told me to join the others 
and wait half an hour by the side of the road and 
the guide would join us there. 

 

 
 
 
We waited for two hours and we were 

becoming a little anxious. Was this a trap? 
Perhaps he was a Fascist trying to claim money 
for handing us over. Taking no chances, we 
headed off in the direction of the Alps. After all. 



They were easy to spot. We climbed higher and 
higher until we found a hut where we settled in 
for the night. There was plenty of water and 
mushrooms around. 

We set off again next morning and 
midday saw us, looking down into a valley, 
overlooking a village. Some of the men wanted to 
go down and buy some vino with the liras that 
old Tozi had given us, but I insisted that by the 
time they climbed down to the village, bought the 
vino and then climbed back up again, they would 
be totally knackered. Most of them agreed and 
we carried on. 

Ahead of us we saw some houses and as 
we approached, some small children came 
towards us. Then they dashed back to the houses 
to inform the elders that we were escaped 
P.O.W.’s. Soon afterwards, the headman came to 
us bringing a large cheese, as big as a dustbin lid 
and about two inches thick. We soon demolished 
it. When we told him that we were bound for 
Switzerland, he suggested that we stay the night 
in the village as it was getting late. We decided to 
stay and continue in the morning. 

He showed us to a small church which 
had a room at the back just large enough for us 
all. It was half full of hay, no doubt their winter 
fodder. We were soon asleep only to be woken 
again early in the morning by a banging on the 
door. I opened it and saw the headman stood 
there holding a hurricane lantern. He seemed 
alarmed as he explained the reason for his early 



visit. Some men from his village had been 
drinking down in the little village that we had 
past earlier that day. They had overheard some of 
the locals saying that they were going to come up 
here and capture the escaped P.O.W.’s to hand 
over to the Fascists.  

We left the church in the pitch black of 
the night, holding hands in the more dangerous 
places. Even so, by the time daylight finally 
arrived, we had lost one man. 

We reached the top of the mountain to 
find a stone, rather like a gravestone with the 
words, Italia on one side and Swizzera (or 
something like that) written on the other side. 
Just then, a shot was fired. We scattered thinking, 
how flaming cheeky, firing at us whilst we were 
on the Swiss side of the mountains. Myself and a 
man by the name of McNaughton, were stopped 
by a gruff voice shouting from our side. When 
we looked, it belonged to a soldier in a grey 
uniform pointing a rifle at us. We were joined by 
another. I couldn’t understand what he was 
saying so I showed him a letter I had from 
England. On it was written Kreigsgefangenpost. 
The Swiss soldier shouted. “Englander.”  

 
We were safe. 

  
J. Lancaster. 

Staxton, 
North Yorkshire. 



CHANGE OF ORDERS 
 
June 20th 1940, saw me standing on 

Lowestoft Railway Station with a group of local 
lads. We had been instructed by notice, from 
National Services (Armed Forces act 1939) to 
report to the officer i/c 50th Battalion Royal 
Norfolk Regiment, ITC Britannia Barracks, 
Norwich. Norfolk for Military Service. We were 
instructed to be there between 9am and 12pm.  

On arrival at Thorpe Station Norwich, we 
were met by an Army M.T. Driver His name was 
Dick Sadd, the brother of Ginger Sadd who was 
the area champion welterweight boxer. Dick 
asked us if we were joining the Royal Norfolk’s. 
If we were, he went on, jump on to the truck. We 
all piled on not knowing what to expect. Ten 
minutes later we arrived at a building, which 
turned out to be Town Close School, Newmarket 
Road. Not Britannia Barracks where we should 
have reported too.  

We were told to de-bus and form up on 
the playground. After a brief talk by a Major 
Atkinson, we were told to go into the building 
which was to be our billet and home for some 
time to come. We were fourteen to a room, our 
bed was a base of straw, as was the pillow. 

Next day we were paraded and made up 
into Platoons 13. 14. 15. and were, from then on, 
to be known a ‘C’ Company. 50th Battalion 
Holding Unit. I was in 13 Platoon. Our Sergeant, 
Sgt. Mahoney, said he was going to make 



soldiers out of us and that we were going to be 
the best Platoon of all. We were told that there 
was four other companies A,B,C and D. He told 
us sternly that we wouldn’t let him down. 

Next day we received our uniforms and 
other pieces of kit. After weeks of drill, route 
marches, weapon training, and being called all 
the names under the sun, we finally became fully 
fledged recruits. Although billeted in Norwich, 
we were not allowed a pass to get home which 
was only twenty five miles away. After Church 
Parade on a Sunday, the rest of the day was ours. 
For the Norwich boys it was just the job, as they 
were on home ground. 

As the weeks rolled on and passes were 
still unavailable, myself and a couple of others, 
decided that we would go home after Church 
Parade, even if only for a few hours. I wanted to 
see my wife as I had only married in January of 
that year. Not being far from the rail station at 
Whittlingham, we decided to use that as Norwich 
Station would more than likely be full of Red 
Caps. We had a great day and returned without 
any trouble. 

We were now a fully trained were to be 
known as the 9th Battalion, Royal Norfolk 
Regiment We were fully armed and available to 
be sent to any part of the world as a fighting unit; 
but that was not to be. Our orders arrived and we 
were sent to a town called North Walsham, not 
too far from Harwich.  



We didn’t do much training in the open. I 
was sent on a two week snipers course with some 
of the others where I achieved good results. On 
returning to the unit, I was told that we were to 
move again to the coast to relieve the units of the 
18th Division. They were going to a lying up area 
to prepare for embarkation to the Far East. This 
turned out to be ill-fated Singapore. Some of my 
mates had been drafted from 9th Battalion to the 
4th. 5th. and 6th Royal Norfolk, who were part of 
the 18th Div.,). 

We marched from North Walsham to the 
Coast. I forget how many miles it was. 9th 
Battalion Royal Norfolks sea defence areas, were 
from Wells in North Norfolk down to Sea 
Palling. We covered Cromer, Blackney, 
Sheringham, Mundersley, Trimingham, 
Hapisbury Baiton and BHQ at Holt. We patrolled 
from one company area to another. In Cromer, 
we manned a Pill box which had instruments 
inside which, at the pull of a lever, could blow a 
hole in the Pier if Jerry tried to land on it. 
Another task was to put coils and coils of barb 
wire on the scaffolding which had been erected 
by the RCO’s to stop any German advance if it 
they were lucky enough to land and get that far 
after dodging the mines. 

After a good spell on the Coast, we were 
on the move again, this time to the South of 
England. We arrived at Winchester Barracks as 
part of the 47th London Div’ (Bow Bells) 
Signals. We were considered a good Battalion 



and would be shipped abroad as a fighting 
Division after more intense training. A change of 
orders again put us on the Isle of Wight. We 
landed at Ryde and were split up and sent to 
different locations. My Company ‘C’ were 
assigned to Sandown. By now we were filling 
drafts to reinforce other regiments and that ruled 
out any chance of us going out as a fighting unit. 
Our stay on the Island was pretty easy. We did 
the usual guard duties on Company and HQ 
billets. 

After a while, we were on the move 
again, this time to Boscombe, Bournemouth. We 
hadn’t much to do here, the usual guards, weapon 
training and not much else. By this time I had my 
first stripe and baptism under enemy fire. My 
brother and I, who had joined the Battalion at 
Winchester, were looking out to sea, when we 
saw three planes flying low approaching the 
Town. On nearing the cliff one plane couldn’t get 
the height. He crashed and exploded. The other 
two circled the town and dropped bombs.  

Bournemouth was the rest area for 
Airmen who had done their share of missions. In 
the raid, hotels that housed these airmen were hit. 
There were many causalities. One hotel, The 
Metropole took a direct hit. What a terrible sight 
it was. The whole gable end had been torn off 
and the bodies of airmen could be seen hanging 
from the ruins. We were told to keep moving as 
there were several other personnel helping search 



through the bricks and debris for the bodies of the 
airmen. 

We moved again. This time to 
Hambledon near Portsmouth. We were filling 
many drafts to other units still. After three years 

of travelling around with the 9th Norfolk’s, my 
luck ran out. I was sent on draft leave with 
twenty of my comrades. My younger brother 
stayed with the unit but I found out later he was 
drafted to the 1st Battalion. Royal Sussex Reg. 
He was then posted abroad. 

My comrades and I returned from leave 
and were told that we were to join the 2nd 
Battalion Bedford, Hertfordshire Regiment’ 



wherever they were. We found ourselves at 
Southampton where we were put on a troop train. 
After twenty four hours travelling, we arrived at 
Liverpool. We walked from the station to the 
docks in the early hours of the morning carrying 
our kit bags and equipment. After the formalities 
were over, we boarded the troopship Franionia. 
She was already crowded with troops, still we 
didn’t know where we were going. We thought 
we were going to sail but it was not until the next 
night, that we slipped out of Liverpool to join the 
Convoy. 

After two weeks at sea, without any 
interference from aircraft or submarines, we 
landed at Algiers North Africa in December 
1943. After disembarkation, we marched to a 
place called Maison Corree and a very welcome 
meal. Later we were introduced to a Major 
Marlin who was to be my Company CO. He had 
a list of names who he had to form into Platoons. 
I remained in 13 Platoon ‘C’ Company. My 
Lowerstoft pals Ted Baxter and Dennis Read 
were allocated to ‘A’ Company. The other Royal 
Norfolk’s who I came out with, were allocated to 
other Companies. 

Later on we learnt that the 2nd Battalion 
Bedford’s, after fighting in France, were sent to 
North Africa to fight in the Desert Campaign 
where they sustained many causalities. Our draft 
along with others were to be their replacements. I 
had to take down my stripe as they were up to 
strength with older members of the Battalion. 



After settling down in our new formation, we 
moved to the desert where we lived in tents. We 
did a lot of training, the weather was very hot 
during the daytime but cold during the night. 

Word was passed round that we were to 
leave Egypt and the country but nobody knew 
where we were going. We were to leave all the 
equipment behind, even company weapons. 
Before long, we boarded a train at Port Said and 
headed for Tewfik for another sea trip. We 
embarked on a smaller Trooper, it was a dirty 
ship that had been used for carrying Palastine 
Refugees. Rumour was going round that we were 
bound for England. Everyone seemed to think so. 
After a short journey, we steamed into what 
turned out to be the Port of Naples. Our role as a 
fighting unit was to be in Italy.  

We were now a part of 10. Brigade, 4th 
British Division. 8th Army. We disembarked and 
moved into the suburbs of the City. We stood 
around talking for a while, not knowing what was 
in store for us. It wasn’t long before we knew. A 
convoy of Army trucks drew up and we were 
hustled aboard and quickly moved off. We were 
on our way to the Front.  

After miles of travelling we came to a halt 
and Companies were ushered into different 
groups. My Company under Major Martin were 
on our way. It wasn’t long before we encountered 
mountain tracks. We finally reached our 
positions. The Mountain was called Cerosala. It 
had previously been occupied by the troops we 



had relieved. One or two graves covered with 
stones lay about. Our positions were called 
‘Sanyars’ which were like birds nests made of 
stone. 

It was winter time by now and the battle 
Front was static. We were to be stuck here until 
the Spring offensive. The rest of the Battalion 
were scattered in positions on different 
mountains. Below Cerosala, ran a valley 
separating us from a mountain directly to our 
front. We could see soldiers moving about and 
we assumed they were one of our Companies. 
Each morning these self same soldiers could be 
seen shaking blankets, we used to wave and they 
waved back. This went on for some time until 
one day, we were waving, when all at once a 
mortar shell came over. Luckily it didn’t cause 
any damage as we were on the right side of the 
slope. It appears that the soldiers who we were 
waving to, were German. Apparently they had 
been relieved and the new arrivals did not take to 
kindly to our waving. We had to forget that for a 
while. 

The Spring Offensive was about to begin. 
I had gained my second stripe and we were going 
into action. I was instructed to go down the 
mountain to a lying up area and guide a Company 
of Guards up to our positions. We set off in good 
spirits and all went well for a while. We kept to 
the small tracks, puffing and blowing now and 
then, as it was up hill all the way. For some 
unearthly reason snow began to fall, not much to 



start with but soon it became heavy. I thought to 
myself, this is funny spring weather. 

The light was fading fast and the snow 
was still falling. The whole area was covered in a 
white blanket. It was difficult to keep to the 
tracks, eventually it became hopeless. The lads 
were moaning and swearing. I remember thinking 
to myself this lot are going to murder me. We 
ambled on a few more steps slipping and sliding 
and not knowing where we would end up. After a 
stop or two to get directions, I thought that’s it, 
we’re lost. I wondered what kind of reception I 
would get when we did eventually get back. Or 
would we end up in the German positions?  

All at once it started to get light, the sky 
was blue, the snow was melting, and we only had 
a few more yards to go and we were in the 
Company area. We handed over and nothing was 
said about us being late. ‘C’ Company moved 
down the mountain to join the Battalion. Each 
Company took up it’s allocated Battle Positions, 
and the Spring Offensive for us, had begun. 

The 8th Army, along with the American 
5th Army, proceeded to battle it out together. 
Progress was slow as the Germans had had 
months and months to prepare their positions. 
Some very good natural defences. As the weather 
improved the Armies made considerable progress 
on all sectors, making the Germans fall back to 
other prepared positions.  

Further progress of the Allied Advances 
had to come to a stop. Cassino, a market town 



defended heavily by the Germans and overlooked 
by Monti Cassino was a very commanding 
observation post for the Germans. This was to 
cause headaches for the Allies. The American 5th 
Army tried unsuccessfully to take the town of 
Cassino, and each time sustained many 
casualties. There were three attempts to dislodge 
the enemy, but each time they failed. 

Now a fourth attempt was going to be 
made. My own Battalion, 2nd Beds’ Herts’ Reg’ 
and the 4th British Division, were going to take 
part in the battle for Cassino. After a briefing in a 
backward area behind Mount Trocchio, the 
Battalion advanced to the Companies separate 
start lines before the River Rapide. 

11th May, it was dark now. The mines 
had been cleared and white tapes had been fixed 
so we could find our way to the River bank. My 
Company was allotted two boats to get across to 
the other side. We had been told that the river 
was fast flowing, about 8 knots. About 23.00hrs, 
all hell let loose. 1400 guns, opened fire on 
known enemy positions. It was time. Some of the 
boats were sunk as we crossed when the enemy 
spotted us. The boats which managed to cross 
safely. returned for another load.  

Across the other side, the Battalion ran 
into stiff opposition. They were not yet in their 
allotted positions. My Company ran into an A.P. 
minefield where we sustained many casualties. 
Sgt. Saunders and Prvt. Pierce, who were just 
ahead of me and others behind were killed. It was 



awful. We lay there until daybreak not daring to 
move. 

Capt. Taylor did a great job in finding a 
way through. He was awarded the MC. The 
Battalion was supposed to be on the final 
objective by 04.00hrs but owing to the 
difficulties encountered, we were not completely 
over the Rapido until 07.00hrs 12th May. We had 
no support weapons with us, and would not get 
any until the Bridgehead was enlarged. Jerry 
knew this and was giving us a rough time with 
the Mortars.  

We were hoping for reinforcements but 
had to hold our own until this was possible. A 
bridge had to be built during the night. The 
Sappers started on it as we were being shelled 
and suffered many casualties. The night of the 
13th, we moved forward and made advances 
through the Gustav Line. On the 14th we were 
attacked again. During the long battle we again 
lost many men.  

On the 16th May, we made it to Cassino, 
it had been a costly adventure. The Battalion’s 
strength initially was five hundred men. When 
relieved, we had lost half of that total. We had 
done our part. 

After rest and reinforcement, Cassino was 
no more. We continued our role chasing Jerry 
and keeping him on the run. Our task in Italy 
finished on the outskirts of Florence. We were 
relieved by the 1st Armoured Division and came 
out of the line for a rest and left Italy for good. 



My last and final move in the Army was 
to Greece, when the Battalion took part in the 
domestic trouble there. I was demobbed from 
Athens in March 1946. I was part of 27 Group 
and sailed home to England.  

I had served for three years with the 
Royal Norfolk’s and three years with the Bedford 
and Hertford Regiment. 
 

5778435 Ex Sgt. W. Pickers. 
Lowestoft,  

Suffolk. 
 



THE LONGEST  
EVACUATION LINE 

 
Madras to Rangoon. 

 
We were back at Avadi Camp again, only 

this time we were quarantined. Avadi was about 
fifteen miles inland from Madras. We, consisted 
of about eighty BOR’s and ten officers of the 
R.A.M.C. draft ‘RXKHX’ who had all 
volunteered in August 1941 in response to a 
request for men who were single, medically A1 
and the OR’s at least, nursing orderly Class 2. 
This is a short history of four of that draft. John 
Luff of H.Q. Company, Cyril Seaward of A 
Company, Ron Willenbruch of 129th Field 
Ambulance 43rd Division and myself, Arthur 
Scott of B. Company, 132nd Field Ambulance 
44th Division.  

We had embarked mid Feb’, 1942 onto 
the troop ship S.S Neuralia with the 1st Battalion 
the Cameroonians at Madras. When at sea, two 
transports joined us. When we arrived at 
Rangoon, we discovered that the 7th Armoured 
Brigade had already started to disembark from 
them. The docks were deserted, no wharf labour 
in sight, we followed the Cameroonians off the 
ship, watched them embus onto trucks and 
vanish. We stood at ease for about two hours. 

Two Military Police turned up in a truck 
and told us that all the wharf labour had fled from 
Rangoon with many of the Burmese people, due 



to the Japanese bombing. All military stores were 
being moved out and the oil terminal was ready 
to be destroyed. A staff car turned up and after a 
discussion with our senior officer, we were told 
to re-embark, as all the wounded and sick troops 
in Rangoon along with nursing sisters would be 
evacuated to Madras and the first casualties were 
already on their way to the ship. 

We spent several hours clearing the mess 
decks and carrying stretcher cases on board, 
organising the different decks for surgical, 
medical and VD cases, bedding them down on 
mattresses and organising ourselves into shifts 
and duties. We were feeding and treating several 
hundred BOR’s, Indian ORs, a few Burmese and 
some officers. Being new to Indian troops, we 
knew nothing of the diet problems in feeding 
Hindus and Moslems. We were to have plenty of 
time during the next three years to overcome 
them. 

When the nursing sisters came on board, 
they were completely exhausted after a day of 
supervising the evacuation of the hospitals. At 
least they had the Officers Quarters to relax in as 
this was a troop ship. At dusk we left the docks 
heading for the open sea, but it was the next 
morning, with the ship vibrating on all deck 
levels that someone told us that we had no escort. 
Then it sunk in that if we hit trouble, many of the 
wounded were unable to wear life jackets and it 
was a long way to carry them to the boat deck. 



Many of us slept the night on the mess 
decks with the patients. It was then that we 
learned that we had small pox patients on board. 
Though they were isolated with two of our 
orderlies, we knew we would all be quarantined 
when we landed. We arrived back at Madras and 
no one was allowed near the ship. We had to 
carry all the stretcher cases down to the wharf 
and on to the ambulances and supervise all 
walking patients, onto the hospital train, making 
sure none of the VD cases tried to desert. They 
were in fact under arrest for being unfit for duty. 
VD was classified as self inflicted during active 
service. That evening a special two carriage train 
took us back to Avadi for vaccinations and two 
weeks confined to camp. 

 
Madras To Chittagong. 

 
I will now try to relate what happened to 

the four of us during the next three and a half 
years. Many times in the last forty years, 
whenever we met or corresponded with each 
other, we had discussed the possibilities of 
recording the events we’d lived through together 
in Burma. Firstly would people believe us? And 
secondly, would it be only of interest to people 
who had served in Burma and had experienced 
those same conditions that we had. 

As soon as the quarantine period ended, 
our wonderful run of luck started in that we four, 
whatever happened always finished up back 



together again. Twenty four OR’s (Yes, we were 
in the party) twenty Privates, three Corporals and 
one Sergeant and no Officers!! We never saw any 
of our draft Officers again. We were given our 
movement orders and started a journey that 
would take us several thousand miles during the 
next three and a half years. 

At Madras, we entrained and arrived in 
Calcutta and stayed at Dum Dum racecourse for 
two days, then started the journey that many 
thousands of troops bound for the Arakan, were 
to follow. From broad gauge train and ferry, 
down river then on to the narrow gauge line, 
through Chandpur to Chittagong to meet a sight 
that was to become very familiar during our next 
few weeks in Burma. Thousands of Indian 
refugees were fleeing from south Burma walking 
across the ranges to the coast. We were then 
transported by boat up the coast to Chittagong. 

Our Sergeant had plenty of paper and 
movement orders, because everything was going 
like clockwork - not at all like the Army! We 
were taken to the Chittagong Club (very posh) of 
all places. I wondered what the old timers would 
have said, our kit all over the place, being served 
drinks and waited on by the servants in the dining 
room. Then came the first surprise, an Officer 
gathered us together and told us we would be 
flying to a place called Shewbo in central Burma 
at 0800 hrs next morning. No kit bags to be 
taken, only packs and webbing. We would be 
flying in a DC3 Civil aircraft that was engaged in 



flying out civilian refugees from Shewbo, mostly 
women and children. 

 
 Burma And The Retreat. 

 
A flight was due soon, so we moved into 

the lounge to stay the night. The party arrived, 
most of the women were very distressed having 
left their husbands and other male relatives, their 
homes, possessions and not knowing if they 
would ever see them again. The Indian staff and 
the local British Club members were wonderful, 
coping with four plane loads each day. 

Next morning we were transported to the 
local airfield where we boarded the plane. All the 
seats had been stripped out and continuous row 
of metal bucket seats were fixed to each side. We 
stacked all our kit on the floor down the middle, 
then we were off on our second journey to 
Burma. From the air the view was just endless 
miles of trees, we crossed a river (the Chindwin) 
and the country then opened up to dry paddy 
fields and irrigation canals. As we off-loaded 
from the plane at Shewbo, the next party of 
civilian refugees were waiting ready to board. 

In the afternoon, we were taken to the 
station and onto a train to Mandalay. I will 
always remember crossing the Irrawaddy River 
on the Ava Bridge and admiring the wonderful 
engineering structure that was destined, just a 
few short weeks later, to be blasted into the river.  



On arriving in Mandalay, we were taken 
to Fort Durrerin which we found out later had 
been a Palace of the King of Burma before 
British rule and most of the buildings were 
destroyed in the 1945 campaign. We were 
billeted in the Cantonment (barracks) though 
nobody knew, or would tell us where or to which 
unit we were to join, our transit was amazing us 
all. 

On the move again next day to Mandalay 
station, onto a train we were told to Lashio, the 
railhead near the Chinese border and the 
beginning of the Burma Road. Again we 
marvelled at the railway engineering of the zig-
zag track up the face of the escarpment from the 
plains. The massive Goktiek Viaduct out of a 
tunnel, across the deep gorge and back into a 
tunnel again. At Lashio, we were transported to, 
of all places an RAF camp and for our first time 
billeted in a bamboo basha, (hut.) We spent many 
months in 1943/44 working in those ingenious 
huts. 

Now, our luck ran out. All that wonderful 
organisation ground to a halt, nobody knew what 
to do with us. After four days we were on the 
move again, this time, back down the line to 
Maymyo halfway between Lashio and Mandalay. 
On our way to lashio we had passed several trains 
on the down track for Mandalay loaded with 
Chinese troops. Lashio was crowded with 
thousands of them. 



We were loaded onto a Chinese troop 
train and our first close contact with Chiang Kai-
Shek’s army. Now our journey became a farce. 
At one of the stations when the up train arrived, 
the second party of twenty four and the last, from 
our draft at Madras, like us without any Officer, 
were Willy-nilly going up to Lashio while we 
were on our way back. 

When I look back and think of the cost 
and organisation during those desperate days of 
the Burma Campaign, to move our party of forty 
eight OR’s from Madras to the Chinese border, 
the project at some time in the past must have 
been top priority. On arriving at Maymyo, we 
were taken to the peace time barracks. Maymyo 
was a Government and Civil Service Hill Station 
with lavish homes and buildings still living a pre-
war existence, soon to be rudely shaken to the 
fact that the Japs now had no opposition in the 
air. Two days later, our second group joined us. 

It was now late March 1942. Though we 
obviously were unaware at the time Burma was 
already lost. After Rangoon fell, all 
reinforcements and supplies to Burma stopped. 
When the Chinese were defeated at Taoungoo on 
the main road and the railway from Rangoon to 
Mandalay, and the 17th Div’ had to evacuate 
Prome on the Irrawaddy and the last of the RAF 
was bombed out of Magwee Airfield. The Japs 
could now bomb as and when they pleased, 
which they did with awesome results as we were 



to taste. Cyril and Ron at Maymyo, John at 
Lashio and myself at Meiktila and Shewbo. 

They came over in gaggles of thirty or 
more unescorted, circled the town at least twice, 
closed up and let everything go together, crude 
but very effective. They had been doing it in 
China for years. You could see all the bombs 
leaving the planes, then there was one almighty 
bang, then they would serenely glide away, not 
an A.A. gun to salute them. At least it was quick. 
The local people who had survived just fled and 
left the buildings to burn; the whole Civil 
Services vanished. 

Several of our party, (Cyril, Ron and 
John) had been drafted to the Burma General 
Hospital, others to the Indian General Hospital, 
Both functioning in Maymyo and ten of us were 
ordered to go down to Yenangyaung in the 
oilfields area near the Irrawaddy to bring back 
casualties.  

That morning, we were ordered to parade 
and an Officer introduced himself. Major Calvert 
from the Bush Warfare School. He told us that 
our draft was to have been part of the columns 
that the school was to have trained for long range 
penetration work. We were then told that all the 
men not under orders were to collect their kit and 
board the trucks waiting outside. That was about 
twenty of our forty eight. 

When our group was en-route to 
Yenangaung, first joining our trucks in 
Mandalay, we found the city a shambles. It had 



been bombed twice, the centre was burnt out and 
deserted. There was no shortage of trucks, all 
American, part of the supplies meant for the 
Burma Road and China. When we arrived at 
Yenangyaung, we found that the 17th Div’ and 
the Chinese were preparing to defend the 
oilfields. We were ordered to load as many 
casualties as possible and with one orderly to 
each of the ten trucks, we headed north for 
Meiktila. 

We stopped at an ordinance unit near a 
railway siding just outside the town to feed and 
attend to the casualties. We had a grandstand 
view of the bombing of the town. Down came the 
bombs in one great swish and bang; the closest a 
few hundred yards away, it was all over so 
quickly, we had no chance to lift down the 
stretcher cases from the floor of the trucks. 
Everyone just sat and hoped. 

Before we left in a convoy for Maymyo, 
the Sergeant in charge of transport called us 
orderlies together to warn us about the Chinese 
transport using the road that wound down from 
Maymyo to Mandalay. He told us to stand 
looking out over the driver’s cabin and if we 
heard any vehicle coming down the road, to bang 
on the cabin roof to give the driver a chance to 
find a spot to pull well over, as the Chinese 
driving standards were awful and many head-on 
collisions had occurred. 

Both the Burma and Indian General 
Hospitals were preparing for evacuation when we 



handed over the casualties on our return to 
Maymyo. I was now attached to the Indian 
Hospital, it was mid April and we spent several 
days making plaster bandages and immobilising 
the limbs of all the arm and leg casualties.  

While I was down south, Cyril and Ron at 
the Burma Hospital, were having a hectic time. 
When Maymyo was bombed, four bombs fell in 
the compound killing several people. The staff 
there were also plastering all the limb cases and 
getting ready for evacuation. 

John was having more than his fair share 
of adventure, I’m sure he could write a book of 
his escapades. He was sent to Lashio with a truck 
load of medical supplies whilst all the patients 
from both hospitals were loaded onto the trains 
waiting at a well sheltered siding outside 
Maymyo. Both hospitals closed down and the 
trains at night went down the escarpment and 
over the Irrawaddy on the Ava Bridge, heading 
north for Myitkyina. 

Maymyo was crowded with Chinese 
stragglers, many of them wounded. Medical 
services for the Chinese were non-existent. All of 
the troops were trying to get onto trains and 
trucks heading for Lashio and China. Two 
surgeons and a few of us BOR’s and IOR’s 
stayed behind and set up a surgical team. 
Throughout the war I never again saw such awful 
casualties. Nearly half were gangrenous. We only 
had one steriliser for the instruments and we set 
up two operating tables. We used pentothal for 



the first anaesthetic and then dripped chloroform 
from the bottle on to a face mask. At the end of 
the day, we all had wonderful headaches. A few 
Chinese orderlies stayed with the amputees, but I 
don’t think many of the poor devils would have 
survived as by now, the Japs had cut road and rail 
links with Lashio. 

When we left Maymyo heading for 
Mandalay and the bridge across the Irrawaddy, 
the town seemed deserted. I understand that two 
spans of the bridge were blown the following 
afternoon. We reported to the last large medical 
unit still working outside Shewbo. It was near a 
railway siding as all the units still in the area 
were moving off to the Chidwin at Kalewa and 
Pantha for the march out to India. Any casualties 
and sick were left at Shewbo. Again the place 
was crowded with Chinese troops trying to 
organise rail transport to Myitkyina. They were 
trying to commandeer anything they could get 
their hands on. They had, had plenty of practice 
having lived off the land, fighting the Japs in 
China since the early 1930’s. 

Our people had assembled a train from a 
few old carriages and goods wagons. This was 
heavily guarded night and day by troops to keep 
the marauding Chinese away. I must repeat, that 
it was many months later that we learned and 
realised the gravity of the events happening 
around us and how vital was the timing of the 
retreat to Imphal and the Irrawaddy, to Myitkyina 
and the Hukawng Valley. 



The medical personnel spent nearly a day 
moving all the patients to the train doing 
everything possible to make them comfortable in 
the harsh, hot conditions. The worst cases were 
placed on the seats of the carriages, but getting 
from compartment to compartment to feed and 
supply drinks and tend to dressings and 
medication, was only possible with stops at every 
siding platform along the way. 

A few nurses and sisters, Burmese, Indian 
and British. The MO’s, Indian cooks and 
orderlies all worked with great devotion and 
discipline. At Naba Junction that night we 
witnessed a tragedy that even the greatest fiction 
writer could not have bettered. 

As the army had retreated northwards 
through central Burma, nearly all the railway 
rolling stock had been concentrated on the 
Mandalay-Lashio section or on the single track 
from Shewbo to Myitkyina. Many of the staff had 
opted to stay in their own regions, so only the 
British Anglo-Indian and Anglo-Burmese staff 
whose families had been air evacuated to India 
remained. They had been given military rank.  

I have never read of any official 
recognition of the wonderful work they did, 
keeping the line open and somehow resisting, the 
sometimes armed pressure of the would be 
Chinese hijackers. Obviously aware of the 
problems the staff had ensuring that the four 
trains carrying the casualties, arrived at 
Myitkyian on separate days so as not to cause 



bottlenecks or targets for any Jap bombing raids 
on the airfield, plus the extra strain on the nursing 
staff as it had been decided that only the nurses 
and sisters and a few MO’s from each train, 
would go into Myitkyina and to the airfield and 
so care for the casualties on the flights to India. 

Our train was halted alongside the 
platform of the Naba Junction, so easing our job 
of feeding all the men. Most of the sidings were 
full of wagons, many containing Chinese 
squatters. The major cause of the following 
tragedy was the breakdown of the pump to the 
overhead water tank which supplied water to the 
engine tenders. 

Early the following morning a very long 
train, packed with Chinese troops and stores, (an 
official train) pulled out heading north up the so 
called Railway Corridor. They were bound for 
Mogaung and the trek up the infamous Hukawng 
Valley to Ledo. From Naba to Malwu was a very 
steep gradient along which, at a bridge, a 
watering point had been set up. As we found out 
later that day, dozens of four gallon cans were 
provided and a chain gang was formed to pass up 
the cans from the Chaung (creek) to the tender. 
This took about two hours when we did it. 

This procedure must have happened to the 
troop train and it was assumed that with the 
length and weight of the train and maybe lack of 
experience of the driver and fireman, they could 
not achieve traction when trying to restart the 
train and perhaps, added to by the exasperated 



Chinese Officer who told them to unhitch some 
of the wagons. This was done. 

At Naba Junction, our first realisation of 
anything amiss, was the shrill squealing of the 
wagon wheels on the track rushing towards us. 
One of the railway staff must have been quickly 
aware of the danger as we found out later that he 
had switched the points to the track furthest from 
the platform. With an astounding crash that 
seemed to last for minutes, the wagons piled into 
the stationary line of trucks, when the dust 
cleared and we had rushed over, the unbelievable 
pile, over twenty feet high, of smashed 
woodwork, wheels and metal frames stopped us 
short. Nobody spoke, then we heard the moans 
under the heap. 

The impact must have been awesome. 
Before we could get ourselves organised, the 
Chinese surrounded the area with armed troops 
and our MO’s told us to leave as they did not 
want to provoke an incident with the very edgy, 
Chinese who were looking for someone to blame.  

The date was the 1st May and while we 
had spent forty eight hours at Naba Junction, 
Cyril and Ron’s train had arrived at Mogaung, 
about twenty miles from Myitkyina where they 
were told about the evacuation details. They 
would return down the line (just the personnel of 
the Burma Hospital) without the nurses, to Hopin 
and prepare for a march out to India. 

John was having his problems with the 
Chinese. After a few days at Lashio working in 



the railway hospital with the Japs on the outskirts 
of the town, a convoy of six trucks with mostly 
wounded Chinese left for Namtu with John and 
another orderly in charge. As John said ‘In 
charge’ was definitely not the operational word 
with a total language barrier. The Chinese drivers 
were heading for Namkham and the Chinese 
border. But luckily, they were turned back and 
after six days and several hundred miles, they hit 
the Irrawaddy and somehow got a boat up to 
Katha and onto the last Hospital train. Later, on 
May 2nd, after I had got off our train on seeing 
Cyril, John turned up, so the four of us were 
together again after moving over most of north 
Burma, luck had united us for our long walk. 

 
The March Out To India. 

 
Again I must stress, though we were 

ignorant of the overall picture of events that were 
engulfing us, luck was surely on our side. First I 
am sure our survival as a party of nearly one 
hundred non-combatants of mixed races with no 
experience or training for jungle marching, no 
equipment and very scanty rations (mostly rice) 
we few BOR’s having only been in Burma a few 
weeks, completely un-aclimatised and very 
basically clad, was due to two men. Number one 
was the senior MO of the Burma prisons Major 
Raymond the second a person we never got to 
know except that he was in his fifties and must 
have been a District Officer in northern Burma of 



many years standing. Well liked and respected by 
all the local Burmese. 

He had a few years previously, walked 
the tracks we were to take, on a previous holiday 
in Imphal duck shooting. Apparently the Imphal 
Plains were famous in peacetime as a shooters 
dream, which when one thinks of what was to 
happen within two years, is very ironic. We 
rarely saw him, as he was always a day’s march 
ahead of us, organising the local village leaders 
to help feed us. This in itself, must have been a 
strain supplying a meal for nearly one hundred 
people consisting of approx’ ten Officers, eight 
BOR’s, twenty Anglo Indian and Anglo Burmese 
orderlies, sixty Indian orderlies, cooks, water 
carriers, sweepers and batmen, (very few 
Burmese).Our route out had not been used by the 
thousands of Indian refugees that had fled from 
the Burmese more than the Japs. They had gone 
over the ranges to the coast, up the Chindwin to 
Imphal and the worst trek from Mogaung up the 
Hukawng Valley to Ledo, leaving a trail of death 
and disease. Cholera, dysentery and small-pox 
through which Bill Slim’s Army had to retreat to 
Imphal and the Chinese to Ledo. 

We were divided into sections of about 
twenty, with two MO’s per section. Ours section 
consisted of the BOR’s and the Anglo Indian-
Burmese. We all started with full pack. One 
blanket, mosquito net, change of underclothing, 
two pairs of socks, mess tin, water bottle and a 
couple of tins of bully beef or milk. 



We were soon to see the discipline that 
Major Raymond intended to enforce and which 
no doubt, helped to save our lives. The local 
headman had complained that two IOR’s had 
broken into one of the village huts. The Major 
had us all assembled to witness them getting ten 
strokes each of a lash delivered by a Havildar. 

The Major then told everyone, that 
looting or interfering with the local women 
would alienate the people, who would then not 
assist us with food or shelter. Don’t forget, we 
only had about six rifles to protect ourselves 
with. During the next nineteen days and three 
hundred miles, the water, hygiene and general 
discipline was exemplary. Cyril kept a diary to 
which I shall refer. 

 
The first day May 4th 

 
was a shake down day. We only marched 

eight miles, but soon settled down to a well 
organised routine. We had six bullocks with 
panniers to carry the dixies and some tinned 
rations. A different section led the column each 
day. We marched the usual fifty minutes, then a 
ten minute break. We had an early start about 
0600 hrs after a meal of cold rice and vegetables 
and a cup of tea (black) from the previous night’s 
cooking. 

Cyril noted that we marched through a 
heavy rain storm on the second day. We were 
told it was part of the Chota Monsoon or pre 



monsoon rains of which we were to live through 
almost four, before we left Rangoon in late 1945. 

We marched for eight days, staying in a 
village most nights and being made most 
welcome by the headman and villagers. We now 
know this was entirely due to the goodwill and 
regard the local people had towards our District 
Officer. 

We had marched around the fresh water 
lake called Indawgyi and on the eighth evening, 
reached the River Uyu, the next five days were to 
be a unique experience. I will quote from Cyril’s 
diary in detail. 

 
Day 7, May 10th, miles 16, total 95. 

 
Started to march at 7am and had a terrible 

day, the track was very rough and hilly and soon 
tired us out, after 16 miles, came to a village on 
the bank of quite a large river called the Uyu. The 
village was having a festival, the villagers 
brought us out some sweetmeats, mostly popcorn 
in toffee and ginger and little pancakes; after a 
rest and a bathe in the river, the villagers cooked 
us a meal of curried vegetables and rice and we 
all enjoyed it! We were lucky enough to be 
invited to a Pongyi Festival, where four boys 
were being initiated as Pongyis, (Buddhist 
Priests) After more sweetmeats, they took 
offerings to the temple and we witnessed native 
dancing. After practice loading of the boats, we 



found sleep nearly impossible because of the 
swarms of sand flies. 

 
Day 8, May 10th, first day on river, miles 20, 
total 115. 

 
Rose very early and had usual cold 

breakfast. Carried our kit to the boats, loaded kit 
and ourselves and 7am saw us on our way. The 
boat we were in was a 24 foot long tree trunk 
hollowed out, with bamboo outriggers and 
bamboo and banana leaf shades and it held eight 
of us and two river men. All the boat people had 
blue intricate tattooing from hip to ankle all over 
both legs. Although we only had sign language, 
they were wonderfully cheerful people. We had 
walked for two days parallel with the river, now 
we understood why. 

The river was very shallow and we often 
had to get into the water and push the boat off the 
sand banks, we also had to paddle and row 
ourselves and caused much amusement to the 
boat men who though happy, were lazy. Thinking 
about this later, I realised that they knew they 
would have to work the boat back up river 
against the current and the monsoon was due to 
break any day. 

 
Day 11, May 14th, miles 19, total 174. 

 
Rose at 4.40 am and dressed. That is, I 

put on my shirt and packed my blanket and went 



to get breakfast. As usual it was cold cooked rice 
and a little veg. Drew rations for the day’s 
journey which was stewed pork and rice, didn’t 
fancy the pork so just had the rice. stopped at a 
village along the river and collected some more 
raw rice as we only had four day’s supply left 
and we were told we have at least another eight 
days marching when we land on the west bank of 
the Chindwin River below Homalin. The two 
boat men are rowing now and seem very happy 
singing their songs all day but we think they 
would like to get rid of us and head for home. We 
were getting to close to the Japs! Anyway, the 
ought to be happy as it’s the first work they have 
done today and it’s 4.20 pm. 

Four aircraft passed over, so we all pulled 
to the trees on the bank. they returned about an 
hour later. We passed a raft with an MO and 
three patients. We couldn’t give him any help as 
we had no equipment, only field dressings. We 
soon left them behind as we were travelling very 
steadily. A message was relayed from boat to 
boat, no water to be used for food or drinking 
from now on unless boiled for five minutes as we 
were entering the area where Cholera was 
prevalent. 

It was 7.45 pm when we disembarked. A 
storm was brewing from the west and as we were 
given our billet in a temple compound the storm 
broke. I had never seen it rain so hard, nor so 
much lightning and thunder. We have just had 
some tea from the Pongyi and it was jolly good! 



A crowd of us sat in a half circle around a fire 
and he dished out tea in little bowls and I was 
given a native cheroot (first smoke in nearly two 
weeks.) We are all bare footed in the temple. 

I’m starving as I’ve only had a little to eat 
today, cold rice and two bananas. We have just 
received a present from the villagers, some 
crystallised ginger cane sugar and honey, with, of 
all things, potatoes for the morning. 

 
Day 13, May 16th, miles 20, total 218. 

 
Last day on the river, many happenings 

today. Entered the Chindwin with Homalin on 
the west bank, we didn’t see the place really, only 
a small village. Pulled into the east bank again as 
a plane (could have been a DC3) was circling 
around very low to the south of us. Capt’ 
Mcdonald, who was our section Officer and rode 
in our boat, suggested the plane might be 
dropping supplies which gave us something to 
talk about as most of our conversation these days 
was around the topic of food. We all carried 
about seven pounds of rice each, I had mine 
wrapped in my spare shirt. 

So it was rice every day, plus any fruit or 
vegetables we could buy from the villagers, 
which was usually not much when shared 
between nearly one hundred people. We had a 
very long day rowing, as we were making for a 
place called Tonhe, on the west bank where we 
would start marching again. We could see the 



huge range of hills that we would have to climb, 
over 4,000 feet high and we were told, fifty miles 
as the crow flies, but more that double the 
distance following the track. As the monsoon had 
started, we were getting heavier and longer rains 
each day, we might have to take a two day detour 
to find a footbridge to cross a river called Yu, 
which could now be in spate. 

We arrived at Tonhe just before dark and 
had an emotional farewell with our wonderful 
happy boat people, who had earned every rupee 
they had been paid. After the way the people in 
central Burma had reacted to the army, often 
waylaying and murdering stragglers, when they 
realised that the Japs were taking over Burma, we 
all knew, (at least the Officers and BOR’s) that 
but their loyalty to the District Officer, they could 
have abandoned us any night and left us stranded 
on the east bank of the river as each day we had 
progressed south and nearer to the Japs coming 
up the river. 

That evening, while we were cooking our 
rice and boiling water for our bottles, we had 
another encounter, this time with some Royal 
Marines of all people, who had come up river in a 
large launch guarding the imprest of the army 
that had been marching up from the south 
towards Imphal, and surprise, having been told 
we would be marching through the edge the Naga 
Country going westwards along tracks that had 
been soiled by the fleeing Indian refugees. 



The Nagas would only trade for silver 
Rupees, (no paper money) so we were all given 
ten each. The story that was passed around, was 
that the marines were going to sink the launch, 
money and all, in the middle of the Chindwin. I 
often wondered if they all got out to Imphal OK. 

We soon got organised into our marching 
sections again for the early start next day. We 
had a long bamboo for carrying our two Dixies. 
We now had just a little salt, no tinned food or 
milk but plenty of rice. Each evening we put a tin 
mug full of rice from our packs into the Dixie 
and any vegetables we had managed to buy and 
taking turns, four of us would scrounge around 
for enough wood and bamboo to start the fires 
going. One for the food and one for the drinking 
water. 

I think we were always amazed, that with 
such an odds and sods crowd of people, the 
standards of discipline, hygiene and water 
discipline was maintained at such a high level 
throughout the nineteen days and three hundred 
miles. On the march, the bamboo pole with the 
dixies was passed down the line shouldered by 
two men for about twenty minutes. 

We had a few sick, but we didn’t lose a 
man. John Luff was our only unlucky marcher in 
our section. He must have contracted Malaria 
during his trek with the Chinese from Lashio to 
the Irrawaddy as he had two very bad days during 
our last week to Imphal. Though we did not 
actually carry him, we supported him for miles 



and made him stay on his feet, even when we 
took our ten minute break. 

The last four days, as we were always 
soaking wet and cold, just kept going. We soon 
started to shiver if we stopped so we just slogged 
on. The night after we crossed the River Yu, we 
just laid in the track as we stopped in our sections 
and went to sleep in the mud and rain. 

 
Day 14, May 17th, miles covered 12, total 230. 
Tonhe to Thanan. 

 
Rose at 4 am. Breakfast was cold rice, no 

tea! Started at 5 am. Found the track very rough, 
many trees felled across the track. It got harder 
and harder and very steep. In all we climbed 
about 1,400 feet in three hours and sweated 
almost away. I felt very weak and tired, mainly 
because we had been sitting very cramped in the 
boat for so many days and we hadn’t had much 
leg exercise. 

 
Day 15, May 18th, miles 15. total 245. Thanan to 
River Yu. 

 
Reveille at 4 am. Breakfast at 5 am, just 

the usual rice and cha. Moved off at 5.30am, still 
dark. Covered about six miles by 8 am, then 
came the ‘Hill’. It was the hardest hill I’d ever 
climbed, the track went straight up and was very 
rocky. We climbed to 3.500 ft, according to the 
map, then on to a village about three miles away. 



After a further mile, much shouting from the 
sections behind, “Clear the track! Clear the 
track!” Charging along came about twenty armed 
Chinese, about ten very smart Frontier Force 
troopers with horses and pack mules, five white 
officers and about ten Burmese nurses. 

After they had vanished, Capt’ 
MacDonald said it was the American General 
Stillwell and an American Doctor Seagrave with 
some of the Shan Hills Tribe Girls. No wonder 
they walked past us so briskly, they must have 
thought we were a real rabble. Capt’ Mac’ said, 
that the plane that we saw two days ago, must 
have been dropping them supplies before they 
crossed the Chindwin, maybe a rubber boat too. 

Today we saw and smelt the first dead 
bodies alongside the track and banks of the River 
Yu, which we crossed by a well built footbridge. 
Now our water discipline will have to be very 
strict as water sources will all be fouled with 
human excreta. We passed a pile of bodies laid 
out five by five, stacked like kindling logs ready 
to be burned, so there must be some organisation 
around. We have noticed a big improvement in 
the track and guess we have crossed the border 
into India. 

 
Day 16, May 19th, miles covered 10, total 273. 
Yu River to Sarbung. 

 
As usual, cold rice and some black tea for 

breakfast. A very strong lecture on the water 



situation. Cholera is evident everywhere, we 
don’t seem to notice being soaking wet all the 
time, just plod on and on. Spent the night at 
Sarbung, a Naga village. We bought a pig with 
our Rupees, took a very long time to cook, can’t 
find dry wood anywhere these days. 

 
Day 17, May 20th, miles covered 17, total 273. 
Sarbung to Manwunyang. 

 
Up at 4.30am. Breakfast at 5.15am which 

was cold pork and rice. Again it was raining, so 
we kept going; soaked cold and miserable. One 
good thing, the track was level though boot deep 
with mud. But a long climb to the top, a steep 
descent and up and over again. We found the 
descents harder on the leg muscles - did the 
march none stop, nobody wanted to stand around 
in the rain. 

 
Day 18, May 21st, miles 12, total 285. 
Manwunyang to Kelihao. 

 
Late start today. 6 am rise, no breakfast, 

only tea. Marched off at 7 am. Again a wet start, 
but the last hour we saw the sun and when we 
arrived at a camp, we were dry, the first time for 
days. The sun must have been a good omen, 
because we were told there was a supply depot. 
Loud cheers!!! Our cooks of the day drew our 
rations, what riches. Tinned sausages, flour, 
sugar, porridge and powdered milk. We had a 



jolly fine meal of porridge, pancakes and tea, 
after which I went to sleep. Tomorrow we hear, 
will be our last day’s march as we will reach the 
motor track and should pick up transport to a 
camp north of Imphal, so maybe we will sleep on 
a bed tomorrow. I didn’t sleep at all during the 
night as the hut we occupied was lousy. I was 
bitten all over. 

 
Day 19, May 22nd, miles 16 march. Truck 30. 
Keihao to Yaripok and Imphal. 

 
We started off this morning with light 

hearts, as it was to be the last day of our ordeal. 
6.30 am saw us off and the first part was down a 
very steep decline for four miles. When we 
finished the down hill part it started to rain and 
soon we were drenched and very cold. We didn’t 
stop and soon arrived at a small village after 
approx’ 12 miles. 

The locals sold us cooked rice, small 
cheroots, bananas and sweetmeats. Also 
cigarettes. We were directed to two large dry 
bamboo buildings and issued with more rations, 
sausages, (tinned) Bully beef, sweetened rice and 
lovely hot sweet tea. Then I had a nap for an 
hour. 

At 3 pm, we started off to march to the 
road head where we were to pick up transport to 
the camp. It was raining as usual, so two soakings 
in the one day. I feel I have a cold coming on. (It 
was Malaria) 



We soon picked up transport which took 
us to Imphal. Yes we are back in the army. We 
had to change trucks which then took us to the 
camp. In my opinion it’s a mud heap and very 
filthy. The huts are a very poor affair, made of 
bamboo and grass with mud floors covered with 
wet grass. We were very wet and after a meal, 
were issued with new clothes. 

 
Day 20, May 23rd. 

 
I woke up early, 5 am. I think it was a 

force of habit. breakfast was at 7.30 am, 
wonderful that someone else had prepared it, 
porridge, bully beef, bread and butter and very 
sweet tea. We gave our names to the orderly 
room and bought some cigs in the canteen. 

 
 End of Cyril’s diary. 

 
Then came for us, two days of horror and 

despair. reading Bill Slim’s ‘Defeat into Victory’ 
you will see that he deplored the treatment 
imposed on his men after the retreat. I suppose 
one can understand, keeping us well away from 
the fresh troops rushed up from India. They had 
little or no training and India Command still 
could not understand how the Japs, so easily, 
could overcome the under strength and under 
armed force that Slim had held together and 
extracted from certain defeat. 



So they decided it must have been the 
men and no way should the new troops be 
infected by lack of morale and because the Indian 
refugees brought the plague of Cholera, smallpox 
and dysentery with them, then so would the 
army, so they must all be quarantined. 

This was to result in untold deaths. I’m 
sure no one ever found out how many of the 
retreating army died before or after eventually 
reaching Indian hospitals. I can however cite how 
our party were treated. 

The next day, May 24th, we were moved 
from the camp and ‘dumped’ is the only word 
that can describe our treatment. Us few BOR’s 
with the Anglo Indian-Burmese and the Indian 
OR’s, were trucked to a foul site. (By now a 
rushing torrent.) This area must have held the 
surviving Indian refugees over the preceding 
weeks. The whole area down to the water’s edge 
was fouled with Human excreta. some of it was 
the frightening sight of Cholera stools. There 
were just a few shelters of bamboo and grass. 

We were appalled at the complete 
breakdown of morale and discipline of the Indian 
troops and some of the Anglo boys. They just 
squatted in the filth and rain and would do 
nothing. We only ever saw one of the Officers 
again. That afternoon, Capt’ MacDonald nearly 
crying when he saw us, said, ‘They said that we 
were a bloody nuisance, but fate was not to desert 
us. The second day, we were visited by an Indian 
MO. 



He told us he was from a unit which had 
been in the van of Slim’s retreat and most of his 
personnel had got through in good shape. It was 
the 8th Indian Casualty Clearing Station. Of 
course, they had no equipment but had been 
ordered to set up in the bombed civil hospital 
compound in Imphal. 

They would have to look after BOR’s as 
well as Indian troops, they wanted BOR 
orderlies, would we help? He looked around and 
said, “You can’t stay here can you?” Never did 
six men say, “Yes Sir!” with so much 
enthusiasm.  

During the next three years, we often 
discussed the march and how fate looked after us 
and we often wondered if Major Raymond and 
the District Officer received any recognition of 
awards for bringing us through those nineteen 
days. We feel sure that they would not have 
voluntarily  left us in such pitiful conditions.  

 
A.G. Scott & C. Seaward.  

Salisbury East, 
South Australia 5109. 

 
 



ARTFUL DODGERS OF 
THE BURMA ROAD 

 
Maymyo is a small town three thousand 

feet above the level of Mandalay in Burma. The 
solitary British military hospital had ran out of 
supplies and the Japanese Army was crushing the 
small opposition of British Empire Troops 
defending there. 

Our 303 rifles and Bren guns were totally 
ineffective against an enemy that outnumbered us 
by thirty to one. We badly needed air support, 
tanks and big guns. 

Evacuation of the hospital took days until 
all the patients were finally aboard the train. 
There were delays as it made it’s way north west. 
Saboteurs had blocked the railway lines by one 
means or another. Mandalay station had been 
bombed and the dead bodies were being eaten by 
wild dogs.  

The Burmese Army had changed sides, 
walking over to join the Japanese to fight against 
us. Brainwashed by the enemy and with the 
promise of wresting the countries from the rule of 
the British, they were easy targets for Jap 
propaganda. The British were hated by the 
Burmese and I suppose they had reason to be. 
Whether freedom enriched their lives is a tale to 
tell later. 

We arrived up in the hills heading for a 
place called Myitkyna. Along the way, the train 
pulled into a small roadside railway station where 



we could buy tea and curried vegetables sold 
from a small hand cart. I had tried to eat on a 
couple of occasions but could not hold any down. 
I was suffering with stomach ulcers at the time. I 
also had a suspected broken foot and my leg was 
in plaster from my toe to just below my knee. 

 
 

 
 
We arrived at Myitkyna about midday 

where there was a meal of cooked rice waiting 



for us. In one of the lush green fields was a 
clapped out Blenheim Bomber.  

The fields were marked off in oblong 
shapes surrounded by bunds. The bunds were 
made of heaped earth and they were adequate 
enough to withstand being filled with ankle deep 
water, thus enabling the rice seed sprouts to be 
planted. 

Usually, in the hills, the temperature 
batted around eighty degrees for eighty percent of 
the year. In the autumn, the monsoons would 
come sweeping over the whole country flooding 
the land filling the paddy fields for the rice 
planters. 

There were a few bamboo shacks 
available for some of the patients. The rest of us 
had to sleep outside in the unbearable heat of the 
day. 

The following day, we were gathered 
together and told there would be no more flights 
from Myitkyna. The Prime Minister had closed 
the Burma road to appease the Japs, thus 
depriving Shai Khan Shek, the Chinese leader, of 
the vital supplies that were shipped by plane from 
Calcutta and along the Burma road by convoy. 
Except for a long trek over the hills, we were 
trapped. 

The road was precarious as it was cut out 
of the hill sides and snaked for miles from China 
into Burma. In the stifling heat of the afternoon, 
the silence was eerie. It seemed as though the 
wild life had gone into hiding, for not even a 



chirping bird could be heard. From out of the 
holes in the earth, hatched, flying ants were 
escaping to a safe shelter before the impending 
floods came to drown them. 

Suddenly, we were in semi-darkness. 
heavy clouds swept towards us blotting out the 
sun. The air became cooler but a tornado like 
wind tore at my clothes. I had been under many 
monsoons having spent six and a half years in 
Burma but in those, I could take shelter in the 
barracks. I struggled over to an upturned bullock 
cart and took my place beside a stranger. We held 
on tightly. Fork lightning lit up the sky, zig-
zagging earthwards. The thunder was deafening.  

 
 

 
 
I remembered a time in earlier years, 

when after the monsoon had passed, seeing a 
bullock turned to cinder after being struck by 
lightning. It was still standing. 



Lightning was streaking all over the sky 
followed by thunderous crashes. The heavens 
opened up and glory be; rain. cold sweet rain. 
Buckets of it. 

I was hanging on the wheel of the bullock 
cart as the wind kept trying to prise me loose. It 
may have lasted ten to fifteen minutes but it did 
subside and I was able to look skywards. I caught 
the falling rain in my mouth and like it or not I 
was getting a good shower. 

As the clouds broke up, I could hear the 
thunder and see the lightning in the distance as 
the destroyer moved away. But for now, the rain 
kept on incessantly. Gradually the clouds 
uncovered the sun and the rain ceased leaving the 
paddy fields flooded.  

It was cooler and the birds were back. I 
looked around at the devastation, not a bamboo 
shack was upright. Some people had been lifted 
off their feet and blown away some distance. The 
Blenheim Bomber had been lifted into another 
field but now something else was happening to 
me. I knew what it was and found a nurse 
quickly. My malaria was back. I was developing 
a riga. My whole body shook. I felt frozen. 

I was wrapped in blankets and given 
quinine tablets. I sweated profusely and was 
delirious. I had had these attacks several times 
but within half an hour I was back on my feet. I 
felt drained and the taste malaria left in my 
mouth was horrible. 



We all heard it together, a loud noise and 
we all looked skywards. A solitary aeroplane 
circled above us. It landed and the pilot got out. 
A few of us approached him. He looked at us and 
said. “Goddamit!, I took a beating up there in that 
storm. I had to land and spotted this field. I had 
no idea that there was anybody down here.” 

He turned out to be and American A.V.G. 
Pilot, a voluntary group of pilots that were 
shuttling back and forth from Calcutta to China. 
This was to be his last trip before making his way 
home. He passed around the cigarettes whilst 
telling the officer in charge that he would fly 
back to Calcutta over the Naga Hills to notify the 
RAF of our whereabouts. He would escort them 
here as long as they made their own way back. 
This would prove to be a dangerous task as the 
planes weren’t fitted with the instruments to help 
them over the hills.  

Sometime later we spotted them and one 
by one they landed. It was decided that the 
civilians would fly out on the first plane, then the 
wounded on the second and so on. We were told 
to discard any surplus items in order to get as 
many on the planes as possible. I discarded my 
only boot, along with a few others. Ironically, I 
watched a soldier get into the plane carrying a 
portable gramophone and records. This could 
only have been looted. The soldier was off the 
convoy that was turned back when Singapore 
fell. He looked fit and active enough. 



Whilst I waited to board the plane, I 
noticed the name on the side. ‘Pan American 
Airlines’. It seemed shoddily built to me as the 
panels were held together with tiny rivets. I 
wondered just how the thing managed to fly. I 
climbed inside what was basically a hollow shell. 
All the seats had been stripped out in order to 
carry freight. We sat on the metal floor, packed in 
like sardines and took off. 

I saw very little of the hills but I will 
never forget the air pockets. We dropped like a 
stone as the propellers grasped for air that wasn’t 
there. No sooner did had we get our stomachs 
back, when we’d hit another pocket. I decided 
there and then that I would never fly again. 
However, even though I was terrified at the time, 
I was certainly grateful to the RAF for saving my 
life.  

We landed without a hitch in Assam. One 
of the worlds largest tea plantations. Women 
waited as we disembarked handing out tea and 
biscuits to us all. Imagine that. The first in weeks. 
I didn’t have any problems keeping that down. 



The following day, we were put on a train 
and we were finally taken to hospital. After being 
cleaned up and my plaster removed, I was 
examined and put to bed. The staff were a recent 
contingent to the hospital and one nurse greeted 
me with the words. “The people back in England, 
don’t think much of you lot in Burma. You let the 
British Army down”. 

Well, I couldn’t argue with the nurse, 
after all, she was an officer and I was only a 
corporal. In any case, we were warned to keep 
our mouths shut because if we had spoken out, it 
could have had a demoralising effect on our front 
line troops. 

 

 
 

 
We couldn’t tell them that the nips were 

fanatics, all to eager to die in battle. We couldn’t 
tell them we were vastly outnumbered and were 
fighting with sticks and bladders in a different 
kind of war. Years of field tactics and trench 
warfare had gone down the tube. This was jungle 



warfare. A war where a Jap would lash himself 
and a bag of rice up a tree and stay there sniping, 
ready to die if spotted. The British Army believes 
there is no finer fighting man than the Gurkha but 
a Japanese religious war fanatic took some 
beating. 

Later perhaps, that young nurse would 
realise what it was all about. A big force of 
troops lined the Burmese-Indian border and one 
night, the allies tents were swarming with Japs. 
We had the numbers then, but this was a new 
type of warfare. There was so much chaos and 
death. I believe the divisional commander got a 
roasting over that. 

I often wonder what happened to my 
American A.V.G. Pilot. He deserved a medal as 
big as a frying pan for saving so many lives. 
Alas, not all the refugees made it though. 
Apparently the Japs got wind of the airlift and 
they managed to shoot down a few of the planes. 
My thanks to the RAF. 

 
An extract From 

The ‘Artful Dodgers On The Burma Road’ 
By ex Infantry Pioneer Sergeant W. Robinson, 
2nd Battalion Of The King’s Own Yorkshire 

Light Infantry. 
 



CHINDITS 
 

Our thoughts are with you in this fateful hour. 
Victory where you are may mean ultimate victory 

in the Middle East. There will be no surrender 
and no evacuation. 
Winston Churchill. 

 
These words are etched onto my mind 

from May 1941. They were an order of the day 
sent to be read to us while we were trapped in 
Crete a few days after the German parachutists 
landed in the area. We were guarding the capital. 
The losses in ships, men and material during that 
battle were immense. 

I was in the 2nd battalion the 
Leicestershire Regiment. I joined them at Jericho, 
Palestine Feb. 1940. and  we then left for Egypt 
and the Western Desert in Sept’ of that year. 

We left our base at Sidi Hanish to go on 
what was supposed to be a training operation. 
Monday Dec’ 9th, we were called together, and 
our officer spoke to us. He told us that we were 
actually going to attack the Italians the following 
day. “Anyone who is seen to turn and run will be 
shot. I shall personally shoot him myself.” he 
said. I had reason to bear those words in mind. 

The next day, at the height of the battle, I 
crawled many yards to a wounded man. He had a 
cap comforter over the right cheek of his behind. 
I looked at it and tried to comfort him. I had no 
water and neither had he. I asked him if he would  



like  a drink as I had noticed a haversack several 
yards in front of us. I crawled over to it. It was 
empty. I had to shout back to him “I’m sorry, I 
daren’t come back to you. The stretcher bearers 
will be along in a minute.” I just wasn’t prepared 
to take the chance of turning my back on the 
Ities. I don’t know if that chap made it. I never 
saw him again. 

 

 
 
In Feb’ 1941. We went back to Egypt. At 

one time in april we actually got to the stage of 
getting into the landing craft as it was rumoured 
that we were going to invade Rhodes Island. The 
next few days were really hectic. Back to the 



desert to Sidi Hanish, where I managed to 
retrieve a photo which I had put on a ledge in our 
old dugout that we had left six months earlier. It 
was a photo of my girlfriend. I had wrapped it in 
a leaf out of a Bible.  

We were only there about a week, then 
back down to Alex onboard the ships ‘Figi’ and 
‘Gloucester.’ We arrived on the night of 
Thursday 15/16 May in Crete. Unfortunately both 
of these ships were sunk within a few days. 

Hours later, Hitler sent and ultimatum to 
the Cretians. Surrender all British Troops on the 
island or else. These demands were dropped from 
the air in the form of leaflets. 

They must have told him what to do with 
his leaflets, as the next day he sent about sixty 
bombers. They bombed the capital from the 
docks right through the town. From where I was, 
I could feel the blast of the bombs and hear the 
people shouting and screaming. 

 



Port Said, Egypt, June 1941.  
Harry Slaney, (right). 

 
On Tuesday 20th, over came the Para’s 

and all hell let loose. I was the company runner. I 
was in a slit trench with my Company Adjutant 
when he sent me down to the company office. 
When I arrived there it was on fire. (I’m now 
going to let the cat out of the bag) I used an 
officers great coat to put it out. I collected all the 
P.R.I. Money and stuffed it down my shirt front. 
For a while I felt that I was the richest man on the 
island. I filled our two water bottles and made my 
way back to the trench. 

We cleared the immediate area of 
Germans. I handed the cash over, glad to still be 
alive. We lived on a knife’s edge. On the night of 
the 29th May, a sergeant came up and whispered 
very slowly and clearly, “We are leaving Crete 
tonight.” My heart skipped a few beats and I 
could hardly restrain myself from shouting out 
loud with sheer joy and relief. We abandoned our 
heavy kit, except rifles and haversacks. I got rid 
of my groundsheet and in its place I put a leather 
writing wallet which I still have.  

We crept down to the docks that night 
where we were taken out to a destroyer. We had 
no sooner settled down when we were told we 
were moving. We were transferred to 
H.M.S.Dido. I foundout later that the destroyer 
had run aground and had been disabled. This 
caused some delay, allowing us to be caught in 



broad daylight still within range of the German 
dive-bombers. 

When I first arrived on board Dido I was 
sent down to ‘A’ mess deck which was under ‘A’ 
gun turret. I found myself sitting next to a 
Australian soldier. I had saved my autograph 
album and so I got him to write in it. He put the 
following words. Pte Dunshea I.A. NX 14139 2/4 
Btn AIF just out of Crete 29/5/41. I cut this out 
and sent it home to my girl. We still have it in her 
scrapbook. He offered me a drink of rum out of a 
stone jar, but I refused. I wanted to know what I 
was doing if anything was to happen. 

Shortly afterwards there was a terrific 
thump and the ship shuddered. A calm voice 
came over the tannoy saying “It’s OK lads, it was 
only a near miss.” The Aussie said, “It was that 
much of a near miss I saw the flash through the 
plates” no sooner had the words been said when 
there was another almighty crash. Through the 
door into ‘B’ mess, there was a mass of flames. 
At that moment I came as near to committing 
suicide as I have ever done, then I thought 
,”What the Hell! if the Ities and the Germans 
couldn’t get me, why should I help them out? So 
instead, I said to the chap next to me, “Here, hold 
my hand quick!.” He obliged. We sat there as 
told to by the sailors, and in a matter of minutes 
they had the fire out. It was some time before 
they cleared the dead. We finally limped into 
Alex. The whole convoy had taken an awful 
bashing.  



There were several sequels to the Crete 
do, and one of them was pretty quick in coming. 
Within twenty days we were on our way through 
Palestine to fight the Vichi French in Syria. Just 
before we moved over the border, an order was 
sent round asking for the names of everyone who 
had been on Crete. Good! We thought, we’re 
going to get a medal. Not likely. We were 
stopped two shillings and sixpence out of our pay 
towards NAAFI losses. 

We weren’t allowed to call the Vichi 
French the enemy, only the opposition. Although 
the fighting only lasted three weeks, there were 
over 100 battle casualties. No sooner was it over 
than one of our blokes got twenty one days 
detention for refusing to salute one of their 
Officers 

September came and we were put on 
twelve hours notice to move. We left for Beirut, 
onto HMS Hobart to Alex. Three days later we 
boarded HMS Kimberly, Jarvis and Latona 
landing in Tobruk late at night. 425 Of us 
relieved over 1000 Aussies. I can recall months 
later we were amazed by the headlines in the 
English papers which stated.  

‘Fresh and eager British Troops relieve 
the Aussies in Tobruk.’ 

One day I was standing near to my 
platoon officer as he was talking to another 
officer, who said, ”I wish I could get my hands 
on the idiot who burnt my great coat on Crete. It 
cost me quite a few ackers to get it repaired in 



Cairo.” I then knew whose coat it was that I’d 
used to put out the fire. Of course I didn’t say 
anything. 

Before we were relieved three months 
later, I had the sad task of identifying seven men 
from ‘C’ Company who had been engaged on a 
night attack. One of them was the sarge who had 
led us down to the docks on Crete. Another, was 
a young officer who had been taken prisoner 
once and ecaped from Greece via Turkey where 
he had returned to his unit. 

We returned to Egypt in Jan 1942 and by 
February 4th we were on our way through 
Palestine to Syria. We had been issued with 
Battle Dress and all thought we were on our way 
back to Blighty. It’s a good job we had serge 
because there was a blizzard and our tent blew 
down. March 6th we had returned to Egypt where 
we were issued with new tropical kit and by 
March 16th we arrived in Ceylon on board the 
‘New Amsterdam’ 

I still believe that we were only sent there 
as a precaution. If the Japs ever invaded, it 
couldn’t be said that it wasn’t protected by the 
troops. Apart from a bombing raid not long after 
we landed, we saw nothing. 

February 1943 found us in India, where 
we later that year trained to become Chindits. By 
the following year, February 8th, we started out 
on a 630 mile treK into central Burma from the 
Ledo Road. As we reached the Chindwin, a 



message was received from General Wingate. It 
read. “Well done Leicesters.  

Hanibal eclipsed” Here we built airfields 
using only shovels and machetes so that later, 
troops and heauy equipment could be flown in. 

Returning to India on April 30th, I saw 
Vera Lynn. I returned home in in October 1944 
where I got married to the girl who’s photo I 
rescued. By June 1945 I was sent to Germany 
until my demob in 1946. 

I met Vera Lynn again at a Burma Star 
Reunion at the Albert Hall in 1975. I mentioned 
that I’d met her before and she said to me.  

 
“It’s taken you a long time to ask for my 

autograph hasn’t it?” 
 

Ex Chindit Pte 4860436 Slaney W.H.  
South Wigston, Leicester. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Harry Slaney with friends 
Germany 1945. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



ESCAPE BY SAMPAN 
 
Studying a little research into the 

disastrous ‘Malayan campaign’ 1941-1942, I 
came across the following extracts: 

 
 On or around the 12th February, General 

Wavell, G.O.C. Of British troops on the island, 
aware of the fact that the island was doomed, 
relayed the following signal from Java. 

“Before the final cessation of fighting, 
opportunity should be given to any determined 
body of men or individual, to escape by any 
means possible but must be fully armed.” 

 
To my knowledge there is no evidence 

that any commander passed this signal onto the 
troops. No doubt, with ninety thousand massing 
in Singapore with no evacuation plan, this would 
have created panic, yet escape was possible. 

Early morning of the 14th February, I 
found myself along with two other members of 
my Battalion, almost in the vicinity of our own 
Gillman barracks, having been cut off from our 
company during the night of the 13th of February 
amidst heavy fighting and confusion. Bren 
carriers were racing down the road with troops 
clinging to them moving away from the 
advancing Japanese. 

Australian, Indian and our own British 
troops were roaming about at random, completely 
confused and demoralised. We were later to meet 



four more of the Loyals Battalion who also had 
been cut off. We stopped a dispatch rider for any 
news, his information was anything but hopeful. 
He told us he had just returned from Fort 
Canning, Singapore, where an important meeting 
was taking place with the Chiefs of Staff. 
Rumour was, that it would only be a matter of 
hours before we were forced to surrender to the 
Japanese as the water supply to the island of 
Singapore was completely cut off.  

The situation was indeed grim. We had 
reached the stage whereby we had two 
alternatives; imprisonment by the Japanese with 
the possibility of execution, or we attempt an 
escape. A million to one chance: the seven of us 
agreed on the latter. 

On the 15th February, at the break of 
dawn, we made our way to “Keppal Harbour.” 
As usual, the harbour was full of stationary 
sampans, countless boats and small crafts. We 
scrambled aboard a sampan despite the protests 
of the owner, a Malayan fisherman. After bribing 
him with cigarettes, a few Malayan dollars and 
the promise of a reward on reaching safety, we 
then put to sea.  

We were fully armed with one Tommy 
Gun, a couple of drums of ammunition, six rifles 
and fifty rounds of ammunition for each. We had 
no map or compass but one of the men was able 
to produce, from his haversack, a pair of 
binoculars which he had taken from a dead 
Japanese Officer during the fighting in Malaya. 



These were to become indispensable during our 
escape. We possessed hardly any food but we all 
had a fair amount of water in our water bottles.  

Towards midday on the 15th February, 
we had made little progress due to the stillness of 
the air having little effort on the ragged sails of 
our sampan. We were only a few miles from 
Singapore. As we looked back we were able to 
see palls of smoke and fires burning.  

During the day our main problem was low 
flying Japanese aircraft. We had anticipated this 
and on hearing the first droning sound of aircraft, 
we hid under the cover of our groundsheets, at 
the same time instructing the Malayan fisherman 
to show himself prominently. This was a daily 
routine until we were well clear of Singapore and 
in reasonable safety. 

As we approached the first small island 
on our journey, we observed, with the aid of our 
powerful binoculars, small troop movement. At 
first we suspected them to be Japanese but on 
closer observation we recognised them as Dutch 
East India troops. Very much in appearance like 
Japanese troops. Never the less we approached 
the island with extreme caution. We needed 
supplies desperately. This island was to be our 
saviour. Our observations had been correct. 

We were welcomed by the small 
detachment of East India troops who gave us 
ample supplies of food and water, and a rough 
sketch of all the surrounding islands leading to 
Sumatra. Their Camp Commandant informed us 



they had received notification that Singapore had 
fallen and that they themselves would be able to 
offer little or no resistance to the Japanese if 
attacked.  

We sailed away keeping close to the 
coastline and for several days we made good 
progress, obtaining food and water from the 
many small islands leading to Sumatra. Several 
miles before reaching Sumatra we decided to 
abandon the sampan. It had served its purpose. 
We would now have to travel overland by any 
means possible, if we were going to reach our 
destination. India.  

 

 
 
We left the Malayan fisherman on the 

sampan without informing him of our plans. We 



then we took to the jungle. We were now 
desperate soldiers, knowing it would require all 
our stealth, cunning and training to survive as we 
were convinced that by now the Japanese would 
have fanned out to Sumatra.  

Mostly, we travelled by night and rested 
during the day. At all times during our rest 
period, there would be two men on guard; one 
with a tommy gun in case of a surprise attack. 
Though the odds were stacked against us we 
were determined to survive, having left behind 
us, seventy days of disorganised warfare.  

We maintained discipline and planned 
every move as a team, solely dependent on one 
another. Luck was on our side. From constant 
observations through our binoculars at high 
vantage points, we were able to watch convoys of 
Japanese troops on the move. We pushed ahead 
at all speed. At times with the help of road 
transport obtained unofficially. Most of the time 
we travelled on foot using the dense jungle for 
safety. 

After many adventures to numerous to 
relate in this article, we eventually reached 
Padang. A busy little seaport town in Sumatra. 
We approached it with great caution, observing 
from a distance very carefully, before deciding it 
was obviously a safe zone unaffected by the 
Japanese pinzer movement. There was also 
plenty of transport available. 

We contacted the Dutch officials who 
informed us that several important personnel 



were soon to leave Padang by sea and would 
willingly take us aboard. We were put ashore at 
Bombay, India and we then made our way to the 
nearest military H.Q. Koboba camp. For the first 
time in my years as a regular soldier, I witnessed 
the sergeant guard commander speechless as he 
was confronted by seven soldiers, heavily 
bearded, unkempt and fully armed reporting for 
duty.  

We were issued with a complete change 
of kit and then interviewed for several days by 
officers of the intelligence department. They 
listened with amazement as we gave them a full 
account of our escape and the vital information 
we had collected by observing the Japanese 
movements in the Dutch East Indies. 

We were then congratulated, medically 
examined and declared fit for further active 
service. 

From Bombay I sent a telegram to my 
parents to inform them that I was safe in India. A 
few weeks later, I received a reply by airgraph 
letter that I had been posted as missing and it was 
reported in the Oldham Chronicle that I was 
presumed ‘killed in action.’ 

On returning to the U.K. After some 
inquiries, to the best of my knowledge I was the 
only Oldham man to escape, avoiding the hell 
camps of the Far East.  

The men involved in our escape all 
belonged to my Regiment. ‘The Loyal North 



Lancs’ we were stationed at Gillman Barracks 
Singapore. Here is a list of those who escaped: 
 
George Moss.  A company. Oldham. 
Cpl. Worsley.  A company. Bolton. 
L/c. Davies.  A company. Cheshire. 
Pvt. Bibby.  A company. Wigan. 
Pvt. Kirkbright. A company. Bolton. 
Pvt. Clayton.  A company.  Nottingham. 
Pvt. Spillane.  A company. Liverpool. 
  

George Moss. 
Oldham, 

Lancashire. 
 



THE TOSS OF A COIN 
 

In war, as in any other sphere, much of 
our lives are influenced by luck, fate or 
preordination. Call it what you will, it plays a 
large part in all our destinies. This is often more 
apparent in war than in any other time of our 
lives. For at such times even the smallest quirk of 
fate can make the difference between life and 
death. 

An example of this befell me one early 
afternoon when our battalion was encamped on 
the scorching plains of Iraq. I and a comrade 
were returning from the cookhouse after lunch, 
when on reaching our company lines, we were 
hailed from the office tent by our cockney 
Sgt.Major. 'Hey you two. Come here' we walked 
towards him wondering what we had done to 
incur his wrath. 

He was in, what for him was a remarkably 
good mood, and as we approached him, he took a 
coin from his pocket, spun it in the air, caught it 
in one hand and slapped it onto the back of the 
other. Keeping it hidden from sight, he looked at 
me and said. 'Call' I called heads. He uncovered 
the coin and said. 'Tails it is, bad luck.' He then 
turned to my companion and told him to collect 
all his kit and report to the RSM. 'What is it for 
sir ? My friend asked. 'Never mind what it's for, 
just call it a holiday'. Was the surprising reply. 
We made our way back to our tent, where I 
helped him pack his kit and watched him make 



his way towards Battalion HQ. Never dreaming 
that this was the last time that I would ever see 
him. 

Now was the time to tap into the 
grapevine to find out the nature of the mysterious 
detail on which my friend had been sent. It did 
not take long for the facts to filter through. It 
transpired that he and seven others, plus two 
NCO’s had been detached for permanent guard 
duty at a large arms and ammunition dump. It 
did, to we who were left behind, seem indeed that 
the detail had gone for a holiday and I cursed my 
luck at having lost the toss. 

It was about six weeks later that each 
company in the battalion was ordered to send two 
men to a funeral service. Whose funeral it was 
we were not told until the day of the service 
when we were paraded and addressed by the 
Company Commander. He informed us that the 
ammunition dump had mysteriously blown up. 
And the whole guard had lost their lives. 

Such are the workings of fate. My friend 
was gone for ever and I was left to ponder on the 
fact that had I called tails while the coin was 
spinning, it would be he who was left to mourn 
and I would have been no more. 

 
R.Holding. 

Cirencester,  
Gloucester. 

 



CHRISTMAS 1943 
 

On Christmas Eve 1943, I along with 
three other British Signals lads and our British 
driver, were attached to a South African 
Divisional H.Q., using our wireless truck for 
sending messages back to our own unit. We had 
been with these chaps for five weeks and had 
been accepted into that ‘special clan’ that 
prevailed in the Western Desert against Rommel, 
where everyone from officers downwards, were 
short of basic essentials like water and decent 
food. Yet still, we all mucked in and made light 
of it. 

We were somewhere south of Benghazi, 
with nothing to look at but sand. The coastal strip 
is fertile and beautiful all the way from Dernal; 
roads, houses, grass, palm trees and other 
cultivation, and of the course the Mediterranean. 
Warm for swimming and clean with sandy 
beaches, but out of bounds for us. 

The South Africans had been at Alamein 
as part of the big push. When we joined them in 
November, they had, had some losses in a big 
battle and had been refitted. So they were a 
friendly crowd, very interested in where we came 
from in England as many of them had English 
relatives. Camping with them was very much like 
our own. Each truck was about one hundred 
yards from any other to avoid bombings, or 
strafing by fighter planes. The truck was 
camouflaged, the webbing giving a small amount 



of shade from the intense heat of the day, where 
the temperature would rise to over 100 degrees. 
We wore socks, boots, puttees and a pair of 
shorts. The cookhouse was usually in the inner 
ring. We were lucky if it was only four hundred 
yards away, it was often a lot further.  

Their drivers were native men, all from 
the Basuto Tribe. They fed at a different 
cookhouse from us and when not driving, they 
were either on guard duty, running from truck to 
truck delivering messages or doing any 
maintenance work required on their vehicles. 

After morning parade we would strip off 
to our shorts, but they would always leave their 
shirts on and just remove their boots. This we 
found very strange. They were all very good 
looking blokes with short cropped hair and they 
were always smiling. The white South Africans 
had no time for them. One white sergeant was 
constantly warning us about them; how they 
would steal the watch off your arm, or the socks 
off your feet. His favourite was that their fathers 
and grandfathers were probably cannibals.  

We were told that they were not to be 
trusted. On the contrary, we found them to be 
very trustworthy and certainly very charming. 
They would come over to us and talk, whereas 
they wouldn’t be bothered with the others. Many 
times they would talk of their homesickness as 
most of them were all related. None of them 
could read or write, and as they were all from the 



same tribe, they never heard from home. They 
were all conscripted for the duration. 

We had been in this location for four days 
and were now settled. It was a flat expanse of 
hard sand with 100 foot hills on three sides, not a 
road for miles, no other amenities, just a grid 
reference. We had arrived along a track, the 
vehicles spreading out as was the custom, leaving 
an area in the middle about the size of a football 
pitch, which we all used for letting off steam. 20-
25 a side; kick which way you like; join or leave 
as you please; last one left picks up the ball. 

The sun would disappear in 10 minutes. 
The moon, when it was full, appeared so near the 
ground you felt you could touch it by jumping 
up. The temperature dropped 50 degrees in half 
an hour and we were glad of our great-coats. 

We were invited one night, by the South 
African C.O., a Colonel, to an exhibition. He 
didn’t say of what. Twenty turned up at one end 
of the ‘pitch’, along with everyone else, sitting on 
the sand. Lights were forbidden, yet there were 
four wood fires thickening, to make a square 50 
yards wide by 30 yards long around the 
imaginary half way line. 

Into the semi incandescent light, 
accompanied by native drums, came the Basuto 
Tribesmen, in loin cloths, animal skins, spears, 
shields, head dresses and war-paint. We couldn’t 
see the drummers, but the throbbing sound 
invaded our minds, insistent and persistent. 



There must of been a hundred of these 
men, they moved in lines, shuffling then 
stamping, chanting and shouting. The light from 
the fires was enough to cause large shadows as 
the tribesmen moved from lines to a circle. Their 
shields were oval, about five feet long and multi-
coloured with tassels. (Human hair? We 
shuddered) the war-paint covered their faces, 
bodies arms legs. Their savagery was real. 

They moved from one dance to another 
without stopping , only the drumming varied, 
from light to very loud, and quick to slow. In 
some they chanted, in others they waved their 
spears aggressively, their feet moving in rhythm 
with everyone else. When they stamped, we felt 
the tremor. 

They staged a mock battle, both sides 
withdrawing 40 yards apart, the two leaders 
emerged, shouting to their respective “armies”. 
The drums stopped. There was silence. Then, an 
almighty shout as the two groups rushed 
headlong at each other with a clash of shields. 
The drums began their throbbing. There were 
screams, cries and shouts. The scene got a bit 
hazy as the dust and sand began to churn up. 

It seemed the “right hand” army had won 
as the left hand army ran away into the darkness 
leaving bodies which the victors were dragging 
across to their side. This was real. The victors did 
another dance round the pile of bodies. There 
must have been twenty at least. All on top of one 
another. 



It looked ghastly. You could tell it was a 
victory dance by the escalation in the carrying of 
both spear and shield, and spears were being 
pointed at the bodies as they moved and chanted 
in a circle. 

 

 
 
Perhaps the next formation was in front of 

the bodies, we never saw them go, but it looked 
as though the Basuto’s had got a full house for 
the finale, where, to the accompaniment of these 
mind splitting drums, chanting and moving 
towards us slowly but relentlessly, full of 
menace. Two lines of these barriers, shields 
forward, spears raised and glinting shoulder high. 



They came within 50 yards of us, the fires 
making the shadows even more grotesque. Drums 
beating and feet stamping in unison, they threw 
their spears over our heads to the empty ground 
behind us. The whistle as they all came 
simultaneously, was not a pretty sound, more like 
the hissing of a snake shattering our nerves even 
more. 

The fires were dampened as if by magic, 
the drums stopped at the same time, we were in 
darkness, lit only by a semi-moonlit desert night, 
and tomorrow would be Christmas. 
  

R.A. Burton. 
Whalley Range, 

Manchester. 
 



LEFT OR RIGHT 
(A Soldier’s Dilemma) 

 
This is not, as the title might suggest, a matter of 
politics; rather it was a matter of almost 
certainly, life or death.     

  
The scene was set in Italy in 1944. The 

place, by the River Rapido in front of Monte 
Cassino, around which there had been a lot of 
fierce fighting, the date, possibly the 12th May. 
Our Battalion of Infantry had been moved up 
near the river a couple of days previously, to 
prepare for a crossing in small boats. I was part 
of the beach party whose job it was to lead them, 
with their boats, about a mile up to the riverbank 
and see them safely across.  

On the night of the 11th, the beach party 
took the first troops down to the river. At about 
2300hrs, the artillery barrage started. It was the 
biggest barrage of the war so far. The noise was 
deafening but we still had to see to the troops 
crossing the river. Naturally the enemy opened 
fire at once and a lot of the men were hit. Some 
boats were overturned and many men were 
drowned. 

All this time, our party were still going 
back and forward to the main force, bringing up 
men and boats under constant shellfire. I must 
admit that I was scared, as having been wounded 
only five weeks previously, I did not want 
another wound, possibly worse this time. 



The forward troops had not advanced 
very far, so our beach party had to stay on our 
side of the river for a couple of days until a 
bridge was put up to take tanks and troops. We 
were still being shelled. 

 

 
 
Some of the engineers who were building 

the bridge were wounded by shellfire. Nobby 
Clark and I were close by when this happened. In 
fact, we had to dive in a ditch by their truck. We 
put a wounded sergeant on a stretcher and carried 



him back to a dressing station. This was about a 
mile back up the road. We left him there for 
treatment. Nobby went back to the river on his 
own and I sat outside the dressing station on the 
side of the road having a smoke and wrestling 
with my conscience. 

It was a question of turning left or right. If 
I turn right, I’m back with my men. If I turn left 
and walk away, I would find peace and quiet. I’d 
be running away, but then how would I live. 
Where would I get food and money to survive on, 
and clothes to wear? I knew that lots of men were 
living like that but I am afraid that I didn’t think I 
could do it. 

Then I thought that I would be letting my 
comrades down. After all, I was an ex sergeant, 
with ten years service in the same regiment. I 
would hardly set a good example. After all, the 
Army had been my mother and father for ten 
years. It had fed me, clothed me, and paid me. I 
had a lot to be thankful for. I had a lot of good 
friends in the unit and they would not look too 
kindly on me if I turned left. 

All this went through my mind as I sat 
there smoking. I thought on the other hand, if I 
get up and turn right and go back to the river, I 
shall be going back to the shelling with a possible 
chance of being wounded again, but at least my 
conscience would be clear. I could look my 
comrades in the eye again. 

By this time, I had finished my cigarette. 
My mind was made up. I stood up, put my 



equipment back on, picked up my Tommy Gun 
and turning right, marched off down the road 
back to the muck and bullets. 

I never regretted my decision, and as it 
turned out, I survived the rest of the war without 
a scratch. So the right turned out to be right. I 
wonder now if the dressing station had been on 
the other side of the road, would the left have 
been right and the right wrong? 
 

C. Monks. 
Surbiton, 

Surrey. 
 



THE GOTHIC LINE 
 

This story took place between 17th - 20th 
September 1944. Italy. 

After being in hospital with severe 
shrapnel wounds received when in action with 
the 2nd battalion Bed’s and Hert’s Regiment, 
during the fourth and final battle of Cassino in 
May 1944. I returned to my battalion on 
September the 17th. I was just in time for a night 
assault on the formidable Gothic Line on the 
Adriatic front. The 8th army was engaged in 
fierce battles on a thirty mile front, against nine 
German divisions. They were defending well 
prepared defensive positions, created by the 
TOTD Organisation. 

The offensive started on the 25th August, 
both sides suffering terrific losses. From the 
many prisoners taken and interrogated, it was 
evident that the crack German divisions had been 
badly mauled. The strain of battle of the past 
three weeks was beginning to tell. Prisoners 
looked shell shocked, bewildered and dejected. It 
was considered that if pressure could be 
maintained a little longer, the whole German 
defences would collapse. 

With this in mind, reserves were brought 
up: including the 2nd battalion Beds and Herts 
Regiment, which formed part of the 10th 
Brigade, 4th British Division. It was to establish 
a bridgehead over the Ausa river and take the 



high ground beyond. ‘D’ company, our battalion, 
were to spear head the attack. 

The Beds and Hert’s assembled north east 
of Arlotti, a mile and a half from the Ausa. At 
2300 hrs. September 17th, Brigadier Shoosmith, 
(10th Brigade Commander) ordered them to 
move off. 

 
Prisoner of the Weh - Rmacht. 

 
The actual crossing of the Ausa, ‘D’ 

Company’s objective, was not expected to be 
difficult. It was to be made without the revelation 
of our strength by any display of artillery. As the 
three platoons advanced in single file into enemy 
territory, searchlights made their appearance, 
piercing the night sky at a low angle and lighting 
up the battlefield. 

At the time I was a rifleman, (acting 
runner) in 18 platoon, under the command of 
Lieutenant Norton. 

Advancing cautiously for a few hundred 
yards through ploughed fields, without any 
interference from the enemy, the leading patrol 
hit a dirt road. On the far side running parallel 
was a high railway embankment, with a four foot 
deep drainage ditch and it’s natural advantage for 
the company’s advance was too obvious to miss. 
Quickly, we crossed the road and soon, the men 
of the three platoon’s with Company HQ and 
stretcher bearers bringing up the rear were firmly 
installed within the ditches protective walls.  



From then on the advance continued on 
hands and knees, and at a much slower pace. We 
were well into German territory and it could be 
expected that they would know of our presence. 
It was only when the section leader of the 
forward platoon held up his hand in a signal to 
stop, that danger was scented. Automatically, he 
climbed out of the ditch and on to his feet. 

From a large haystack to our right, (by 
passed by in the forward platoons advance) a 
scuffling could be heard, and the distinctive 
sounds of weapon bolts being drawn. Suddenly... 
There was a movement ahead in the darkness. 
Dark figures appeared and instantly, shots rang 
out. The section leader froze for a second of 
horrified reaction. Staring in disbelief, transfixed 
by what he saw, he stepped back one pace and 
opened fire with his Tommy Gun. The startled 
German soldier facing him opened up at exactly 
the same moment with his Schmeisser and they 
both fell dead. 

Now the Germans ran forward and from a 
weapon pit, deep down inside the haystack, 
German automatic fire, swept over the ditch, 
allowing more Germans to come forward, 
converging from both sides. The walls of the 
ditch 

provided a much firmer base for rifle fire 
which permitted the marksmanship of the Beds 
and Herts to be more accurate. The attack broke 
up. A lull in the fighting followed and the long 
line of bobbing steel helmets remained intact. 



After reorganising their forces, the enemy 
again tried to reach ‘D’ Company’s position. In 
the confusion of grenade and small arms fire, one 
of the attackers somehow managed to reach the 
ditch, hurling himself on top of the crouching 
defenders. For a moment of two, the crazed 
German caused quite a flap, it being too 
dangerous to fire in the narrow confines of the 
ditch. A scuffle broke out and it was quickly 
broken up when the butt of a British ‘Lee 
Enfield’ rifle was driven into the face of the 
German with brutal alacrity. Without any 
ceremony the unconscious German was quickly 
hurled into the middle of the road.  

By now, it was obvious that the enemy 
held haystack with it’s dug in weapon-pit was the 
main pivot of the German attack. We were 
ordered to destroy it. Soon phosphorous grenades 
and belts of tracer were thumping into it. We then 
held our fire for what seemed like an eternity. 
Flaming tracer still crackled from the weapon pit. 
Suddenly there was a quick upward whoosh of 
flame and heat. The next moment the haystack 
became an inferno of blazing straw. 

The Germans were forced to back out 
quickly, as gouts of burning straw fell inwards. 
Bullets kicked up the earth around them. In a 
mad dash for the safety of his own lines, a 
German with his clothes on fire ran on 
screaming. “Nicht schiessen! Wir sind deutsche 
soldaten!” (Don’t shoot! I am a German soldier!) 
He was almost there when a Bren gave a chatter 



and the German fell forward with a cry. The 
German’s were formidable opponents, but it was 
overpoweringly clear that they were up against a 
brick wall. The men of ‘D’ Company waited but 
there were no more attacks. 

This surprise German attack was to be the 
dominating factor in ‘D’ Company’s failure to 
take their objective, for the noise of the 
engagement now put the river defenders on full 
alert. However at the time there was nothing we 
could do about it. It was decided that we should 
continue with the advance. 

This we did after crawling on hands and 
knees for a few more yards. Our protective ditch 
finally petering out. Wheeling left, we kept on 
course for the river and in doing so again, found 
ourselves crossing ploughed terrain. It having 
rained heavily previous to the attack, and the 
crouching men saddled with awkward long 
handled shovels besides the usual paraphernalia 
of war, found the heavy loam extremely hard 
going. We started off running in a low crouch but 
soon ended up slithering on our stomachs.  

At around this time of our advance, it was 
discovered that some medics and signallers 
belonging to Company HQ, were missing. In the 
surprise German attack they had been well to the 
rear having taken no part in the battle. It was 
presumed they had been left behind in the ditch. I 
was ordered to go and round them up. 

The haystack was blazing away like a 
torch on the skyline as I set out on my mission. 



On reaching the dirt road there was ample and 
horrible evidence of the previous fighting. The 
zealous section leader who had climbed out of 
the ditch to be confronted buy a German 
Schmeisser, was lying flat on his back in a 
grotesque attitude of death close to his German 
counterpart. So close were they that the soles of 
their boots were touching. 

Whilst propped up against a smouldering 
German corpse sat the crazed German (who 
having been thrown out of the ditch and 
survived) had amazingly regained consciousness. 
He was celebrating his good fortune with pitiful 
moans and bewildered shakes of the head. I’d no 
time to wet nurse him now, finding the men was 
more important. 

After finding my bearings on hands and 
knees, I crawled along the ditch. Eighty yards on 
I found them. Puzzled and bewildered they 
hadn’t a clue as to what was going on. When the 
first shots had rang out, Sgt Major Kennedy, after 
ordering them to stay put, had quickly shot off to 
join the affray.  

In the turmoil of battle, he had completely 
forgotten all about them. They being well trained 
soldiers and used to discipline had obeyed and 
were still awaiting the order of command to 
move out. The haystack was still crackling 
fiercely as we moved off. 

I thought that we would never catch up 
with the rest of ‘D’ Company for the 
cumbersome stretchers, slowed us down to a 



crawling pace. What with this and the possibility 
of running into a German sortie, I was feeling far 
from happy. Eventually, after rushing the pace a 
shade faster, we came across the rest of the men 
hurriedly assembling near the bottom of a steep 
ridge, under the watchful eye of the CSM. They 
were shaping up in preparation for the assault on 
the River Ausa defences. 

On handing over my charges to him 
without any ‘ifs or buts’, he quickly hustled me 
in to the ranks of the section that was to lead the 
attack. Other sections were to follow up in waves 
if the attack was successful. With an encouraging 
nod from the Company Commander, in extended 
formation, the forward section moved slowly 
towards the crest. It was pretty rugged at the top. 
I ended up with my body perched precariously 
over the lip of the ridge. 

In complete silence we awaited the 
command to attack. We had not long to wait. 
From the Company Commander, a slight nod to 
the Sergeant Major. A slight pause. Up went the 
Sergeant Major’s hand and over the top we went. 
Barely had we gone ten yards, when the enemy 
reacted vigorously with small arms fire. The 
charge developed with good force. With rifles 
and tommy guns we returned the fire as best as 
we could. Things didn’t seem to be going too 
badly until a Spandau suddenly hissed into 
violent, frightening life, quickly followed by 
another. Hundreds of bullets were buzzing 
around like angry hornets and they weren’t 



choosy whom they stung. A long piercing scream 
from the rear told us that the follow up section 
were running into difficulties. The line wavered 
then fell back with heavy fire coming from the 
front and both flanks. The forward section had no 
option but to try and join them. 

With this end in mind they broke off the 
attack smartly doing a left wheel that would 
eventually take them back over the crest of the 
ridge to safety. I tried to join them but in my 
glorious gallop, I had gone too far. I was the most 
advanced of the line with the added disadvantage 
of being pin pointed by the german machine 
gunners. I thought surely this must be the end as 
a stream of sparkling rec tracer, came flashing 
towards me. I felt a violent blow to my head. My 
knees buckled, then gave out on me.  

I tried to raise myself, but the blow to my 
head had a more pernicious effect than I had 
imagined. When I was half way up, I paused 
wavered, then crashed to the ground unconscious. 
I don’t know how long the German’s waited 
before deciding to come out of their positions and 
pick me up but I remember how quiet it seemed 
at the time. 

A medic was in attendance as I was 
helped to my feet, but even though wounded and 
incapable of resistance, Jerry was taking no 
chances. I felt the muzzle of a loaded Luger 
boring into my ribs, followed by the guttural cry 
of “Hande hoch”. (Hands up) I knew then with 



complete certainty of body, soul and mind that I 
was a prisoner. 

 
Escape. 
 

There is not much to tell about my escape. 
Anyone could have done it. It was never the epic 
it was made out to be. How was it done? I hear 
you ask. Simple. I did it through flattery, cunning 
and ruthlessness, but pray, let me continue with 
my story. 

I suppose there are worse things in life 
than having a loaded Luger jabbed in one’s ribs 
by a trigger happy warrior belonging to the Third 
Reich, whilst tottering down a bleak Italian ridge 
during the early hours of a cold September 
morning, but at the time, I certainly couldn’t 
think of one. Half supported by the unarmed 
medic and a Luger tickling my ribs. On tottering 
legs, I eventually reached the bottom. 

By now the rays of first light were 
creeping over the battlefield and I was very 
impressed by the outlay of the German defences. 
A long line of deeply dug slit trenches met my 
eyes. Heavily manned by automatic wielding 
Germans and interlocked with heavily sand-
bagged machine gun nests. The more I saw of 
them, the more I realised what a daunting 
prospect “D” Company had taken on. At the time 
I remember thinking how ludicrous it was that 
only one company had been thrown in against 
them. 



In the background, the “Ausa” was 
plainly visible,it looked insignificant to say the 
least. It had a dry shingle bed with only a trickle 
of water. From what I could see of it, it didn’t 
seem worth all the fuss, much less a scorching 
from a German bullet. 

Skirting past the last of the machine gun 
nests, with gawking Jerries staring at me as 
though they’d never seen an Englishman before, 
we were brought to a halt by a lurking sentry. 
Behind him, in a large hollow lay a cream 
coloured building. Typically italian, strongly 
built, with walls of solid stone, sadly now 
showing shell scorched gaping gaps. A mute 
testimony to the accuracy of British field 
artillery. 

In better days this badly dilapidated 
building would have been a prosperous farm 
house. Now shorn of all it’s beauty, it had been 
degenerated to the roll of a German Infantry 
Regiment’s Headquarters. With a flick of the 
sentry’s Schmeisser we were told to enter. 

I was prodded down a long flight of stone 
steps leading into a large dimly lit cellar that in 
more peaceful days would have been a shelter for 
the farmer’s cattle and poultry. Stone floors 
where pigs had once lain had been taken over by 
sleeping German soldiers. 

Someone placed an upturned ammo-box 
in front of me and with a lot of arm waving and 
guttural noises from my Luger toting escort I was 
commanded to sit. At least that’s what I 



presumed he meant. I did not understand the 
words although it was evident from his gesturing 
and his tone of voice what was expected of me. 
In the half light afforded me, he looked a rough 
bugger, a sturdy six foot Austrian with legs like 
Black Forest tree trunks, with a splash of mouth 
and penetrating eyes of cold marble. 

After my ordeal on the ridge I wasn’t 
feeling too chirpy, my mouth was parched and I 
felt dizzy. I made signs of wanting to drink, I 
wasn’t fussy, anything would do. With I’ll grace 
my guard got me a mug of water. I quaffed it 
down and felt better. Satisfied with having done 
his duty and done it well, the six foot Austrian 
reluctantly holstered his Luger. After grunting a 
few words of advice in the medics ear he then 
strutted his way up the long flight of steps, 
pulling aside the blanket that served as a door. I 
thought “bloody good riddance” as his backside 
disappeared from view. He hadn’t finished with 
me yet, through the opening, a head appeared, he 
had viciousness stamped indelibly upon his ugly 
face and he glared with a long piercing stare, 
followed by the cry “English Schwein” then he 
was gone. 

It was while the medic was swabbing my 
head wound, which luckily for me turned out to 
be an insignificant shallow groove, when into the 
cellar strode the Commanding Officer escorted 
by three of his senior NCO’s. A dark haired thick 
set Major of medium height, over the thirty mark 



with ample fruit salad on his chest to prove he’d 
been around a bit. 

The Major exuded friendliness, from him 
came a cynical glance at the bleeding wound. 
From the NCO’s a lot of shaking of heads and 
grunts of disbelief. The Officer brought forth pen 
and paper ah! I thought just my bloody luck. An 
interrogation in the offing and here’s me sporting 
a dirty great hang-over that any Irish Navvy 
would have given his right arm to own. As it 
turned out it was never on the cards. 

“I’ve seen worse concussions” said the 
Major watching the medic bandage my head. The 
Officer surprised me greatly by speaking in 
English, with a strange pronunciation, but with 
considerable fluency. Then he added, with a 
twisted smile “had the wound been any deeper 
my young man, a dressing would not have been 
needed.” All the while he was talking, never 
once, did the sardonic expression leave his face. 
He certainly was a bright spark. Whoever it was, 
who said, that the Germans have no sense of 
humour obviously had never had the pleasure of 
meeting this one. 

No sooner had my wound been cleaned 
and dressed when a small table was brought forth 
and placed in front of the Officer. I was then 
thoroughly searched by one of the NCO’s, from 
out of my webbing pouch the first object was 
brought forth, one lone phosphorous grenade. It’s 
twin I had lobbed in the haystack. A flicker of 
interest lit up the Major’s face, but the sardonic 



smile remained. No doubt by now he’d heard all 
about the ‘fire fight’ and of the dire consequence 
concerning the men trapped in the haystack. 

After the grenade, there followed the 
usual ‘bric-a-brac’ to be found in the battledress 
pockets of any normal British Tommy. Clasp 
knife, pay book, fags and matches etc. But the 
highlight of the search, was saved towards the 
end with the arrival on the desk, of a neatly tied 
up bundle of letters. Each one not only bearing 
my name, rank and number, but also the name of 
my regiment. I felt a right twerp, but how was I 
to know that I was going to be taken prisoner? 

With this free information staring the 
Major in the face, the proceedings livened up a 
bit. A party atmosphere took to the air. The 
Officer’s sardonic smile turned into a positive 
leer.  

The way he hugged that pathetic bundle 
of letters close to his chest, any one would have 
thought that he had found the ‘Holy Grail’. In no 
time at all, it had vanished along with my pay 
book into his top tunic pocket. Even the poker 
faced NCO’s gave vent to silly titterings. Silly 
prats. If they were happy, I certainly wasn’t. 

It wasn’t the fact of them finding out the 
name of my regiment that bothered me as I 
doubted very much if the information gleaned, 
would make the slightest difference in the long 
run, as to the outcome of the war. Of course it 
didn’t. My only crib was that I hadn’t even read 
the damned things. All the letters taken were the 



ones that had been accumulating in the Battalion 
orderly room awaiting my return from hospital. I 
raged inside. “What’s the world coming to?” I 
asked myself. A joke’s a joke, but this is bloody 
ridiculous. My first night in action since leaving 
hospital and already I’d been shot, taken prisoner, 
and as if that wasn’t bad enough, now the 
Germans had purloined my mail. I was really 
sickened. 

As it was, my german captors never did 
interrogate me. On reflection, it is not hard to see 
the reason why. During my hours of captivity, I 
was to see the German Major and his NCO’s just 
one more time. That was during the late 
afternoon of that same day. September 18th. Up 
until then, I had seen the German medic pop in 
and out a couple of times, but he had his own 
wounded troops to attend to. I also had a visit 
from my over zealous Austrian captor, but apart 
from that, I was on my own. I felt quite isolated 
and down in the dumps as I hadn’t the blind 
notion of what was going on. 

It was while I was having a drag from a 
German weed, kindly thrown to me from a 
resting soldier, that the Luger toting Austrian put 
in his appearance. Full of vulgarity, he was 
proudly carrying my steel helmet. I lie. I should 
have said. The remains of my steel helmet, which 
reminds me. Credit where credit’s due. It came 
out later, that the crazy B.....D had retrieved it 
from the ridge whilst under heavy shellfire. 



When it was handed around for close 
inspection, even the battle hardened Germans, 
expressed emotion. There were ‘oohs and ahs’ 
and even the odd whistle or two. I too felt like 
whistling when I saw it. (Oh,the damage they had 
done to my beautiful tin hat.) There were two 
bullet holes, plumb in line with each other. The 
entrance hole, small, neat and tidy. It’s 
counterpart a much larger more jagged affair 
which said a great deal for German 
marksmanship, if not for British steel. I thanked 
the Lord for giving me a thick skull, but most of 
all, the German machine gunner for only 
grooving it. I will bless him ‘till the day I die. 

Even the crazy Austrian joined in the 
excitement looking at me with understanding. He 
didn’t stay long. On his departure, my shoulder 
received a light pat of condolence from a large 
beefy hand. It should have cheered me up but it 
didn’t. I was missing my own kind. Strutting 
German soldiers in their camouflaged steel pot 
helmets were poor substitutes for the lads  

of ‘D’ Company. I tried to comfort myself 
in the knowledge that they would not be too far 
away and at any minute they would be coming to 
my rescue. I was having myself on. Even a dolt 
like me. 

It was pretty obvious that by now, ‘D’ 
Company would have left the vicinity of the 
ridge and would have dug themselves in 
somewhere more defendable. It would need much 



more than three platoons of infantry to over run 
these well prepared defences. 

As it happened, ‘D’ Company was not all 
that far away. This I found out later. Having 
found it impossible to reach the river Ausa 
against such fierce enemy resistance, the 
Company Commander wisely ordered them to 
withdraw. This was done and the men dug in 
some fifty yards to the rear of the ridge. 

During the day, the company came under 
heavy attack from a superior German force. It 
was only on the arrival of a squadron of British 
tanks, that the men were able to withdraw to a 
more stable position. In this action, Major Wilson 
and CSM Kennedy were both were seriously 
wounded. Shortly afterwards, British artillery 
opened fire on the river positions with high 
explosives. It was a foretaste of things to come. 

Already, ‘A’ and ‘B’ Company of the 
Bed’s and Hert’s, had crossed the Ausa half a 
mile to the north west. They were forging ahead 
in a bid to cut off the remaining enemy held river 
positions, while to our front, the advancing east 
surreys were less than a mile distant. Following 
up the infantry and their supporting armour, 
poised ready to exploit their success, were ‘12’ 
and ‘28’ Brigade. Each supported by a brigade of 
tanks. 

There was no doubt at all, that if ‘4’ Div’ 
could keep up the pressure for a little while 
longer, the whole structure of the river defences 
would collapse. It happened that all this was 



known to the German Major and most probably 
the senior NCO’s also. No doubt a plan had been 
hatched beforehand on how to save their own 
skins should such an emergency arise. One had. 
It came with dramatic suddenness. It even caught 
me by surprise. 

During the late afternoon, another British 
stonk rained in on the German river positions. Far 
more accurate than the previous one this time. 
Screeching British high explosives bracketed the 
building. In five minutes the cellar emptied, 
except for a lone sentry nervously pacing back 
and forth outside the opening. I was alone. It was 
now that thoughts of escaping crossed my mind. 
Was it possible? I wondered. 

I couldn’t help but notice, the pacing 
sentry wasn’t up to the usual standard of German 
efficiency. Every now and then a large tin potted 
head thrust itself through the opening, followed 
by a stare from two sheepish eyes. Then he’d 
disappear for a crafty smoke. He looked a real 
beanhead. A great blubbery berk with a flabby 
chin and a waddle. ‘Ah, I thought. It’s good to 
see that the ‘super race’ has a slug in their camp. 
That evens things up a bit. Shouldn’t be hard 
getting past him. A bit of cheek, a bit of luck and 
a miracle thrown in and the dopey fat B.....D 
would be left in his tracks. Then ‘hey presto’ 
young Mr Scully would be back to the safety of 
the British lines. Anything but this unbearable 
waiting. 



As it turned out, my hastily planned dash 
for freedom was never put to the test and a good 
job too. On looking back, I don’t think that I 
would have stood an earthly. I would more likely 
have ended up being recaptured and shot. 
German soldiers didn’t believe in taking 
prisoners twice. In their eyes it was valuable time 
wasted, but such is the brashness of youth, that at 
the time, I was all for it. I even still get the 
‘wobbles’ just thinking about it. It’s amazing 
how in the space of a few minutes, the course of 
events effecting one’s life, can alter so 
dramatically, but that’s how it happened to me on 
that late September afternoon whilst the British 
guns were stonking the Ausa. In fact, it was just 
ten minutes. 

Meanwhile, I was reflecting on the pros 
and cons of a sudden departure as outside the 
earth was being torn apart by the thundering 
vibrations. After mangling up the weapon pits, 
British guns again ranged in on the German 
headquarters. The first shell to hit the building 
came with a sudden rush.  

Exploding somewhere on the roof. More 
shells followed. Fragments of tiles and masonry 
showered upon the pacing sentry like confetti. It 
took him just half a minute to clear the flight of 
cellar steps. Fear shone from his eyes as he dived 
on to the blanket beside me on the cellar floor, 
crouching in a ball as he landed. 

A few figures appeared at the top of the 
flight of steps. Then more joined them. I saw 



amongst the new arrivals, the German Officer. 
Surrounding him looking perplexed and 
obviously agitated, were the senior NCO’s. A 
heated discussion took place. While this was 
going on, more men kept crowding into the 
cellar. I could see by the worried looks on their 
faces, that a British attack against their positions 
was expected. 

The atmosphere was electric. I watched 
the anxiety in the cellar, heat to a cherry glow. At 
the top of the steps the heated discussion was 
increasing in ‘neins’ and ‘ja’s’. A smattering of 
teuton oaths were being bandied around in 
abundance by furious NCO’s. Through it all, the 
Officer remained calm and unruffled and the 
haughtiness of his bearing was out of this world. 
It was like watching a film ‘and a comedy at that’ 
I use the term comedy in the loosest term 
possible. I tell you in all my born days, never 
ever have I seen such a bloody pantomime. It was 
more toe curling than watching ‘Babes in the 
Wood’ 

Displaying arrogant scorn, the Officer 
managed to take control of the situation. A ‘pep 
talk’ followed. No sooner had things quietened 
down when the Officer looked up as a 
crescendoing, reverberating howl grew overhead. 
Almost immediately there was a massed 
scramble of the holed up Germans. It was 
mesmerizing to watch. In no time at all, the 
stalwarts of the ‘Master Race’ had glued 
themselves to the floor. Shells burst with violent 



thuds all around the building and the whole 
structure shook to it’s very foundations. I thought 
it was going to come down on top of us. 

A cordite laden atmosphere filled the 
interior of the cellar with acrid fumes and men 
began to cough. The din outside was infernal. 
The heat inside stifling. I had a quivering , 
churning of the nerves down in my gut. I didn’t 
want to be killed yet. Least of all by my own 
shells. “It would be just my bloody luck” I said to 
myself as I wormed my body deeper still into the 
cellar floor. 

At long last,after what seemed an eternity, 
the shelling fell silent. Cowering men crept out of 
their corners gazing sheep faced at one another, 
amazed that they were still alive. Much more 
amazing was the fact that during the shelling, the 
major and all the senior NCO’s had seen fit to 
make good their escape. It was eerie. One minute 
they were with us and the next they were gone. 
They didn’t even say auf wiedersehen, see you 
later, or any of the conventional parting words 
normally shared between comrades in arms. They 
just went away. There was no explanation. No 
apologies or nothing. It was a ‘kiss my arse’ 
farewell. It beggars description. 

Not long after, I had a word in the 
medic’s ear about this strange phenomenon. He 
seemed highly agitated by the whole business. In 
a strange mixture of fluent Italian, broken 
English and German swear words. He admitted it 
was a poor showing on the Officers part, but 



declared rather hastily I thought, that the Major’s 
decamping from the field of battle would have 
been on direct orders of German high command. 

He pointed out, with justification I 
thought (for I knew it to be correct) that in 
German front line units, Officer casualty figures, 
were much higher in proportion to those of other 
ranks. In turn, I assured him the same applied in 
British front line units. I also pointed out (almost 
rubbing it in) that in no way. Higher casualty 
figures or not, would a British Officer desert his 
men in time of battle. He smiled revealing tall 
straight teeth, then surprised me greatly by 
quoting in passable English that schoolboys 
favourite idiom. ‘He who fights and runs away’ it 
seemed to call for something from me. So I said. 
“Hear, hear” and chuckled in agreement. 

Already, I had a notion, that the future 
facing me wasn’t going to be all wine and roses. 
For the time being, it would be best for me to 
float with the tide, and who better to float with 
than this easy going young medic. He could get 
me out of the pickle I now found myself in. I 
would need a friend, German or otherwise. 
Besides, with him being a medic and all that, he 
was king of his own cabbage patch. He would 
hold some sway over the ‘common herd’. Yes! I 
assured myself. He would most certainly be a 
useful ally to have around. From that time on, I 
clung to him desperately. 

I now took stock of the situation. From 
what I could gather, what once had been a 



seasoned fighting unit of well over two hundred 
Germans, had, in ten days of hard fighting, been 
whittled down to just over two score men. 
Including the wounded. Food supplies were non 
existent. Medical supplies were running out and 
now with no leader or senior NCO’s to bolster 
them up, most of the men refused to man their 
posts. They remained in the cellar shuffling 
around like ruptured bullocks. Their chances of 
survival looked very slim indeed. 

With all the signs in my favour, I had a 
notion that there would never be a better time 
than now to test the possibility of them 
surrendering to me.  

Darkness was creeping into the cellar as I 
approached the only NCO left amongst them. A 
tall, ugly, and skinny man. I ambushed him with 
the most important part of my armoury. Bare 
faced cheek. Bluntly, I put my notion to him. It 
went down like a body wrapped in lead. He 
gaped at me dumbfounded, then laughed. Though 
how much mirth was in the laughter was difficult 
to estimate. The others echoed the laughter until 
he put up his hand. They feared the British attack 
and quickly cottoned on, that in me they had a 
safe passport for the future and it must be said for 
the skinny NCO, though sadly lacking in meat. 
Offset he made up with deceit and cunning. 

“The medic’s the man to see” he 
whispered slyly throwing me a knowing wink. 
He pointed a bony finger in the general direction 
of the medic’s corner. The medic’s eyebrow rose 



and a thin smile formed on his lips as I appeared 
before him. “Ah.” He murmured fixing me with 
anxious eyes. “Just the man I want to see” he 
went on to explain that the condition of the 
wounded was worsening by the hour. “I have no 
morphine to ease their pain and the lack of food 
does not help.” He added bitterly. 

I could see he was a man of high principle 
and integrity. A man who walked the battlefield 
unarmed would have need of such things I 
reasoned. I flopped on the blanket beside him. He 
didn’t look the part. Even in the gloom of the 
cellar, I could see he was very young. Younger 
than me perhaps! His face was unlined. Smooth 
and fleshy like a baby’s, but it was all very 
deceptive. Under that soft skin lay a layer of 
steel. It’s not often I’m swayed by any emotion 
but during the next few hours he was to grow on 
me like a brother. With him there was mo need to 
lay on the charm and jam. We understood each 
other perfectly.  

My main intention was a quick return to 
the British lines (in one piece if possible.) His 
was the welfare and safety of the German 
wounded. We both agreed that the only way these 
two things could be made possible, would be to 
try and persuade the remaining Germans to throw 
in the towel. “We’ll have to tread very carefully,” 
said the medic, peering anxiously at the sleeping 
forms around him. Some of the men still think a 
British withdrawal is possible. “Silly B......S”, I 



thought. While preparing to get my head down. 
They’ve some hopes of that. I know what I think. 

There was to be no sleep for me that 
night. The skinny NCO saw to that. The Germans 
though stupid in some ways, are not so stupid 
when it comes to protecting their own skins. Just 
in case a British attack did come during the night, 
my sleeping blanket was given pride of place at 
the foot of the cellar stairs. I tried to sleep but the 
guards kept waking me. As I nodded off I would 
hear a sharp; “nicht schlafen” (no sleeping) I 
tossed and turned on the stone cellar floor. I 
couldn’t wait for morning to come. I was up a 
0630. There was no sense in freezing to death.  

Some excitement was caused, when it was 
discovered that the machine-gun crews had stole 
away during the hours of darkness, taking their 
spandaus with them. Also eloped had the six foot 
Austrian and the skinny NCO, which to my way 
of thinking, just about left me as ‘Commander-in-
Chief’ and the medic as second in command. 
Strangely enough, it so happened this was the 
way it turned out to be. 

The Germans that were left, were a 
motley crew. All except the medic that is. He 
joined forces with me in persuading the men that 
they would be far better off as prisoners of war. 
We tried very hard. We ran ourselves into the 
ground as they say, but in all fairness, most of the 
spadework was done by him. He could be quite 
persuasive. He was a real charmer, dropping a 
hint here, flashing a smile there. It seemed to 



work wonders for in no time at all, his fellow 
countrymen were eating out of his hand. My part 
for what it was worth, consisted of telling 
whopping great lies to the, by now infatuated 
Germans, (for I quickly adopted a ‘Lord of the 
Manor approach in the cellar) I played the part 
that well. 

The fools thought I could walk on water. 
In no time at all, most of them were in favour of 
surrendering. There was only one condition, and 
that was, they must all be sent to Canada. It 
seemed a strange request to me but they were set 
on the idea. Apparently, they had heard good 
reports on the ‘cushiness’ of the P.O.W. Camps 
in the land of the maple tree. In no way, did I try 
to dishearten them. If it was Canada they wanted, 
well so be it. 

Piling on the famous Yorkshire charm 
thick and heavy, I gave them a solemn promise 
that I, Private Bill Scully, would personally 
escort them aboard their ship when due to sail to 
their chosen destination. The poor mugs believed 
me. How was I to get them back to the British 
lines though? That was now my problem. For the 
next twenty four hours, I was to be their father 
confessor and Company Commander. Things 
never quite seemed the same when I reverted 
back to my old rank of private.  

All along the front heavy shelling was 
continuing from both sides. There was not much 
hope of us moving out of the cellar that day and 
no possibility of moving out during the night. We 



were being torn apart by friend and foe alike. 
This I told the medic when discussing the 
problem with him. So it was agreed that unless 
the British advance reached us beforehand, we 
would evacuate the cellar at first light the 
following morning. It being the quietest part of 
the day. 

Around 1700 hrs that same afternoon, 
sounds of heavy battle could be heard about half 
a mile distant to our front. The medic and I 
climbed the stairs to the third floor of the 
building. From it’s imposing height we had a 
panoramic view of the terrain. Through the 
powerful pair of binoculars we watched the 
outcome of the battle. It didn’t last long. Two 
Churchill tanks were already brewing up as I 
swept the terrain. Another sluiced on it’s side 
when hit by a German eighty eight. 

I saw the British Infantry, somewhat tiny 
at the distance, run for cover. Then the stretcher 
bearers scouring the battlefield for the wounded. 
Then the British went to ground. Apparently they 
had a battle on their hands. Dimensions were 
difficult to determine. There was no point in 
watching any more. 

It was time to visit the German wounded. 
They were on the ground floor, six of them, 
sprawling around on stretchers. Legs bandaged, 
arms bandaged, they all had limb wounds except 
one. “This was the outcome of your attack” 
murmured the medic with a slight whiff of acid in 
his voice. I didn’t know what to say, so I didn’t 



say anything. The one lying on his back worried 
me. I figured that someone had done one hell of a 
good job on his face. I prayed that it hadn’t been 
me. 

A bullet had bored through both cheeks 
removing the tongue on it’s way out. All that 
remained visible were a pair of pain shot eyes 
and a bloody stump of flesh where his tongue 
used to be. He was completely bandaged from the 
neck up. The medic had dome a good job. The 
bandages were that tightly drawn it seemed as 
though his head was encased in plaster of Paris. 
He must have been an NCO for I could not help 
but notice the black leather belt complete with 
holstered Luger that lay at the foot of his 
stretcher. The opportunity was too good to miss. 
Whilst the medic was making his way to the 
cellar, I quickly flipped the heavy Luger from out 
of it’s leather holster into the inside of my 
battledress blouse. It disappeared. 

Strangely enough, no one in the room 
batted an eyelid or voiced a word of protest 
although they’d all seen me do it. I thought it 
strange at the time, but looking back it was 
highly probable they mistook me for one of the 
advance guards from the main British force. 
However, at the time I felt elated. It felt good to 
have my hands on a weapon again. Be it German 
or otherwise. 

It was highly improbable that the luger 
would be needed, but I was born with a 
suspicious nature and a dislike of Germans, 



however worthy their motives; they were not to 
be trusted. I discovered later that the Luger was 
fully loaded. It was still in my possession when 
eventually, I reached the British lines. Thus I 
spent the second night of my captivity in a much 
better frame of mind than I had my first. 

No one slept that night. The excitement 
was too great. The Germans moved about 
restlessly. No one spoke. 

September 20th. No shelling and a lovely 
day. Today each man laid down his weapon. 
They even said good morning to each other, some 
even whistled and sang. This was the first 
exhibition of pleasure that had taken place in this 
cursed spot. I quickly totted up my prisoners. 
Twenty six including the wounded. 

My crowning glory came about an hour 
later. I had a delightful feeling as I led the long 
line of Germans out of the cellar. It was the 
happiest day of my life. There was laughter and 
acceptance as they began to take up their 
assigned places. The walking wounded in front 
with the medic in charge. I reviewed them for the 
last time before proudly taking my stance at the 
head of the column. Soldiers of the Third Reich 
they might be, but they were my prisoners and I 
loved them all. 

Setting out for the British lines I thought, 
Merciful God, it’s a funny old war I’m having. 
One minute I’m in the shit, the next I’m floating 
on air. For my actions, I was mentioned in 



despatches. Three days later, the Germans had 
withdrawn all along the front. 
 

Bill Scully. 
Manningham, 

North Yorkshire. 
 
 

 
‘Franconia’ transported thousands upon 

thousands of British troops during the war to the 
Middle East and The Mediterranean. 

 
 



THE NIGHT PATROL 
Perugia, Italy, 1943/44. 

 
These patrols were never sought after, and 

you hoped you never got. They were fraught with 
danger, going forward into No Man’s Land with, 
sometimes curses, and sometimes prayers to 
bring you good luck, which you needed at all 
times. Captain Toller had once again, drawn the 
short straw for 16 Platoon. It was getting to be a 
bad habit, this was the second time in six days. 
We were now under strength, down to fifteen 
men after taking quite a few losses of late. Our 
average age was twenty one. Although young and 
fit, we were fed up with all the fighting, shortage 
of good hot meals, and lack of bathing facilities. 
How we used to dream of a soak in a steaming 
hot bath. 

Our objective was the removal of a 
German observation post two miles to the front 
of our bogged down position. At dusk we left in 
single file, down the slope to reach the river and 
railway track half a mile away. There were 
constant flares, mortar fire, and the usual spandau 
cross fire. 

On reaching the river without mishap, we 
found that we could cross by wading up to our 
waists in the very cold, sluggish, muddy water. 
Our weapons consisted of grenades and small 
arms, which enabled us to move faster, when, and 
if, we needed to.  



The river crossed, now the rail track, 
where a wrecked engine and four coaches stood. 
Toller wanted us to check the coaches to see if 
they were occupied. This we did, by splitting into 
threes, and searching one coach at a time. The 
darkness helping us to dispose of seven Germans, 
but sadly losing three of our own men. 

Having had a breather we found that one 
of our men needed some first aid for a leg wound. 
We left him in one of the coaches as he couldn’t 
walk, telling him that we would collect him on 
the way back. We left in extended line. 

Slowly moving forward up the steep but 
rocky slope. Increased mortar fire and flares 
made the going very hard and sticky. On nearly 
reaching the hilltop, we split up. Left and right 
flanks, and Toller and myself dead centre. 

We synchronised our watches. In twenty 
minutes, Toller would fire a flare then we were 
all to move in. Which with a few grenades and 
hardly any small arms fire we claimed our 
objective, but paid the price with another four 
losses. Six Germans also lay dead. 

Our instructions on taking the position, 
was to hold it, and then move out at early light. 
We radioed back our observations on the 
movements of enemy troops and tanks. With the 
help of German flares, we saw a lot more than we 
cared to see. We realised, that we would have to 
be very lucky indeed to stay here safely until 
daylight. After managing to sweat it out under 
heavy mortar fire, for a while, Toller decided that 



it would be wiser if we didn’t stay as our 
numbers, now totalled only seven.  

On the point of moving off and once 
again looking to my front, there laid on the 
ground was a three foot sword, with tassels on a 
red and black hand guard. Toller noticing my 
interest in the sword called out. “Don’t touch that 
bloody thing Taylor ‘till I get out of here.” 
Always thinking of booby traps which had cost 
the platoon so much loss of life. 

After prodding around with my bayonet, I 
assured Toller that it was safe, and I picked up 
my prize. It was a beauty, a little dirty but I could 
see no rust. Captain Toller shouted. “Right 
Taylor, let’s be off. We moved out. A few 
Germans had moved in behind us, but our 
Company’s gunfire was keeping them occupied, 
my new found weapon claiming one as we made 
a dash for it. 

It’s frightening to think, that actions 
which almost come instinctively in a time of war, 
would almost certainly sicken you at any other 
time. 

On reaching our Company with the loss 
of two more men, killed I think by our own 
Company fire, I stuck my blade into the mud 
banking. I crouched down to get my breath back 
as I watched it swinging about. Then low and 
behold, an upstart Major swaggered up, pulled it 
out of the ground claimed it for his own. He 
buggered off with it . Captain Toller seeing the 
look on my face said, 



“Never mind Taylor, you might get a 
medal for this patrol.”  

 
I didn’t get that either. 

 
N. (Bob) Taylor. 

Elland, 
West Yorkshire. 

 
 

 



THE DIARY 
 

Diary. June 19th - August 12th 1944. Normandy. 
‘X’ Company Scots Guards attached 3rd. 

Battalion, Irish Guards. 
  
 
 

 
 
 

June 19th. 
The 3rd Battalion Irish Guards, 

commanded by Lieutenant Colonel Vandeleur, 
with ‘X’ Company Scots Guards attached, 
boarded ship at Southampton and sailed to a 



point off the Isle of Wight. The Commander of 
‘X’ Company was Major F. Stewart-
Fotheringham. Second in command was Captain 
E. Hope Llewellyn. I was serving in the No.1 
section of No.14 Platoon commanded by 
Lieutenant A.D.G. Llewellyn. Ship anchored off 
Isle of Wight. 

 
June 20th - 23rd.  

Sailed towards France and arrived on the 
French coast at Arromanches, north of Bayeux. 
We disembarked and marched south to Bayeux. 
Resting and sleeping on the outskirts of the town.  

 
June 24th - 28th. 

We moved forward, taking up a position 
in the line between Tilly and Caen. Very quiet. 
Intermittent shelling of our positions by the 
enemy. The enemy moved forward at 2200 hrs 
but they were halted about 300 yds from our 
positions by terrific artillery fire. They were 
driven back one mile before dawn. 

 
June 29th.  

Quiet all day. 
 

June 30th.  
Quiet through day. British artillery began 

a terrific bombardment of German positions at 
dusk. The enemy replied by shelling our 
positions heavily. There were no casualties. A 
Company sent out a patrol into the enemy lines. 



 
July 1st.  

Artillery duels between our own and 
enemy guns throughout the day. Intermittent 
shelling of our lines. There were no casualties. 

 
July 2nd.  

Very quiet, the enemy now being three 
miles distant. 

 
July 3rd. 

X. Company moved forward into a new 
position roughly about 300 yds from the enemy 
forward slit trenches. Heavily shelled whilst 
digging in. Again no casualties. 

 
July 4th.  

Information was given to us that the 
position in front was Capriceux Aerodrome and 
that it was held by the enemy. The Canadians, 
under cover of smoke and high explosive shells, 
attacked the aerodrome at dawn from a position 
three quarters of a mile to our left. The 
aerodrome was captured by noon. The expected 
counter attack, materialised and the Germans 
regained one half of the aerodrome. A terrific 
battle raged all day and our positions were 
mortared and shelled very heavily indeed.  

Thanks to the depth of the slit trenches, 
only one of X. Company was killed. There were 
no wounded. During the remainder of the day, 
the part of the aerodrome held by the enemy was 



bombed and machine gunned by RAF fighter 
planes three times. 

 
July 5th.  

A very quiet morning. A slight exchange 
of artillery fire during the afternoon. Quiet the 
remainder of the day. 

 
July 6th.  

At 0230 hrs. I was on sentry duty in the 
section Bren-Gun position, when I noticed a 
number of birds disturbed from a hedge 100 yds 
in the direction of the enemy. We suspected they 
were approaching and on being relieved from 
sentry duty at 0250 hrs, we informed the new 
sentry of our suspicions. At 0315 hrs. A German 
patrol penetrated our position, but they were soon 
scattered, although one member of X. Company 
was shot in the arm. 

In the early morning, an enemy tank was 
spotted on the aerodrome. It was believed to be a 
Panther. The distance being about 1700 yards 
away. A Sherman tank, mounted with a 17 
pounder gun was ordered forward to our 
positions to attack the enemy tank. The platoon 
was informed that we would probably be heavily 
mortared when the Sherman tank opened fire on 
the Panther. The gun crew in the Sherman tank 
fired six shots but only hit the tank once. It was 
not knocked out but it rapidly moved out of 
range. The enemy did not mortar us as expected. 



After dark a patrol was sent into enemy 
lines. During the night the enemy was bombed 
and machine gunned twice by RAF formations of 
eight. 

 
July 7th.  

Intermittent shell and mortar fire. 
Otherwise it was very quiet throughout the day. 
We were heavily mortared and shelled in the 
early evening. There were no casualties. A mortar 
bomb exploded, five yards from my slit trench. 
Luckily, no-one was hurt. 

During the day, British bombers, 
Lancasters and Halifax, bombed Caen. I have 
never seen anything like it in my life. At a rough 
guess I would say 1000 planes took part in the 
raid, losing only one. I watched it crash in 
flames. 

 
July 8th.  
Capriceux Aerodrome was still only half taken. 
The enemy’s half being under constant shell and 
mortar fire all morning. The afternoon was very 
quiet. 

 
July 9th. 

Caen was captured by the Canadians and 
British at 1000 hrs. The Canadians attacked the 
remainder of the aerodrome held by the enemy, 
finally capturing it by 1130 hrs. X Company 
Scots Guards were still holding the position left 
of the aerodrome. Although continually under 



mortar and shell fire. The Germans were now 
about 600 yds away. 

 
July 10th. 

Beginning at dawn, a terrific barrage was 
put down on the German positions by the Royal 
Artillery, which continued for four hours. A tank 
battle began and lasted all the remainder of the 
morning and afternoon. The Germans were then 
found to be in full retreat on a six mile front. X 
Company Scots Guards did not move forward but 
were ordered to rest. 

 
July 11th. 

Very quiet. The enemy were still in full 
retreat. We began to move from our forward 
positions to Bayeux for the purpose of resting. 

 
July 12th - 18th.  

Resting one mile south west of Bayeux. 
We moved off at 0200 hrs to be part of 

General Montgomery’s drive from Caen to 
Vimont. We took up our positions about two 
miles south east of Caen at dawn, waiting for the 
word go. At 0600 hrs, a gigantic bombardment of 
the villages to our front was started by the RAF 
and American Air Force. These villages would 
have had to have been either captured or by 
passed during our advance. 

Three of our bombers were shot down in 
flames. At 0945.Hrs the planes stopped their 
bombardment, but a heavy artillery barrage was 



put up by the Royal Artillery. At 1200 hrs we 
began to move forward. We didn’t meet any 
opposition until we reached the village of Cagny, 
which was captured by X Company and a 
company of Irish Guards. The village was then 
surrounded by the battalion at 2230 hrs. We took 
up a defensive position for the remainder of the 
night. 

 
July 19th. 

We were ordered to remain in a defensive 
position forward of Cagny until further orders. 
The break through at Vimont was not successful. 
We only got part way when our tanks met with a 
screen of anti tank guns. We were under constant 
attack. With this and the snipers, there were 
many fatalities. 

 
July 20th. 

 
We were still in the same position. No14 

Platoon of X Company was ordered to send 
forward, (about 200 yds) a standing patrol. This 
was requested for the purpose of observing. I was 
a member of No1 section and we were ordered to 
go first. We arrived at the position. Two of the 
company’s four snipers, Guardsman Dinsdale 
and Guardsman Jardine, were sent forward 
another twenty yards to snipe.  

At 0800 hrs, Guardsman Jardine was 
killed by a German sniper. Guardsman Dinsdale 
received a severe leg wound from an exploding 



German tank shell. Bullets were now flying all 
around us. Later, we were relieved by No 2 
section. We returned to the company position. 
We were constantly shelled, mortared, and sniped 
at for the remainder of the day. Many more were 
wounded and killed. The torrential rain made 
things very difficult. 

 
July 21st.  

The standing patrols were still being sent 
out during the day and still by sections. It was 
very quiet although we were expecting an attack. 
It came at 1400 hrs. We were strafed, bombed 
and machine gunned for about ten minutes by 
fighter planes. We didn’t sustain any injuries this 
time. It was still pouring with rain and I 
remember thinking that I had been soaked to the 
skin for twenty four hours. The roads were thick 
with mud and the tanks were at a stand still. We 
were again mortared and shelled during the 
evening, only this time we sustained more 
casualties. 

 
July 22nd. 

Very quiet all day. Our position was taken 
over by the Black Watch at 2215 hrs. It had now 
stopped raining and we began to march along the 
muddy roads to the rear of our lines. We were 
still marching at midnight. 

 
July 23rd. 



We arrived about two miles south of Caen 
at 0230 hrs, after a march of four miles, ankle 
deep in mud, and we rested at this position 
throughout the next three days. 

 
July 25th. 

Bombed during the night by enemy 
planes. July 27th. Our orders to move were 
cancelled. 

 
July 29th. 

Still resting two miles east of Caen. 
We’ve now been informed, that the reason we are 
resting in this position is because we are in full 
view of the enemy. They had to keep their crack 
Panzer Division on the opposite hill, thus not 
being able to move them to assist against the 
Americans at St Lo. 

 
July 30th.  

We moved to a position one mile south of 
Bayeux. Still resting. 

 
July 31st.  

We’ve received orders to move, this time 
into the Caumont Sector. We travelled in troop 
carriers for about fifteen miles and then we dug 
slit trenches to sleep in during the night. 

 
August 1st. 

We moved off again at 0500 hrs going 
into the attack. We travelled in troop carriers for 



the first ten miles and then began marching. Five 
miles on and the roads became within the range 
of the German guns and mortars. There were a 
few casualties to X Company whilst marching 
along. Corporal Barbour was killed. I remember 
he was promoted to Corporal in the M.T. at the 
same time that I moved from the M.T. to 14 
Platoon. 

We marched a further distance of seven 
and a half miles then formed up to attack. The 
objective being a hill. The hill was captured in 
twenty minutes, there was no opposition. We dug 
in on top of the hill. Later in the day, we moved 
off again to attack the village of Le Courneur. 
Once again there was no opposition. The attack 
beginning at 2215 hrs and finishing at 2315 hrs. 
We dug in once again and were ordered to hold 
the village until dawn when we were informed 
that tanks would arrive to relieve us. 

 
August 2nd. 

The tanks arrived at dawn. The Germans 
were in full retreat. Reconnaissance units 
reported the enemy to be twenty miles away. 
About noon we moved off again and captured the 
village seven miles away. Once again there was 
no opposition and we moved on. The purpose 
being to attack an 88mm gun domineering the 
road on which we wished to advance. 

It was known that there was at least 200 
enemy troops in the area of the gun. The attack 
began at dusk. We reached the objective at about 



2300 hrs. Our section of seven men led by 
Corporal Stevens, spearheaded the attack. We 
were supported by the remainder of the company, 
including six or seven tanks. The tanks were 
ordered to move along the road in convoy and X 
Company were in the fields to the right and left 
of the road. 

The enemy 88mm gun opened fire at 
about fifty yards range, knocking out the leading 
tank. The remaining tanks were ordered to 
withdraw and orders to X company, were to 
continue the advance. 

At this point, all hell broke loose. About 
six enemy Machine Gun Posts, opened up 
together, raking us with fire from front, left and 
right. There were many casualties. I must admit it 
was very frightening. Tracer bullets were flying 
all around. A  

Guardsman in front of me was shot 
through the foot. Another, a Sergeant at my right, 
was shot in the heel. I was ordered by Platoon 
Officer Llewellyn to get the two wounded men 
back to the stretcher bearers. I succeeded 
although I was very scared. The battle raged all 
night and X Company were under continual fire 
from machine guns. We returned the fire with 
Bren Guns and rifles. Four Germans were killed 
for sure and there were many probables. 

Another of our men was wounded in the 
thigh. We were still holding the same position at 
dawn. The 72 hours continual advance was now 



held up. We had not slept for the whole time and 
were beginning to feel exhausted.  

 
August 3rd. 

Dawn found us still exchanging shots 
with the Germans who were only fifty yards to 
our front. When it was light enough to see, we 
found we were lining a hedge along the side of a 
farm. The Germans were lining the hedge in 
front. The hedge was heavily mortared by us and 
this caused the enemy to return the fire wounding 
one of our Corporals and killing one of our 
Guardsmen. 

The casualties were now so great, that X 
Company were very much under strength. 
Originally there were 135 men in the Company 
and now there was only 90 left. 

Suddenly, four Germans moved out of a 
barn ten yards to the right of our section position 
and calmly walked across the farmyard entering a 
stable. Everyone was too amazed to shoot. We 
recovered and closed around the stable entrance. 
Platoon Officer Llewellyn ordered the Germans 
to surrender and come out of the barn.  

The first man emerged in a curious 
fashion, half crouched. Our suspicions were 
aroused. Corporal Stevens shot him dead with his 
Sten Gun. The second German came out in the 
same manner. Five rifles cracked, and he fell 
wounded. One of our Guardsmen noticed him put 
his hand into his jacket and withdraw a grenade. 



He shot and killed him. The grenade exploded in 
his hand. 

There were still two more left in the 
stable. One tried to escape through the rear and 
he was shot in the neck. He shouted ‘Kamerad’. 
We took him prisoner. The fourth could not be 
found. He must have got away through the rear 
window. 

The prisoner turned out to be a Russian, 
forced to fight by the Germans. He was not very 
badly wounded. 

Snipers began to fire at the slightest 
movement in our area. I had my narrowest of 
escapes since arriving in France. Whilst 
observing over a hedge, instead of through it, a 
sniper’s bullet glanced off the top of my steel 
helmet. 

It was quieter towards evening. The Irish 
Guards attacked from the left flank after dark, 
and the Germans retreated through the night. 

 
 August 4th. 

At dawn, it was very quiet indeed. 
Occasional shots were fired by a few snipers left 
behind, but we moved forward again. Once more 
on the attack. X. Company had now been 96 
hours without sleep and were very tired indeed. 
The attack commenced in daylight beginning at 
1500 hrs. The objective this time? A farm on an 
overlooking hill. It was about a mile and a half 
away. 



The advance was held up by four German 
tanks at the top of the road leading up the hill. 
Two of them being knocked out by our own 
Sherman tanks. X. Company, were ordered to 
enter the fields on the right of the road to try and 
bypass the remaining two tanks. The bypass was 
successful, but we were attacked by Machine 
Gun fire from a nearby farm. The two remaining 
German tanks were now sandwiched with X. 
Company at their front and the Shermans at their 
rear. 

The German tank Commander decided to 
make a run for it. But he was met by Sergeant 
Tessler, manning a Piat Gun. The first tank broke 
through and Sergeant Tessler was killed. The 
second tank crew evidently, were surprised to 
find us in the rear for they abandoned the tank. It 
was captured by us. Intact. 

After capturing the farm from where the 
gunfire that had delayed us earlier, had come 
from, we dug in and prepared for a counter 
attack. When it materialised, the enemy were 
repulsed at dusk, sadly along with the loss of 
Guardsman McPhee. Two more were slightly 
wounded. Intermittent firing went on throughout 
the night. 

 
August 5th. 

At 0200 hrs, the 17 pounder guns were 
brought into position alongside our platoon. Two 
enemy tanks were knocked out by 0300 hrs, 



another by dawn. The enemy was retreating 
again. 

We managed to get three hours sleep in 
the morning and two hours in the afternoon. We 
were now waiting for orders whilst resting. At 
1945 hrs, orders were received once again, telling 
us to advance. They stated that we were to 
advance until fired on, then dig in and hold our 
position. This we did after only a mile and a half. 
Night fell with only a few sniper shots and a little 
mortaring. 

 
August 6th. 

Very quiet. The enemy was once again 
retreating at full speed. We were able to get some 
sleep during the day. Our position was the same 
as the previous night’s, but we were dug in on the 
side of the road. 

 
August 7th. 

We were still resting although we were 
getting shelled and mortared all the time. X. 
Company had now been in action for seven days 
continually. Fortunately we were able to get 
some rest. The afternoon was very quiet. We 
were still awaiting orders. The village of estry 
was one and a half miles along the road which we 
flanked. 

 
August 8th. 

At 1030 hrs. The 15th Scottish Division 
moved through our lines to go into the attack. At 



1200 hrs, many wounded were being moved back 
and we understood that they had, had a very 
tough time at the village of Estry. Our positions 
were heavily shelled during the morning and 
afternoon, but we suffered no more casualties. 
We got some more much needed sleep and the 
company was beginning to feel less fatigued. 

 
August 9th. 

At dawn, we were ordered to prepare to 
move, but we were still waiting at 1200 hrs. We 
were shelled all day and at 2100 hrs, we finally 
began moving. Marching towards the rear of the 
lines. We were met by troop carrying lorries and 
then driven about ten miles east, where once 
again, we began to march another six miles. The 
last two being uphill. We were informed that we 
were approaching the enemy. 

 
August 10th. 

At 0230 hrs we arrived at our destination. 
Two miles east of Vire. We stood by until dawn. 
We found we were on the slope of a big hill with 
the enemy on the opposite slope. At 0900 hrs 
shelling and mortar-fire began by both sides. At 
1200 hrs I was hit by shrapnel from an exploding 
German shell and removed to hospital. 

 
August 11th.  

I was in hospital at Bayeux. 
 

August 12th. 



A Dakota flew me and other wounded 
Guardsmen to England. We arrived at Oxford 
Aerodrome at 1200 hrs. 

 
R. Angus.  
2697250. 

Orpington. 
Kent. 

 



THE BRIDGE 
 

The sky was leaden, a threatening grey, 
and the wind was bitterly cold. The ground was 
frozen solid making my position in the slit trench 
even more uncomfortable. I did not want to be 
here but circumstances demanded that I should 
occupy this dirty smelly hole in the ground.  

My hands were frozen and I could hardly 
grip my rifle as I peered into the darkness. My 
hole in the ground was situated in a small wood 
just outside Arnhem, and the Germans were 
attacking in force, sending their shells and 
shrapnel uncomfortably close to our area. I had 
been here for days just hoping that the enemy 
would go away and leave us alone.  

The shrapnel was getting closer all the 
time and I wandered if it was only a question of 
time before we were hit. It was then I heard a 
shout. 

 “Sergeant Edgeley come here.” 
 It was the voice of my superior Officer, 

Captain J.M. Spencer-Smith. I became panic 
stricken realising that if I got out of the trench, I 
could be decapitated at any time with all the 
shrapnel flying about. My heart was pounding as 
I replied. “Coming sir.”  

I then dragged my unwilling legs over the 
side of the trench, and made my way in complete 
darkness, in the direction of the voice. I 
wondered just what the hell he wanted. I soon 
found out, for I had no sooner jumped into his 



trench, when he growled at me, to take two 
German SS prisoners over the bridge for 
interrogation. He thrust a map in my hand with 
the directions on. What he didn’t mention was at 
this time, the bridge concerned was receiving the 
attention of the German bombers and any such 
crossing, appeared suicidal.  



However, there was nothing I could do, 
other than comply, and I reluctantly put the two 
pathetic prisoners in the back of the truck. They 
were bound hand and foot. My eyes were half 
closed as I put my foot down hard on the 
accelerator. The bridge was indeed, in a state of 
chaos, and there were gaping holes all over the 
place. My truck was hit several times and my 
windscreen was blown away. I suddenly thought 
of my family, and what it was going to be like in 
the next world. I really thought I was dead. I even 
started to hum a tune well known to me “Stormy 
Weather” in fact I really did not know what the 
hell I was doing.  

Almost mechanically I found the 
interrogation centre and handed the prisoners 
over to the authorities. I suddenly realised that I 
had to make the return journey. I started praying 
for God to help me. He did just that. Amazingly a 
message had come through stating that I was to 
remain at the centre until things had cooled 
down. I did not sleep well that particular night, 
but at least I was safe in my bomb proofed shelter 
and I was grateful for that.  
 

E.A. Edgeley. 
Sandbach, 
Cheshire. 

 



ALWAYS AT RISK 
 

During the second World War, Private 
George Wilson diced with death many times in a 
fantastic series of adventures which would sound 
fictional were it not for the medals he so proudly 
owns. For George, the war began when he was 
called up to fight on Sept’ 2nd. 1939. at the age 
of 18. He fought in France with the 8th Battalion 
of the Lancashire Fusiliers and by the time the 
Dunkirk catastrophe erupted, five of George’s 
close comrades were dead. Taken prisoner by the 
Germans his real adventures began, and he was 
not to see England again for five years. 

Packed off in a cattle truck with wounded 
and dying comrades, he was taken eastward 
across France. He escaped from the train at the 
first available opportunity, but was recaptured 
soon after when French Police swooped while he 
was hiding out on a farm. He was shipped 
eastward once again, to a fort in Poland, where 
the beds consisted of straw and food was a loaf of 
bread amongst three men every four days. 

A succession of different camps followed 
and that winter, he made escape bid after escape 
bid, crawling out through the wire or 
disappearing while on working parties. He hated 
life behind the wire and the inhuman treatment 
meted out to the inmates. He resolved to make 
his way across Poland to freedom. Each time he 
was picked up and condemned to long spells of 
solitary confinement. 



His last escape bid met with success. He 
was imprisoned in a camp near Danzig and on 
regular working parties he spied a Russian plane, 
which landed frequently at a heavily guarded 
airport. 

He spent a fortnight hiding around the 
hangars waiting for an opportunity to board the 
plane and escape to Russia. 

Giving this up as futile, the guards were 
too numerous, he threw in his lot with a party of 
drunken Swedish seamen and boarded their ship 
in the harbour. He approached the English 
speaking captain in the hope that he would help 
him. But, as the Germans would search the 
neutral ship before sailing, George was forced to 
disembark. The captain had contacts with the 
Polish underground and the British soldier was 
handed over to resistance workers. 

“I was taken to a house in the city, 
interrogated and asked if I was willing to join 
them” said George. “I knew I would never be 
able to get back to England on my own, so I said 
yes.” 

The next three years constituted a saga of 
an heroic fight against the Nazi oppressors with 
sabotage the name of the game. George aided his 
Polish comrades to spike the guns of the 
invaders. He was trained in the use of explosives. 
Troop trains, ammunition and petrol dumps all 
went up in flames, with the Resistance launching 
machine gun attacks on the enemy. We didn’t 
stay anywhere long.” said George. “We hid out 



on farms, on barges on the Vistula and we also 
slept rough in the Black Forest.” 

He had some close calls and many of 
close comrades were killed in shoot-outs with the 
Nazis. Capture and death were never far away. 
Such as the time George and his comrades 
entered a quiet village, only to be stunned by the 
sight of armoured cars, tanks and troops 
thundering down the village street. 

“Some building was going on in the 
village and we picked up shovels and pretended 
to be workmen. We thought we had been 
betrayed, but the soldiers were only on 
manoeuvres fortunately.” 

Twice in 1943 he and several comrades 
went behind the wire of a P.O.W. camp in a bid 
to get British and French prisoners to join the war 
of resistance. He explained: “I told them I was a 
British soldier and explained my background, but 
they were afraid it was a trick by the Germans. 
They were too cagey.” 

By 1944. Warsaw had become the centre 
of the national revolt against the Nazis and in 
August the uprising of the people began. George 
and his comrades were in the thick of it, fighting 
amid the ruins of the city. 

“We never knew what each day would 
bring.” he said. “And whether we would survive. 
The Polish people helped us with food and 
shelter, and in turn we helped the Jews, who also 
joined in the uprising. We fought with everything 
we could lay our hands on.” 



The shattered city of Warsaw, was the 
dramatic background to their struggle. By the 
time of the uprising seventy per cent of the city 
was in ruins. 

By this time, the Russians were only 
twenty miles outside the city. Events hung in 
balance, and then George and his comrades were 
captured. Interrogated by the Gestapo they were 
denounced as spies and condemned to death. 

The worst moment of George’s yet action 
packed life came when he was tied to a post, 
blindfolded and forced to face a firing squad. 
With him were Polish comrades and a fellow 
British soldier, who had joined the Resistance. 

“I really thought we’d had it,” he 
explained. “There was no way out for us.” Then a 
German officer intervened and called the 
execution off. He demanded that the two Britons 
be taken to headquarters for further interrogation. 

Travelling through the ruins aboard a 
lorry, George and his comrade made a bid for 
freedom. “We knocked the guards out and ran 
off. In those days I was pretty fit and we 
outpaced them.” There was nowhere to run to , 
but into the hands of the Communist invaders: 
uneasy allies, and where the Poles were 
concerned they were hardly liberators. The two 
made their way towards the sounds of battle, 
through the enemy lines. 

The Russian General was a decent bloke, 
but he gave us two choices: Go into a Russian 
labour camp or fight the enemy. Well anything 



was better than going back behind the wire, so 
they put on Russian uniforms and fought. 

Warsaw fell to the Russian advances and 
the two comrades continued through Poland, 
pushing the Nazis back to their last 
stronghold...Berlin. 

His comrade, (Smith) was bayoneted and 
put out of action, but George, dubbed ‘Tommy’ 
by his Russian comrades, pressed on to the 
crumbling German capital until the Germans 
surrendered in April 1945. 

He had been with the Russians for nine 
months. His commander presented him with two 
medals, thanked him for his support and he was 
then sent to his original overlords: the British 
Army. 

He was questioned by the Military Police 
and his story and adventures were duly noted and 
then he was sent back home to England to his 
parents. They had, had no news of their young 
son since his capture four years earlier. 

 
George Wilson. 

Urmston,  
Manchester. 

 



THE LETTER 
 

December 21. 1941. Malaya. 
 

Dear Mum and Dad, 
Well mum, before I start, I would like you 

to give thanks to God at church for the mercy he 
has shown, not only to me but to the whole 
platoon. Three times I have just waited for death 
but with God's help I am still here, I felt all along 
that with all your prayers, God would keep me 
safe. 

I will only give you one instance of it. 
Ten of us were in a trench in a little native village 
in the jungle, we were told last man, last round, 
for we were surrounded by Japanese soldiers and 
they were closing in on all sides. Some of the 
chaps were saying goodbye to each other and I 
was really frightened at the thought of dying. 

All of a sudden, aircraft came over. Down 
came the bombs all around. After they flew off 
believe it or not, four tanks rumbled up the road 
and gave our positions hell. They flung 
everything at us. Grenades, machine guns, but 
still we crouched in that little trench. We could 
not return fire, for if we showed our heads over 
the trench, the advancing Japs would have 
machine gunned us. 

All of a sudden we heard a shout. "Run 
for it lads" and we ran, but that was the last I saw 
of the brave Officer who said it. I shall never 
forget him, as we ran past him, pistol in hand 



holding them off while we got away. I haven't 
seen him since. 

Most of the Battalion reached safety but a 
lot of poor chaps are still missing. Some of my 
friends too. 

 
Your ever loving son. 

 
John. 

J.Wyatt. 
Sydenham, 

London. 
 



THE WAR YEARS 
 

I enlisted in His Majesty's Forces in the 
year 1941 at the age of 17 years. I served my 
initial training period with the West Yorkshire 
Regiment at Fulford Barracks York.  

From here, I moved to Wetherby and then 
to Thorner near Chatham. I was then transferred 
to the East Yorkshire Regiment, from whence I 
proceeded on an intensive Commando Assault 
Course under combined operations on board 
American ships, called Liberty Boats. These 
boats were especially rigged for Assault Landing 
Craft and were of an, all-welded construction. 

The East York's 2nd Battalion, trained in 
areas of the North West coast, and the North East 
of Scotland. Firstly, we had a cross country route 
march from the Barony in Dumfriesshire to 
Kinlochleven. Training was also carried out in 
Inverness shire. From here we went by cobble to 
a Loch Islet called Acharacle. Here, we lived on 
our wits and the food we had was iron rations 
including corned beef, and whatever we could 
trap or shoot. 

From this base, we practised assault 
landings on various parts of the Scottish coast. 
The main Normandy Assault manoeuvres, were 
carried out in the Kyles of Bute at a place called 
Kilbride. The temperature in this area, at this 
time was 20 degrees below freezing and wading 
in from an assault craft, soon had both you and 
your clothes, frozen stiff. All these manoeuvres, 



were carried out using live ammo; live mines, 
shells anti-tank etc. Machine guns on fixed lines, 
were fired over our heads. 

Unfortunately, there was a number of 
casualties and deaths in this simulated war 
exercise. Some died of Pneumonia. In my 
Battalion, we had in the roughly twenty fatalities. 
We also practised mountaineering skills on two 
3000ft climbs. Our Officer drove us very hard. 
He was a Tyke whom we nicknamed `The 
Mountain Goat'. The training was full blown 
Commando training, for although we didn't know 
it then, we were to be the first wave Assault on 
Sword Beach, Normandy. 

 After the final assault exercises were 
completed in this area, the Battalion moved to 
Glasgow to practise house to house fighting. 
Some of the exercises were fairly hairy. We 
practised jumping from ground floor windows 
over six feet wide pits, filled with sharpened 
stakes and barbed wire. All this with a full 
complement of kit on our backs, weighing about 
ninety pounds. I was especially lucky; I had to 
carry a Bren-Gun and two pouches of ammo'. An 
extra twenty two pounds in weight. Having tried 
to maim ourselves with these manoeuvres, we 
were then taught how to jump from third storey 
windows. It's not quite as hard as it sounds; 
unless of course, you do it wrong. 

As well as the martial arts training, we 
were instructed in close combat weapon training. 
We all thought that our instructor was a little 



demented. If you didn't respond with the 
appropriate defence to his attacks with rifle and 
Bayonet, we would almost certainly have ended 
up skewered.  

By now, we were all at the peak of 
physical fitness due to the specialist training 
which we had received. It had initially been 
developed by Admiral Byrd. Our bodies were 
conditioned to resist extremes of cold and heat. 
Temperatures ranging from twenty degrees below 
freezing to one hundred degrees F. 

Other methods of conditioning were to 
lead us on special ten mile, two hour Bashes, 
carrying a full complement of kit. Approximately 
ninety pounds in weight: Plus weapons and 
ammo'. I remember one bash we did in 
temperatures of ninety degrees plus. It was a 
killer. Believe me, after this extensive training, 
we were all looking forward to going into action. 
We were by now fully aware, if only by 
guesswork, where it would be. Quite frankly in 
retrospect, the training was much harder 
physically, than the actual assault on Sword 
Beach.  

We were taken aboard the Mother Ship on 
the 3rd June 1944, and where we embarked on 
our landing craft at 0530hrs on the 6th June. As I 
remember, when the boats were lowered into the 
water, there was a fair swell running, but it wasn't 
a rough sea. this didn't bother me as I was a good 
sailor. Overhead the heavy drone of thousands of 
bombers and fighters filled the air. Never again 



would anyone see as may planes in the sky at one 
time. 

Ships we had never seen before with 
multiple rocket launchers, were sending Salvo 
after Salvo of shells into the defences of 
Normandy. There were hundreds of ships and 
boats of all sizes and types. Over the coastline 
hung a Pall of smoke and dust. We were making 
steady progress towards the shore. Soon the 
beaches were in sight. It was strangely quiet; that 
was until the boat's ramp went down, then all hell 
broke loose. We scrambled out; some being cut 
down just by the boat. I was wading in water up 
to my arm-pits holding my machine gun over my 
head. 

In front of me, were rows of staggered 
large iron triangles, from which dangled very 
large ant-personnel mines. The bullets were 
spraying thick and fast making a snapping noise 
as they passed my head. I remember - idiotically 
- seeking shelter behind one of these mines on 
my approach to the beach. After all, if a bullet 
had detonated the mine; I wouldn't be writing this 
now. 

Eventually, I reached the dry beach and 
immediately placed my nose adjacent to the sand. 
Inching my way forward, I commenced firing at 
anything that I thought looked like a target. The 
bullets were kicking sand into my face. Oddly, I 
felt quite calm, which surprised me. (Anyhow, I 
wasn't a good enough swimmer to tackle the 
Channel).  



Suddenly, the gun fell from my hands; the 
reason being, I had a large gaping hole in my 
wrist, from which the blood was pumping. The 
way it was bleeding, I knew it was an Arterial 
wound. All this time, I couldn't feel any pain. I 
had managed to worm my way to the top of the 
beach where I clamped a field dressing onto the 
wound and applied pressure. I had taken cover 
behind some grass tussocks. Many of my 
comrades had fallen fatally wounded and there 
didn't seem to be a square yard where there 
wasn't a body. 

The enemy fire diminished as the 
`Snappers' finally over-run them. Prisoners 
appeared at the beach-head while flail and 
amphibious tanks were trundling up the sand. 
The first of the second-wave troops were 
arriving. 

A large tank of a type I had never seen 
before, drew alongside me. I took cover behind it 
as it suddenly loosed a very large Spigot bomb. 
This demolished a spacious chateau as if it had 
been dismantled by hand. I was deaf for days. 
Behind the tank was a large sled-like contraption. 
I was sat on this when an Officer told me to  " 
Bloody well move away, unless I wanted to be 
blown up."  That `sled' was full of explosives. 

I don't know just how long it took to 
control the beach-head, but it seemed an age. By 
now, things had quietened a lot, except for 
sporadic bursts of gunfire and the odd shot from a 
sniper. We were in control, and the Beach Master 



was organising the clearing of minefields to 
allow the tanks and support vehicles to come 
through.  

Two Military Policeman appeared 
carrying warning and direction signs, to guide the 
troops and vehicles through the minefields. A 
sudden, short burst of gun-fire kicked up the sand 
near these men and they hit the ground, 
psychologically sheltering, I suppose, behind 
these little sigh which were no more that two feet 
in area. Two six feet tall men seeking refuge 
behind the thin metal deviation signs. The 
incongruity of it to this day, still amuses me. 

Now things were really quiet and one 
could stand on the beach quite safely. An LCT 
appeared and a Naval Officer took all the 
wounded aboard; including myself. We didn't 
hang about and were soon nearly a mile out to 
sea. Suddenly we heard a `crump' sound from the 
front of the LCT. Another Officer appeared on 
deck announcing quite cheerfully, that we had 
been torpedoed, but everything was O.K. The 
bulkhead was sealed and they had radioed for a 
destroyer to take us off. 

By the time the destroyer arrived, our 
boat was sinking fast. The sea was practically at 
deck level. The crew acted very quickly and 
efficiently, as we were taken up the scrambling 
nets and aboard quite safely. I spent the night on 
a hospital ship at Southampton.  

The following day, I boarded a hospital 
train where I had my photograph taken by Bert 



Hardy, a photographer with the Picture Post. I 
was leaning out of the window drinking a cup of 
tea. My picture appeared on the front cover of the 
June issue of the Picture Post, 1944. 

I finished up at Wolverhampton Royal 
Hospital, where a brilliant surgeon - Mr Butcher - 
saved my hand. It was a couple of years before it 
was in good working order, but it is thanks to that 
surgeon, I can use my hand at all. 

Major Banger King, gave this address 
over the ship's Tannoy before we set sail for 
Normandy. It is an excerpt from the speech of 
Shakespeare's Henry V. 

 
 
“And Crispin Crispian shall ne'er 
go by from this day  
to the ending of the world,  
but we in it shall be remembered,  
we few, we happy few,  
we band of Brothers.” 
 
Many of my comrades died on the 6th 

June 1944; they are not forgotten. I am proud to 
be counted one of them. Sadly, Major King died 
in action later in the campaign. 

 
 A very gallant gentleman. 

 
Ronald Major.  

Bradford. 
Yorkshire. 



THE PRISONERS OF SIBERIA 
 

They came early in the morning to take them by surprise 
Dragging out the men and boys ignoring the women’s cries 
They were the Russian soldiers with their bayonets and 
guns 
Who came that day and took away their husbands, brothers 
and sons 
The soldiers took them to a wood where they shaved off all 
their hair 
Then took their clothes and gave them prison uniforms to 
wear. 
 
At the railway station, hungry cold and damp 
They waited for the train to take them to the prison camp 
For two days and nights they waited and when at last it 
came 
They were the open cattle trucks carrying prisoners just like 
them 
The guards gave them cabbage soup and black bread the 
first they’d had to eat 
Then herded them into the trucks as if they were herding 
sheep. 
 
Almost every morning they would find a prisoner dead 
The guards would have him thrown from the truck then 
shoot him through the head 
At night the prisoners huddled close to keep each other 
warm 
The weather got colder and colder still the train went on 
and on 
The stench on the trucks was putrid from secretions, and 
urine 
And the rotting flesh of frostbite that had turned so 
gangrene. 
 
The food, when they got it was like pig swill but they ate to 
stay alive 



The question uppermost in their minds was when will we 
arrive 
The journey so far had taken three months and covered 
three thousand miles 
When they released them from the trucks the guards were 
full of smiles 
They were smiles of satisfaction at the horror and the pain 
On the faces of the prisoners as they cuffed them to the 
chain. 
 
They were given warmer clothing soup and bread and boots 
to wear 
They were chained to one another as they set off pair by 
pair 
Fastened to the back of a lorry they walked for twelve 
hours and then 
After only two hours rest they were forced to start again 
On they walked for three more days until there was nothing 
in sight 
They walked all day but now the guards allowed them to 
rest at night. 
 
The blizzards and great falls of snow made it so much 
harder to tread 
And one by one the weakest of the prisoners dropped dead 
These men had walked nine hundred miles and with just 
nine more miles to tramp 
They looked forward to some food and rest as at last they 
neared the camp 
None of them would have ever believed they’d be glad to 
see this place 
Rows upon rows of wooden huts in stark open space. 
 
All around for miles and miles on every side was snow 
Was this to be their home then where else was there to go ? 
Just how long could they survive on what little they were 
fed 
Working all day from dusk till dark on a quarter of a loaf of 
bread 



As these Polish men climbed onto their beds half frozen 
and in pain 
They prayed that one day they would see their families 
again. 
 
Mercifully a lot of them died but some of them lived to tell 
The world just what happened, when the Russians took 
them to hell. 
 
This is a true story of what happened to my 
husband, and hundreds of other Polish men and 
boys, who were taken forcibly from their homes. 
He was later liberated by General Sicorski, and 
joined the British Army after a short 
recuperation. He joined the 8th Army and served 
in Syria, then came to live in England in 1946/47. 
He never saw any of his family again. 
 

Mrs. Wladylaw Wolonciej. 
 Doncaster,  

Yorkshire, 
England. 

 



WHAT’S FOR DINNER 
 

I was one of a party of 30 POW’s who 
were employed by Kristaleiss Fabrik Und 
Kuhltransit Aktiengesselschaft in Leipzig in 
Germany. We were employed in the cold storage 
were all types of food were stored. This had been 
seized in Denmark and was to be used to feed the 
German forces. 

The work was extremely hard but the 
pickings made it worthwhile. As a POW I think 
we can safely say that food ranks high in priority 
in the mind. We all knew the penalty if we were 
caught stealing but I must say this did not deter 
us a great deal. We were helped in this because of 
the fact that all the Germans employed with us 
were also on the same game. Not quite to the 
extent that the British POW’s were. If we had 
been reported to any of the Germans, the Gestapo 
would have taken over the cold storage and that 
would have meant the end of things for the 
Germans as well. The chief commodities which 
we dealt with were pork, beef, butter and eggs. 

I suppose you could say it was a very 
cosmopolitan gathering because I think we had 
POW’s from every nation with whom Germany 
was at war with. This included many Russians 
whom the German civilians and guards treated 
abominably. In spite of all these nationalities 
only the German civilians and the British POW’s 
were allowed to handle the food. I can assure you 



that we did our best to supply the unfortunates 
who were not allowed near the food. 

I often wonder what the German quarter 
master thought when they received frozen pigs 
with only three legs, or two legs, or one leg and 
sometimes with no legs at all. Half empty barrels 
of butter with no sign of a break in the barrel and 
half empty crates of eggs with no sign of ever 
being tampered with. 

Where we lived and slept was known as 
(lager) there were also two German sentries 
living with us which made it impossible to cook 
our ill-gotten gains without their knowledge. 
They had to be included in our list of customers. 
The most barefaced thing we achieved was the 
theft of a complete half pig and a very large one 
at that. Then managing to get it upstairs to the 
lager without the sentry seeing it. How this was 
done is another story. The half pig was then duly 
installed through the trap door and into the loft of 
the lager for safe keeping. 

The following morning we went to work 
leaving one man behind. It was his responsibility 
for cleanliness in the lager. On our return from 
work that day he told us what had happened. For 
the first time ever, whilst we had been there the 
Gestapo had made a flying raid to see what they 
could find. As good as they were they were 
unable to find anything incriminating. Having 
given up, they were on the point of departure 
when one of the jack booted master race espied 
the trap door to the loft. Bringing this to the 



attention of the German Officer, he was then 
ordered to climb up and have a look. Climbing on 
one of the beds he moved the trap door and 
poked his head through. The Germans being what 
they are for some reason only looked in one 
direction and reported to the officer that there 
was nothing to be seen whilst behind him in all 
it’s glory was the half pig. 

The Germans then departed without 
bothering to close the trap door. The POW who 
was there whilst the search took place was never 
able to say what his feelings had been. I think 
that it is safe to say that had that Gestapo 
Sergeant turned his head only 90 degrees he 
would have spotted what was up there, and I 
think that 30 POW’s would have been 
unaccountably lost. 

 
 

 
English prisoners of war at Kristaleiss Fabrik Und 
Kuhltransit Aktiengesselschaft in Leipzig, Germany. 



 
F.L. Walton.  

Goole,  
N. Humberside. 

 



THE HOSPITAL 
 

I was behind Captain Vickers of the East 
Surrey Regiment when he shot dead a Jap Officer 
at point blank range. He shouted to me to search 
the dead man so I rolled him over onto his back.  

I found a school map which had our 
positions marked on it, circled in red ink, and a 
pocket watch which I intended to keep as a 
souvenir when the war was over. That was a 
stupid thing to do. It almost cost me my life in 
the weeks to come. 

Jap gunfire set the oil tanks ablaze and the 
thick smoke began to envelope Singapore. 
Everything was black by day and a red glow lit 
up the night sky. Lt. Colonel Varley, C.O. Of the 
Australian army said I’ve never experienced such 
concentrated shell fire over such a period. 

All this plus the bombing by Jap planes 
added to the turmoil. People were starting to 
panic. The soldiers were trying to push their way 
through the civilians to get aboard the last boats 
leaving Singapore. It was only days before 
capitulation and one of the biggest defeats in the 
history of the British Army. 

During the fighting I was hit in the 
shoulder. I was also suffering from a seeping 
ulcer and was looking around for somebody to 
attend my wound, when a truck appeared 
carrying Chinese Communist Guerrillas. They 
immediately took me to the Queen Alexandra 
Hospital and left me at the entrance. 



I managed to weave my way past the dead 
and dying. A doctor told me to go upstairs; this 
probably saved my life. I saw a medical orderly, 
Cpl Sinclair who bandaged my throbbing ulcer, 
but had to leave the shrapnel in my shoulder. 

During the early hours of the morning, I 
heard the familiar rat a tat of Japanese rifle fire. I 
hobbled to the window and looked out. I saw a 
Japanese soldier advancing towards the hospital 
and then all hell broke loose downstairs. 

The Japanese had gone berserk 
bayoneting surgeons and patients. Doctors tried 
to plead with them but to no avail. They went on 
killing. Suddenly I remembered the Jap Officer’s 
watch I had. God I thought, if they find me with 
it, I’ll be dead. I hobbled to the toilets where, 
with great difficulty I placed the watch on the 
cistern. I had just got back to my bed when the 
swing doors flew open. There stood two Japanese 
soldiers, one over six feet tall and the other about 
five feet. 

They stayed there with fixed bayonets as 
they looked up and down the ward. In the small 
Jap’s right hand was a squawking duck trying to 
get free. The tall Jap went up to the first two 
heavily bandaged soldiers and looked at their 
wrists for watches. Finding none he proceeded to 
bayonet them. Cpl Sinclair then stepped forward 
with some bread and tea on a tray to try to pacify 
them, but was immediately felled by the butt of a 
rifle. 



Luckily, a Japanese Officer came in and 
saw what was happening and kicked the soldiers 
downstairs. He apologised saying that due to the 
fighting, his men hadn’t eaten for two days. The 
massacre at the hospital was never given 

publicity and many are still unaware it ever 
happened. 

After the fall of Singapore, working 
parties were sent to build the Burma railway, 
known as the death railway. It was completed in 
18 months with men working in atrocious 
conditions. We were starved and beaten by 
savage captors who broke all the rules of 
civilised conduct. Out of the 60.000 POW’s 
working on the railway, 15.000 Died.  

When it was completed, those regarded as 
fit, that’s if you could stand, were sent to work in 



Japan. Less than 1.000 of us left Singapore on a 
tramp steamer. We were hurled down into the 
hold. Most of us were suffering from malaria, 
dysentery, beri beri and malnutrition. It was black 
and hot down there. We had no water or food. 
Within a few hours, men began to scream and go 
mad, so you can imagine the smell and 
conditions. When men began to die they let some 
light and fresh air in. After about two days they 
let us up on deck. 

Just past the Philippines we ran into 
American subs who were patrolling the South 
China Sea. Then, after splitting from our convoy, 
we ran into a typhoon and were shipwrecked off  
Formosa. Eventually the Jap Navy took us in to 
Osaka in 1944. 

After suffering two and a half years of Jap 
barbarity, we thought nothing else could happen 
to us, but it did as the end came quickly when the 
atom bomb dropped 120 miles away at 
Hiroshima.  

We came home on the Queen Elizabeth in 
November 1945, to a government that seemed 
not to care. We were given a cursory check up by 
doctors and paid just £78 from Japanese assets 
for all our sufferings. 

 
John Wyatt. 
Sydenham, 

London. 



THE DESERT RAT 
 
Distance has no meaning in the vast wastes  
of the Western Desert. 
 

I was a founder member of the world 
famous ‘Desert Rats’ and although only a young 
man, I was looked on as a hard nut ‘desert wise’ 
survivor. It was because of this unwanted name I 
had, that I was picked out to go back down the 
line several hundred miles, for spares that we 
needed urgently. A ‘babby’s’ job you may think, 
but not so. Facing the enemy in the line was 
child’s play in comparison to this trip. The 
natural elements of the desert and all the pitfalls 
one may come across, was far greater a threat 
than any enemy could ever be. One wrong 
decision on the trip and you were a dead man. 

I was told that I could take any two men I 
wanted, plus any vehicle. I chose my two best 
mates and a three ton Bedford truck. One of them  
was a first class motor mechanic, a vital man to 
have on such a trip, and the other man was very 
good at putting on a meal with little, or nothing to 
work with. So good so far. 

You name it, and we put it on our truck. 
Oil, water, petrol, food, and anything else we 
thought we may need. We were ready. This trip 
was going to take well over a week if all went 
well, for you must remember, 30 mph. Would be 
our top speed. A long drive with two mates, who 
were more like brothers. So, off we went on our 



trip down the line, we couldn’t have been more 
confident. All was going to be alright. 

Our driving day would be a full 12 hours, 
from sunrise to sunset and you would think that 
on such a trip, you would see lots of troops. Not 
so. You could travel for days and not see a 
solitary soul. We spent our days telling jokes, 
singing, and small talk. Anything to break the 
boredom of the long drive. 

It was on just such a day when we saw a 
small one ton pick up coming towards us. As it 
came closer, we called out to the driver to stop. 
On board were four RAF. Officers. We all 
climbed out of our vehicles, three young ‘Desert 
Rats,’ battle hardened as young as we were and 
four higher ranking RAF. Officers. 

Their driver didn’t seen the point as to 
why we should stop them, but we were struck 
with horror when we saw how green these young 
men were and the lack of vital equipment and 
supplies they carried. They may have just been 
going up the M62 to Blackpool than going across 
the murderous wastes of the Western Desert. 
They told us that they were on their way to an 
airfield several hundred miles away. 

Although we were out ranked, their was 
no doubt about it, we just had to take charge of 
the situation. If these four men were going to 
make it to their airfield alive, they were going to 
need a great deal of help to get there.  

We loaded their truck with all the oil, 
water, food, and anything else we could spare 



including  ammunition just in case. By this time 
our cook had  prepared an appetising, two course 
meal. The RAF. lads got stuck in to it like  a pack 
of hungry wolves. It was the best meal they had 
tasted since they had arrived overseas they said. 
We went on to stress the pitfalls that could lay 
ahead, without frightening them in any way. This 
was very important. 

The time soon came when we had to say 
our goodbyes, and it was at this point the RAF 
driver asked us if he could get more supplies 
ahead. This is the point that I want to make about 
distance having no meaning. ‘Yes’ we all said, 
‘you’re in luck, there is one just a few miles 
down the road. Keep following it until you come 
to the bend, and then you will find it, ten miles 
further on. The RAF. men left to find their 
airfield. We to collect our supplies. 

The three of us felt great. We had done 
our good deed for the day, and saved four good 
young men from almost certain death. Then a 
terrible thought struck us, yes, the supply point 
was back where we said it was. The only trouble 
was, that we had past it four days ago.  

 
 
 
I sure hope to God those young men made 

it to their airfield, for they are always on my 
mind.  
 

 



 
 

Fred Gibson, (centre), with friends. On leave 
in Cairo before the big battle. 

 
 
 
 

Fred Gibson. Stretford, Manchester. 
Ex Desert Rat, 7th Armoured Division, 8th Army. 

 



TERRITORIAL ARMY 
 

I joined the Territorial Army on my 21st 
birthday, being mobilised on the 1st September 
1939. In April 1940, I volunteered for active 
service in an independent company formed from 
the Battalion within the Brigade. After a short 
period of intensive training, we were sent over to 
Norway where we were of course, beaten at 
every turn so to speak. 

Back home again, I was stationed with 
coastal defence until 1942 when I then set sail 
from Gourock on the Clyde aboard the Queen 
Mary. There were thirteen thousand of us on 
board and we sailed unescorted to the Middle 
East for the Western Desert, just in time for 
Rommel to be stopped at El Alamein. 

After four weeks of intensive training 
close to Lake Timsa which forms part of the Suez 
Canal, we were drafted to our various regiments. 
Most of these regiments had suffered severe 
losses during their various offensives with the 
German and Italian forces. I joined a Battalion of 
the Green Howards, a company which was only 
one third of it's normal strength. 

My first few weeks were spent digging 
trenches, emplacements and generally fortifying 
the area. Then came the order to move forward to 
relieve a battalion of New Zealanders. Maoris in 
fact. The positions we took over, were designated 
as the `New Zealand Box' due to the defences 
being a box formation. 



As a corporal, I was put in charge of a 
section of men. Some of whom had just recently 
been in action. They were quite experienced. I 
was the unknown quantity at this time and I 
respected these men because of it. 

One hundred yards from my slit trench 
was a minefield which was about five to six 
hundred yards deep. Over to one side stood the 
latrines, fully open to view. Not long after my 
Platoon Sergeant had gone to perform his duties, 
I had my first experience of enemy fire; and one 
experience I'm sure that my Sergeant will have 
never forgotten to this day. 

He was well ensconced as the German 88. 
mm gun opened fire on our positions, the shells 
landing only a matter of yards away. I looked 
over in the direction of the latrines to see the 
sergeant, tripping and hobbling towards cover 
with his shorts around his ankles. I couldn't help 
but shout, "kick your shorts off you'll run faster." 
which of course he did. He ran like hell, his shirt 
tail finally disappearing into the safety of his slit 
trench. Oh I laughed all right I was able to, but 
that is more than can be said for the two lads 
killed in the platoon next to us.  

As well as reconnaissance and fighting 
patrols, we also had to set up listening posts to 
monitor any enemy movements. On one of these 
occasions, after following the telephone cable 
through the minefield, I connected the telephone 
to the end of the line and reported back to 
Company H.Q. just to inform them that were in 



position. Apart from the half hourly reports back 
to H.Q. the rule was strictly no smoking, no 
talking and as little movement as possible for 
obvious reasons. 

After a short while, a heavy mist 
descended but with the help of the strong 
moonlight, we could see a few yards in front of 
us. It's surprising how mist plays tricks with your 
vision. I looked up to see what I thought, was 
someone or something moving towards me. 
Then, it seemed to stay still. After a while I 
plucked up the courage to investigate. After all, I 
couldn't send in any reports until I had something 
to report. 

Leaving the two men behind, I set off in 
the darkness. We hadn't a clue just what lay 
around us as it was dark when we left to set up 
our post. We were also about 1000 yards in front 
of our lines which made us all a little nervous. 
The only security we had was the telephone.  

The mystery object turned out to be 
biscuit tins. They had been filled with sand and 
stacked on top of each other. The swirling mist 
making them appear to move from time to time. 
When I reported this to H.Q. I was told that it 
was a marker for the mortars and the twenty five 
pounder artillery. It is a little difficult to express 
my feelings on finding this out but to say I was a 
little nervous is putting it mildly. 

Jerry Stukas bombed the rear of our 
positions as regular as clockwork. A full 
squadron would fly over at 1100.hrs each day. 



One Saturday, we had a fresh anti-aircraft 
regiment who managed to shoot eleven or twelve 
of the eighteen Stukas down. It was quite some 
time before we saw any further air attacks after 
that. It's difficult to imagine the most frightening 
noise as they dive earthwards prior to releasing 
their bombs. 

After being bitten by an insect which 
caused my knee to swell to twice it's normal size, 
I was evacuated to a field hospital missing the big 
battle of Alamein. I returned to my unit at Castle 
Benito, near Benghazi some time later. I 
remember spending Christmas day 1942 
travelling in the back of a 30.cwt truck. 

The Battalion was soon on the move 
again fighting our way through Algeria to the 
Cape Bon Peninsula, where we excepted the total 
surrender of the enemy to the British and 
American forces. 

Then, in 1943, I took part in the invasion 
of Sicily and went right through all the 
campaigns. We were eventually brought home 
from Sicily and on the 6th June, I took part in the 
D. Day Landings in Normandy. 

 
A. Bailey. 

Warrington,  
Cheshire. 

 



THE TOBACCO TIN 
 

I have been an Australian for a number of 
years now, but in 1940 I left England as part of 
the signal section of a battalion of the Essex 
Regiment, later transferring to the Royal Corps of 
Signals. 

After several months in Sierra Leone in 
West Africa, we traveled south by ship where we 
were to spend a few weeks in Durban, South 
Africa. Then we boarded the regular convey of 
three, un-escorted fast passenger liners plying 
between Durban and the Middle East. These were 
the Mauritania, New Amsterdam and the Isle de 
France. I was part of the compliment of the latter. 

This trip usually took seven days but on 
this occasion in mid 1941, there were some 
problems in Suez and so we waited off Aden in 
the Yemen for ten days whilst awaiting suitable 
conditions to proceed for disembarkation. 

Of course, due to this unforeseen waiting 
period, stores in the canteen finally expired and 
the habit of smoking was drastically curtailed. 
Then, two more ships arrived to join us in 
waiting. I believe one was the Aquitania but I 
cannot recall the name of the other one. These 
ships carried Australians and Kiwis from their 
respective homelands and had called en route at 
Colombo, Ceylon, now Sri Lanka. 

Messages were passed between the ships 
and our canteen became, once more, stocked with 
what we considered the necessities of a normal 



existence. In addition, these ANZAC compatriots 
in their generosity, had contributed enough to 
provide us on board the Isle de France, with a 
free issue of forty cigarettes or two ounces of 
tobacco per man. This was my first ever contact 
with the Australians, it was also my twenty first 
birthday. 

As we lined up to receive this very 
welcome and greatly appreciated gesture, we 
were additionally surprised to find little notes 
inside the cigarette packets like, "Good luck 
mate" or something similar, and even ten shilling 
notes with, "Have a drink on me." written on 
them. 

My turn came and I received a two ounce 
tin of tobacco. There was no money inside. I 
gratefully used the contents and I kept and 
treasured the empty tin. I carried it with me 
throughout North Africa, Palestine, Jordon, Iraq, 
Syria, Palestine again, Egypt, Libya, Sicily, Italy, 
and finally Germany. Sadly, I lost my treasured 
tin during my last days in Germany before I 
returned to England. 

The reason I treasured my tin so much 
was because, scratched on the inside of the lid 
were these words........ 

If a private gets this, GOOD LUCK 
MATE, but if an officer gets it, I hope it chokes 
the bastard. 
 

W.L. Clarke. Maida Vale, W. Australia. 
 



OFF THE LEAD 
 

Some of the best service humour is 
collective and of a nature that confronts authority 
with out challenging it. For example. A group of 
troopers with a Liverpudlian majority, outside a 
cookhouse in Wensleydale in 1943; when being 
kept waiting for victuals sang melodiously 'Bread 
of Heaven feed us 'till we want no more', 
(perhaps they sired the latter Kop choristers.)  

Sometimes, personal wit intruded. This 
happened at Catterick a little earlier when the 
massive dining hall was filled with hungry young 
recruits who received the news that snow laden 
roads nearby had blocked the delivery of bread, 
so it was to be hard rations. Promptly labelled, 
'Dog biscuits.' 

These were issued, and soon they were 
being tapped rhythmically on the equally hard 
tables in a steady tempo. Into this cacophony, the 
Orderly Officer and Orderly Sergeant in the ritual 
of seeking, 'Any complaints?' Usually this 
invoked a submissive silence, although an 
underlying atmosphere pervaded of an 
OliverTwist request for more. 

On this occasion the ceremonial entry was 
punctuated by a rising crescendo of barks and 
growls. Unabashed, the Orderly Sergeant called 
for order, with a vigorous banging of his stick 
which brought an abrupt ending to the canine 
impersonations. Then he bawled out the requisite  



"Any complaints?" There was a 
sepulchral silence but then an unidentifiable 
voice uttered meekly, 

"Yes Searge', distemper!" 
 

W.C. Dodd. 
Fareham, 

Hampshire. 
 
 
 

 
 



MARCH PAST 
 

I must have been the only private soldier 
ever to take a salute and march past during the 
last war. One day whilst near Doberdo del Lago 
near the Yugoslavian border, being a bren 
gunner, we were issued with a .38 revolver for 
personal protection. I was stood at the side of the 
road cleaning it and as I looked up, a long stream 
of horse and carts, waggons etc. crammed with 
Partisans was approaching me from the hills. As 
they passed, I saw some of them saluting me, so 
to keep on their friendly side I stood to attention 
and saluted back. They all responded. The 
apparent reason for this, as was explained to me 
later, was that only their most senior men were 
issued with a revolver; other ranks had rifles. 
Naturally, they thought I was an officer. 

 

 
K. Gray. Bolton, Lancashire. 



MONEY BOX 
 

It was early September 1941. I was a P.T. 
instructor attached to the Royal Corps of Signals 
in Trowbridge Wiltshire. I was taking a squad on 
P.T. when my Quarter Master Sergeant Instructor 
approached. He told me to report to the 
Commanding Officer at once and not to bother 
changing into uniform as he wanted to see me, 
now! 

Well, as you can imagine, the past few 
weeks of my life rushed through my head.  What 
had I done wrong?  I couldn't think of anything 
that would not have pleased the military 
authorities. 

I immediately reported to the RSM who 
marched me into the  CO's office.  I could feel 
my face burning and my legs were like jelly. "Ah 
Fox" said the CO. "I have just had a telephone 
call from a Mr Jed Broadribb, who I understand, 



is a boxing manager and promoter. He tells me, 
he has organised a charity boxing tournament at 
the Dome in Brighton. The main feature is an 
exhibition by Tommy Farr and that his opponent 
has gone missing." 

He looked up. "The show is to be held in 
three days time. All the proceeds from the event 
are to go to Mrs Churchill's Aid to Russia Fund.  
You must realize that if it is known that Tommy 
Farr will not be boxing, many people will keep 
away.  Mr Broadribb has asked if you would 
box?" 

Knowing that this would get me at least 
three days away from army routines I agreed to 
fight. With the best wishes from my CO, I was 
sent to the company office to collect my leave 
pass, ration card and travel warrant. The warrant 
was made out for Brighton via London. This 
enabled me to have a day at home before and 
after the fight. 

On the day of the show, I travelled down 
to Brighton in the afternoon.  Arriving at the 
Dome I saw 30 - 50 servicemen, crowding 
around the stage door. They all wanted to sneak 
in, and were asking everyone if they would take 
them in with them. I heard a voice shout my 
name. It was "Mendy Fox" he was no relation of 
mine but he did live a few streets away from 
where I lived and was a fellow member of the 
oxford and St Georges Boys Club. Of course he 
wanted to see the fight, so I enlisted his help as 
my second. This was how two members of the 



said club, appeared in the ring opposite the great 
Tommy Farr. 

After the show , Mr Broadribb came over 
to my dressing room and gave me £15. For my 
expenses. He thanked me, for as he said, "saving 
the show." If I hadn't stepped in Tommy Farr 
wouldn't have appeared and the show would have 
had to be cancelled. 

One week later I was again ordered to 
report to the CO's office. He showed me a letter 
from 10 Downing Street, signed by Mrs 
Churchill, thanking him for giving me permission 
to box. Her charity had collected several 
thousand pounds. 
 

Jack Fox.  
Ilford, 
Essex. 

 



LIFE IN THE ARMY 
 

I was eighteen when I was called up to 
join the army. It was just before Christmas 1942. 
Like most young lads, I didn't want to leave my 
girlfriend, but had no choice. 

I was sent to Colchester for training, 
where I wasn't over impressed with that loud 
mouthed, big headed creature that roamed around 
barracks wearing stripes. All he ever seemed to 
do was scream out orders from first thing in the 
morning until last thing at night. To coin a 
phrase, 'He got my goat up.'I was convinced that 
this guy had serious marital problems. 

After only a week, we were told that all of 
our names were to be put into a hat. The first six 
to be pulled out were to be given 72 hours leave. 
My prayers were answered. Out of the cap came 
my name. With enough kit to fill a removals 
truck, I made my way home. My mother greeted 
me with, "Have you deserted?" I answered, "No. 
Not yet" 

As I said goodnight to Lilly, my 
girlfriend, on my last night of leave, I told her 
that I would meet her the following evening. I 
left smothered in lipstick. I went home to bed, 
only to be woken the following morning by three 
policemen in my bedroom. My mother had told 
them I had deserted. I was taken back to 
Colchester and given seven days jankers. 

Later, I was given excused duties for 48 
hrs. So, I didn't report to the guard house when I 



should have done. The bugler was blowing for 
defaulters to fall in. When I did finally turn up, I 
was screemed at once again for being late. When 
asked why I didn't respond to the bugle call, I 
told the Sergeant that I had only been in the army 
a week and that I didn't understand all the calls 
yet. I knew Reveille and the one that was 
sounded when it was time to go to the cookhouse. 

He screemed for me to stand to attention. 
He was beginning to boil. His ears were 
steaming, and I thought his cap was going to 
blow off. He looked me right in the eyes and 
asked for my army number. I replied with, 
554209  as quick as my wits would allow.  Then I 
realised that I had given him my mother's Co-op 
number. 

The rest of this story is all about the swear 
words that I learned, immediately after I 
explained to the Sergeant what I had done. 
 

W. J. Reboul.  
New Barnet, 

Hertfordshire. 
 



THE INVASION 
 

Whilst on guard duty we were patrolling a 
searchlight training site, when my fellow guard 
and I, came face to face with an elephant. We 
shouted and waved our rifles in an attempt to 
scare it away from army equipment. Despite our 
gallant efforts, it continued to advance. It brushed 
against (if you can imagine six tons brushing 
against anything) the lowered 'DE Pole' aerials on 
one of the lights causing a great deal of damage. 
We retreated, backing off with rifles levelled at 
the intruder and  called for reinforcements 

A runner was dispatched to get help from 
the circus in the field next to the barracks. They 
sent a boy aged about twelve to deal with the 
situation. He hooked a large crowbar into the ear 
of the elephant and unconcernedly led it away. 

Later that evening, we enjoyed watching 
the intruder performing. The circus boss having 
thought, that the distribution of a few 
complementary tickets would be the end of the 
matter. Almost certainly, he received a return gift 
from the army. A jumbo sized bill for the repairs.  

I'm sure I saw that same elephant again, 
when I took my family to see the circus when it 
visited Margate just after the war. I don't think it 
recognised me though. 

 
E.A. Court. 

Westgate on Sea, 
Kent. 



THE BUGLER 
 

I was stationed at St Albans in 1941/42. 
Where this incident took place. I was duty bugler 
on guard on the night shift. We were dozing in 
the guard room when we were called out for 
inspection by the Duty Officer. I glanced at my 
watch and saw that it was five minutes to six. I 
reckoned that after inspection I could sound 
reveille. Due at 0600 hrs. 

Unfortunately, I had read the hands of my 
watch wrong as I was still half asleep. It was 
actually only 2330hrs.  

As I started to sound Reveille, the RSM's 
window shot up and he nearly exploded. I was 
placed on a charge. The Company Commander 
who was an old soldier, laughed his head off 
when I explained and he let me off with three 
extra guard duties. 

I still think that I must be the only bugler 
in the British Army who sounded Reveille at 
2330 hrs. This has been my little secret for the 
last fifty years.  

 
C.Regan. 

Lancaster. 
 



HOME GUARD 
 

To many, the Home Guard was a joke. 
But not everyone realised, that it consisted of 
young men awaiting the 'call up', as well as the 
veterans from the First World War. By 1942 it 
was well equipped and well trained. 

My Company Commander, Major Cook, 
was also my boss at work. He was an explosives 
expert during W.W.I. and was the Range Safety 



Officer of the local grenade practice range, which 
was used by three local Battalions of the Home 
Guard, as well as the Army. 

By 1942, training camps for the Home 
Guard were established in various parts of the 
country. I was offered a week's training at Penny 
Pot Lane Barracks, Harrogate in September 1942. 
Major Cook, knowing I was going, asked me if I 
would take some 'Sticky Bombs' with me. 
Harrogate had not yet received a stock for 
training and we had plenty, being an operational 
unit. 

On Sunday morning I collected a 'suitcase 
like' container of 'Sticky Bombs'. Major Cook 
said,  " We ought to cover the container in order 
to allay suspicion." I set off from Lincoln with 
my rifle, kit and suitcase. By the time I arrived at 

Leeds, having changed trains at Retford and 
Doncaster, I had lost my brown paper cover, but I 
wasn't worried. I boarded the Harrogate train and 
found a place to stand in the corridor along with 
many others.  

We had only just pulled out of Leeds 
when a man came out of the adjacent 



compartment and looked at my suitcase. "It 
doesn't really have grenades number.....5 in it 
does it?" he asked.  

"Yes." I answered, "But they are quite 
safe until they are primed."  

"I don't think you should be standing in 
the corridor with all your kit." he said. "Have my 
seat. I'm getting off at the next station."  I took 
his seat in the compartment. Gradually it emptied 
and their places were taken by fellow H.G's on 
their way to Harrogate. As far as I can recall, that 
was the only time whilst in the Home Guard - or 
later in the army - that I was offered a seat by a 
civilian. 
 

L.W. Burkitt.  
Brighouse,  
Yorkshire. 

 



HOT BUGLER 
 

As a wireless operator serving with the 
51st Highland Division, I was frequently 
transferred to different units, eg. RASC, REME, 
RAMC, RA, etc. 

On one occasion, I was attached to the 
RASC whilst we were in North Africa. When it 
was noised abroad that I had played in a 
Salvation Army Band, I was detailed to act as 
Camp Bugler' to sound 'Reveille' and cookhouse' 
calls. 

One exceedingly hot afternoon, I was 
operating the radio transmitter when suddenly the 
Colonel's voice rang out, "Bugler, sound the fire 
call." Someone's tent had caught fire and was 
blazing away merrily. Fortunately, it was 
unoccupied at the time. 

I had learned all the bugle calls some 
years before to earn myself a scouting award, 
however, I dashed out of the truck with the bugle 
and gave a fairly accurate rendition of the 
appropriate tune. Nobody stirred for at least five 
minutes. Then, out of their bivvies, strolled 
around fifty hungry men carrying mess tins and 
mugs heading for the cookhouse which was in 
the opposite direction to the blazing tent. Feeling 
rather dispirited, I offered to return the 
instrument to the stores. 
 

N. Cochrane. Bradford,  
West Yorkshire. 



COUNT TO THREE 
 

I was doing my training with the Green 
Howards at Richmond in Yorkshire. During 
grenade throwing practice, we were in this field 
by the side of a hedge that must have been six 
feet high. As we were walking down the field I 
noticed that the pin was on the wrong side of the 
grenade.  

 In my wisdom I pulled it out to put it in 
its rightful place. In amongst the blue smoke I 
heard my Officer shout.  

 
“Throw the flaming thing!” 
 
He must then have broken the world high 

jump record as he cleared this six feet high hedge 
from the standing position. After a good telling 
off, I was sent back for another one, with strict 
instructions that if there was anything wrong with 
it, I was not to meddle. 

When I got to the throwing area, I was 
given the instruction to throw it towards the 
dummy on the range, count to three, then duck. 

 
 "As long as you don't hit it."  

the officer added. "It's the only one we have left."  
 
What a crack shot I was. Bulls eye. I blew 

it into thousands of pieces. One of which hit the 
Officer on the head in which he needed four 



stitches. Needless to say, the air was not only 
blue with smoke. 
 

J.J. Hammond. 
Wilmslow, 
Cheshire. 

 



OUT OF BOUNDS 
 
I’ve fought beneath a scorching sun 
On sandy battle grounds 
Though many times a town is won 
It’s always out of bounds. 
 
Though N.C.O.’s and privates too 
Lie dead ‘neath sandy mounds 
The only place and this is true  
That’s never out of bounds. 
 
Every rank in battle dress 
To sergeant majors crown 
Never use each others mess 
Because it’s out of bounds. 
 
And when in town on well earned leave 
To spend your hard earned pounds 
Unless you’ve tapes on your sleeve 
The best show’s out of bounds. 
 
I’ve fought for Britain and Her cause 
On democratic grounds 
But sad to say it’s here I pause  
For England’s out of bounds. 
 
Each and all a mother’s son 
That fights ‘till victory sounds  
Grant the same to all and one 
And banish out of bounds. 
 



Sent In By Mrs. Margaret Corkill. 
Written By Her Late Husband Whilst Serving In 
The 67th Green Howards’, Yorkshire Regiment, 

8th Army in North Africa. 
 



TRIBUTE TO JOCK DARK 
 

Jock Dark’s end has always been a bit of 
a mystery. I had the privilege of being ‘two man 
tent mate’ with him at the final stages of the war. 
We were using ‘Fuzzy Power,’ the 75mm 
mountain guns. The more they sang, the better 
they pulled.  

On the critical day it was my job to look 
for a track to pull the gun along the next day. At 
the time I was ill with malaria. Jock, after cutting 
tent poles and erecting our joint home, said to 
me. “ You look a bit off colour, I’ll go and recce 
the track. “He didn’t return. 

A couple of days later, after getting the 
gun into position, we fired a few rounds. We 
went in with the infantry, the 2/5 Battalion, to try 
and square off for Jock. 

All we found was rotten meat and the 
Japs dixies. A sad end for a staunch friend. 
 

Alan Maxted. 
Kippax Ring, 
Queensland, 

Australia. 
 



A PUFF OF SMOKE 
 

During the War it seems that as far as 
smokers were concerned, blackmailing was a 
fairly common occurrence. The usual issue of 
cigarettes, 'Victory V' were always tossed out of 
the window as the more luxurious, more 
palatable, Craven A's or Players, were dangled in 
front of unsuspecting volunteers. This was to be 
their reward for the dangerous or dirty mission 
ahead. 

I was sent out on a night patrol, to lift two 
coffin mines from outside the German defences. 
In the group was and old sweat from the pioneer 
platoon. It was his responsibility to disarm and 
lift the mines. We could hear the Germans 
singing and also the sound of a generator running 
in their position. This noise made our job a little 
easier.  

Smudge had to apply a fair amount of 
pressure onto the top of the mines in order to 
withdraw the firing piece. He lifted his foot and 
slammed it down just as the Germans stopped 
singing and the generator stopped running. There 
was a loud clanging noise and a loud swishing 
sound as the spring was released. He repeated 
this task on the other mine as we all buried our 
heads in the sand hoping that the Germans hadn't 
heard us. I helped him pick up the mines and we 
ran like startled rabbits back to our positions. 

Another successful mission completed, 
we looked forward to our well deserved Craven 



A. This was when Smudge realised that he had 
left his two packets of cigarettes by the German 
defences. I would have dearly loved to have seen 
their faces when instead of two deadly coffin 
mines protecting their lines there were two 
packets of Craven A cigarettes. 

 

W.H. (Harry) Slaney. 
Leicester. 

 



CLEANING WINDOWS 
 
It was at the time that the Burma-Siam 

railway was nearing completion, and a Japanese 
Officer was interviewing tradesmen to work in 
Japan. On location movements, it was customary 
for POW's to want to stay together for ‘safety in 
numbers’ and thus was the case with Paddy 
Sheils and his pal. 

At the table in the jungle clearing, the 
Officer indicated to line up in single file. Pointing 
to the first POW, he said: 

 
"You-ga, worko in Englisso?" 
 
"Carpenter" was the reply. 
 
 "Good-ka," he said, pointing to the spot 

where he wanted the skilled men to stand. 
  
"You-ga?" he said to the next man. 
  
"Plumber." the reply, and he was directed 

to the same spot.  
 
Soon some twenty tradesmen were 

selected for Japan, when it suddenly dawned on 
us, that we would be split up if we didn't think of 
something.....and quickly. 

It was Jimmy Kane's turn next, a cockney.  
 
"You-ga works?"  



Enquired the Jap, and Jimmy, an electrician by 
trade, replied: 

 
"Window cleaner." 
 
"No good ta- na." he was told as he was 

waved away.  
 
And so the next repeated. The 

consequence was that the window cleaners queue 
got longer and longer, as the skilled man’s queue, 
got shorter and shorter, and the Jap's face got 
redder and redder! 

My turn came: 
 "Window cleaner." I replied. As to strike, 

the officer rose and roared. 
 
 "No good ta - na!"  
 
 When my mate Paddy gave the same 

answer, out came the exasperated Jap's sword to 
be waved violently in front of his face. 

 
 "All men pucking window cleaners." he 

screamed. 
 
"I clean Crystal Palace." said Paddy, 

going through the motions. 
  
"No pucking Crystal Palace!"  



With that about fifty window cleaners 
disappeared in the gathering gloom with the 
screaming cries of  

 
 "No pucking Crystal Palace. All men no 

good to - na." Ringing in our ears. 
  
We didn't care; we were still mostly all 

together, but again, little did we know that within 
a few months, all would be bound for Japan. 

 
 John Wyatt. 

Sydenham, 
London. 

 



WE LIBERATED BELSEN 
 
 

Mon April 9th 1945.  
Today, we are pushing on to Belsen. 

Some prison camps had already been liberated 
and the inmates had taken to the roads. It was 
chaos. It took us sometime to get through these 
ex-prisoners, but by midnight we were in harbour 
near Minden. A Bridgehead was made over River 
Weser by 6th Airborne, which we were to relieve 
as Spearhead Division the next day. Also, a 
bridge was seized intact over the River Leine. 

 
Tues. April 10th 1945. 

The 15th Scottish have taken over the 
lead and move over the River Leine at 
Ricklingen. An enemy force was in this area with 
three tanks, (Panthers), but they have been 
overcome. We killed twenty Germans. The 11th 
Armoured has also met some resistance at the 
Weser, north of Minden. The Americans are near 
Hanover. Our division is to move to the forward 
areas between the River Weser and the River 
Leine. 

 
Thurs. April 12th 1945. 

Orders came for 15th Scottish to move 
through the 6th Airborne Division, and take 
Celle. 

 
Fri. April 13th 1945. 



The 15th Scottish advance, assisted by the 
tank Coldstream and tank Scots Guards, were 
directed on Celle. The forward troops were held 
up by the enemy for a while, at Ehlershausen, six 
miles south of Celle. Even though they were only 
Officer Cadets with bazookas, they knocked out 
two of our tanks. They were soon taken prisoner. 

Our Brigade was advancing by Neustadt 
to Celle, when we were engaged by enemy 
troops. They were a mixed bunch. Young boys, 
cadets and training school troops. They put up a 
good fight but were gradually overcome. Some of 
them are only fifteen years old. 

 
Sat. 14th April 1945. 

Our division is now in Celle and most of 
us are feeling the shock. Here was the Belsen 
Concentration Camp, just a few miles down the 
River Aller. In Celle itself, is a smaller camp, in 
which there are maybe two hundred, dead or 
dying.  These people are no more than skeletons 
with a layer of skin. The town is shrouded with 
the smell of rotting corpses. However, there was 
worse to come. 

At Belsen, seven miles down river at the 
Winsen Bridge, the 11th Armoured Division, has 
orders not to cross until the mess inside the 
Concentration Camp, has been cleared up. No 
fighting soldiers were allowed into the camp until 
all negotiations between the British and German 
Wehrmacht have been completed. Also, the 
cleansing troops were to be sent in.  



The air again, is wreaking with the smell 
of dead bodies. There are no birds in the woods 
that surround the camp. Strong men are being 
sick and some are weeping. 

 
Sun. 15th April 1945. 

Belsen Concentration Camp is liberated. 
The 15th Scottish move on to proceed to Velzen. 
After what they have seen at Belsen, they will 
kill anybody who gets in their way. Why some of 
the Germans are still fighting, no one can reason 
why. Their Army has been destroyed on the 
Western Front and soon the Russians will be in 
Berlin. 

 
Mon.16th April 1945. 

On the road to Velzen, there is a German 
Demolition Party, who every mile or so, blow a 
great hole in the middle of the road. They then 
sow mines and booby traps around it. There is no 
way off the road, as there are woods on either 
side.  

We are now ten miles out of Celle. There 
is a wide gap between the 15th Scottish and the 
11th Armoured Division. In the gap on the left, 
are a number of flying columns of enemy troops. 
They are causing a lot of trouble to our flank. In 
fact our water carrier ran 'slap bang' into one of 
the columns and was destroyed by a Panther tank. 
The driver was killed. The fifth water carrier to 
be killed since Normandy. 



The woods on this road are fairly dense 
and so it is impossible to get the leading tanks of 
the 3rd Scottish Guard through them. The 
German rearguard keeps blowing great holes in 
the road, so it is near impossible to advance our 
column. The troops, tanks and guns, stretch back 
over seven miles. Fortunately, there was a track 
about two miles to our left, that ran parallel with 
the main drive. We diverted on to this track, 
which ran for about twelve miles. It came out at a 
place called Holdenstedt; two miles short of 
Velzen. All this movement was done in pitch 
darkness. The Highland Light Infantry, rode at 
the head of the column of tanks. As they passed 
through the villages, they shot them up. 

 
Tues. 17th April 1945. 

Our column has moved fast and we are 
now out on our own, roughly about fifteen miles 
in front of the armoured division on our rear left. 
They are just leaving the Belsen Camp area. By 
dawn, the leading troops were in Velzen. The 
enemy was waiting for us; fresh units from 
Denmark.  

The Highland Light Infantry ran straight 
into an anti-aircraft unit, which opened fire at our 
column. At the same time SP guns, cruised 
alongside the column, destroying the transport. 
They had some very fierce action against the 
enemy infantry. One of the Artillery Regiments, 
the 131st, engaged the enemy over open sights. It 
was our leading battery. My battery was a mile 



behind further along the column, so we were not 
committed. The Scots Guards went to assist and 
some kind of defence was restored. We had lost a 
good number of men and transport. We were in 
contact with the enemy all day. We've taken two 
hundred prisoners. 

 
Wed. 18th April 1945. 

Just after 1200hrs, our troops advanced 
into Veersen on the outskirts of Velzen. The 
enemy looked as if it had intended to fight it out 
and bar our way to the River Elbe. They had 
plenty of guns, ammunition, machine guns and 
Bazookas and were full of fight. The Glasgow 
Highlanders were fighting at Stadensen, just off 
the right of the advance. This village would not 
surrender so it was destroyed and set on fire. 
Once again, it was being defended by young 
Officer Cadets with Bazookas. They were all 
taken prisoner before dawn. A few civilians died 
in the action.  

The 530th Field Battery R.A. are also in 
action. They have destroyed two half-track 
vehicles. Some ammunition trucks caught fire, 
and soon blew up. 

Just after dawn, the enemy SP guns had, 
had enough and withdrew. Twelve S.P. guns 
have been destroyed and ten armoured lorries. A 
good number of enemy were lying dead and 
some have been taken prisoner. 

 
Thurs. 19th April 1945. 



The Highland Light Infantry, Seaforth, 
Glasgow Highlanders and the Gordons, 
continued fighting for a foothold in Velzen all 
day. The snipers have been pretty busy causing a 
number of casualties. 
 
Fri. 20th April 1945. 

Today we are preparing for a general 
assault on Belsen. Guns are being prepared ready 
for a barrage to be laid down.   

 
Sidney Hall.  

Intake, Doncaster,  
Yorkshire. 

 



D – DAY 
 
We realised that it was the real thing 

when we saw the bonfire. Practically all of our 
unit had been on a forced march for most of the 
day, and when we returned and saw the bonfire, 
we grasped the reason for our enforced absence. 
The bonfire, surrounded by our tents, was fuelled 
by everything that we had borrowed, stolen or 
found. We saw burning away, our truckle beds, 
armchairs, lockers, boxes, tennis racquets and 
even two footballs. All we were left with was Air 
Force issue and photo wallets. We were each 
weighted in full fighting equipment, the tents 
were weighed and all things great and small were 
weighed. 

At dawn, we left our field at Hanaker 
Corner and arrived in our lorries on Salisbury 
Plain, marshalled with what was to be the 
Invasion Army. It was incredible, the long lines 
of trucks, armoured vehicles, guns etc. covered 
the vast expanse of the Plain as far as the eye 
could see, in every direction. It was boring, yet 
exciting at the same time - nothing to do but 
clean and re-clean our rifles and think about our 
chances of staying in one piece. 

At midnight we were unloaded at a tented 
camp and queued up to receive some pan in 
francs; and so to sleep? At 0200hrs, we were 
awakened. “On the move!” was the order. I 
awoke to trouble, my beautiful rifle and my first 
aid pack had been stolen, I searched, raved and 



cursed but they were never found. It was not until 
I landed that I acquired, kept and used a German 
rifle.  

We embarked at Newhaven on an L.C.T. 
and had been at sea for about an hour when we 
heard on the radio that the Invasion had started. I 
was being sea-sick on the top of a Bedford three 
tonner with my Bren gun and legs firmly tucked 
in the heavy camouflage netting. A violent 
pitching of the boat threw me off the lorry but the 
netting held me upside down; then I clambered 
back on top and wasn’t sea-sick anymore. 

Whilst aloft on my perch, there was a call 
from the C.O. for everybody to assemble for last 
minute instructions. I couldn’t go of course and 
later everyone was too busy and far too excited to 
tell me. Overhead, the sky was throbbing with 
our bombers; formation upon formation, all 
heading to France and on the sea, a one-way 
stream of traffic; L.C.T.’s and various naval 
protection craft. 

About noon, our L.C.T. came to a stop 
and we found out that we would be going ashore 
the next day: D-Day One. The comments were 
loud and sarcastic, some saying that it was done 
to give the German aircraft a sitting target. Just 
before the dawn, we started to move and so felt 
safer. 

Our unit; R.A.F. 3207 Servicing 
Commandos, had been split into two sections for 
transport and both L.C.T.’s were under fire for a 
while by German ‘E’ boats. Unfortunately, our 



sister ship was hit by the shells and burst into 
flames. We could only watch on helpless as no 
craft was allowed to stop to render aid. We 
thought it must have eventually sunk as we never 
heard again of the many friends who were on 
board.  

When we sighted land, there was a 
regular screaming of shells flying over our heads 
and landing on targets, we hoped, well inland. 
The shelling came from two battleships about 
fifteen miles out to sea. I think the Nelson was 
one. 

At last our L.C.T. reached the shallows 
and with a mighty roar, the chained flap of the 
boat dropped, giving us a ramp into the water. 
Then, the first Bedford truck rolled off with our 
keen twenty one year old C.O. in charge. After 
about six feet of progress in shallow water, it 
suddenly disappeared into a wave of foam down 
a channel. As everyone in our Unit had to be able 
to swim, it wasn’t a matter of life of death, and 
we cheered, as first a kit bag with blankets broke 
the surface, followed by the swimmers; the C.O. 
and five airmen. It was a sight to remember as 
they scrambled onto the top of the submerged 
lorry, just up to their knees in water. We couldn’t 
help or rescue them, as we had been told by Lord 
Lovatt that successes would be supported and 
failures of any kind would be ignored; even if 
there was possible loss of life. As our L.C.T. 
reversed to find another part of the beach, we 
finally lost sight of the soaking paddlers shouting 



and jumping in a foot of water on the canvass 
roof of the submerged lorry. 

The Bomb Disposal crowd had cleared 
small areas of the beach by blowing up the heavy 
wooden obstacles which were mined. A Beach 
Marshall who wore red arm bands, indicated our 
route over the sand, around a German minefield 
with small yellow flags bearing a black skull and 
then safely onto a mangled narrow road with 
dead or dying cattle lay on the side. We had 
arrived. 

On the way up from the beach, we passed 
the shallow trenches in which lots of dead 
soldiers were placed temporarily. Hurrying 
passed was a local Frenchman pushing an old 
wheelbarrow loaded with a beautiful ornate 
armchair. 

Our progress was stopped for a while by a 
lone German sniper, firing onto the road from 
high up in the ruins of a bombed church tower. 
Our C.O. caught up with us here, he was still wet 
from his ducking, and he got a three inch mortar 
and fired at the base of the tower. The whole 
structure collapsed, sniper and all. 

I took notice of the winding, twisting 
route through Ver-sur-Mer. I thought I’d better 
remember the way in case I had to get back 
somehow, this was my first mistake. The second? 
Well, when we were safely in Echalon, a little 
paddock about three miles from the beach, the 
C.O. asked if anyone could find their way back to 
the beach. Of course, no-one owned up to, except 



yours truly. This was the only time I ever 
volunteered in the five years I served in the 
R.A.F.  

I was now lumbered with the job of 
directing D.W.K.’s back and forth from the beach 
to Echalon, all day and late into the night. They 
were loading and trucking petrol in ‘jerry-cans’. 
It was quite dicey with the amount of shrapnel 
that was falling and new craters appearing in the 
road. A great high wall of stacked jerry-cans, like 
the Great Wall of China completed, I was sent 
back to my unit and slept the rest of the morning 
under a Bedford.  

In our paddock was a German concrete 
gun emplacement, the big gun had been spiked 
and the barrel blown open like a peeled banana. 
Six dead Germans lay by the gun, and parts of 
others. Beneath the gun emplacement was a large 
dug-out complete with tables, chairs, beds etc. 
This is where I managed to get my replacement 
rifle. We left loads of civilian clothing which we 
couldn’t carry. It was here that we came across 
the small radio-controlled mini tanks, about the 
size of a child’s motor car. 

The day we left, a gang of German 
P.O.W.’s arrived to bury their dead and to our 
horror, we found a trip-wire in the mud across the 
entrance of our enclosure. There were two 
‘Teller’ mines at each end which could have 
killed us all. We shuddered to think of the many 
lorries, guns and other vehicles that had passed 
over the wire.  



I was given the job as ‘Corporal of 
digging up tree stumps’ which the Germans had 
put in a long flat field to stop us using it as a 
landing strip. We used a mobile crane and a long 
low-loader to shift he logs to the side of the field. 
At the same time, I was servicing the radio sets, 
or replacing the ‘shot up’ ones. 

In addition to our own work, we were put 
on to laying ‘summer felt’ tracking the cleared 
beach, this was to make a temporary landing strip 
for our fighter planes. After getting rid of their 
ammunition and petrol on sorties inland, they 
would land here to re-fuel and re-arm before 
strafing the enemy once more before returning to 
England.  

Although the weather was warm in the 
daytime, the nights were cold, so we found a gun 
emplacement, big stainless steel (surprisingly) 
gun and ‘Jerry’ ammo’. This ammo’ was like 
eight inch circular silk cushions with a two inch 
hole in the middle. We made a bonfire of them 
which gave off a terrific heat. 

The yellow road dust settle on our R.A.F. 
uniforms and we appeared to resemble a ‘Jerry’ 
Unit, a\s we marched on. This led to a shattering 
experience as we were ambushed by our ow 
‘Green Howards’. Several of us changed into 
kaki jackets which made us feel much safer. 

After reaching Tilley, we were brought 
back to Arromanches on the coast and were given 
jobs such as loading our wounded onto Dakota 
planes, collecting stray Germans at night 



patrolling the prisoners’ wire enclosure and 
loading damaged planes onto low-loaders for 
shipment back to England. 

There jobs were an anti-climax after the 
D-Day action and as a result, we were in constant 
trouble with the service police. We slouched 
around with ‘gum-boots’ turned down, the yellow 
field dressings became cravats, we had German 
leather belts, German swagger sticks etc. The 
‘powers that be’ put up with it for a while, 
probably because of our losses, but it couldn’t 
last. So, we were packed off back to England 
after only two months in Normandy. 

As our contingent of four, three ton 
Bedfords rolled towards Manston Aerodrome, we 
were cheered on the way. Each lorry had a huge 
‘Swastika’ draped over the top and over the sides. 
We brought a piano with us. Unit 3207 Servicing 
Commando was disbanded. 

 
J.K. Cleasby.  

Harwood, 
Bolton. 
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IN THE COLD 
 

I was in a Bomber Squadron based in 
Norfolk during World War Two.  Our aircraft 
were dispersed for miles around the huge airfield, 
which was surrounded by woods. Next to our 
aircraft on the edge of the woods, was a Nissen 
hut: This was our home. 

Ernie Ward (3rd from right) & friends. 

One Christmas Day, we were ordered to 
stand by for operations, this was despite the fact 
that the ground was a foot deep in snow, with 



many huge drifts.  I had promised to phone my 
wife at 1900hrs. The nearest phone was on a 
lonely road on the other side of the woods. 

Giving myself plenty of time due to the 
adverse weather conditions, I decided to set off 

through the woods at 1800hrs.  After struggling 
through the snow drifts, I finally reached the 
phone just before 1900hrs, only to be told by the 
operator, that the phone lines were booked fully 
until 2100hrs.  

The operator booked a call in for me at 
2100hrs so, not fancying the thought of standing 



around for two hours, I set off back to the hut. 
After crawling through the snow again I finally 
reached it at 2000hrs. I looked into the hut and 
explained the situation to the lads who were 
highly amused at my predicament. I turned 
around once again to fight my way through the 
frozen wastes of Norfolk, heading for the phone.  

I arrived with two minutes to spare, the 
operator connected my call and I then managed 
to wish my dear wife, a belated Merry Christmas.  
Then it was off back to the hut for me.  It was 
roughly 2200hrs when I arrived back there. I was 
cold, wet and exhausted.  

The Squadron Leader had invited Joe 
Loss and his Band over for the evening, to give a 
little concert for those of us who weren't on duty. 

Despite my physical sufferings, I couldn't 
help but smile when during my journey, I heard 
their melodic rendition of  

 
‘In The Mood’.  
 
It was a Christmas Night that I will 

always remember. 
 

Ernie Ward.  
Stockport.  
Cheshire. 

 



THE CITY OF CANTERBURY 
 

Along with two or three hundred R.A.F. 
personnel and a hundred carpenters, (chippy 
riggers), I boarded H.M.S. Andes, a brand new 
converted passenger liner, serving as a troop ship. 
She was already carrying about 3000 servicemen 
when we boarded her so you can imagine the 
conditions. Here we were on this big ship, not 
even knowing for how long or where we were 
bound. 

During our passage we were chased by 
submarines as well as experiencing the usual 
dangers. The speed of this ship managed to keep 
us out of danger more than anything. After two or 
three days at sea, we finally docked in Durban 
South Africa where we disembarked.  

As we wandered about the docks we 
heard rumours that H.M.S. Andes was taking 200 
Italian prisoners back to England. We were told 
to board what I thought was a cargo boat. Can 
you imagine that; 3000 plus of us. Of course we 
did as we were told. The conditions were 
atrocious. There wasn’t enough room to swing a 
cat.  

The ship was powered by a little pom-
pom engine on the upper deck. The toilets were 
just a little row of cubicles with one plank 
running through them all. They faced the galley 
and were only a couple of feet away, you could 
see what was on the menu. The smell in the 
galley however, was terrible. 



The sleeping accommodation wasn’t 
much better either. Twelve of us slept on top of a 
mesh grill over a hold full of rotting vegetables. 
Of course this only added to the smell. We were 
left without anything to drink all day long. All in 
all, the conditions were atrocious. 

We asked to see the C.O. to find out just 
what was happening. He wouldn’t tell us 
anything, he just ignored us. Two or three times 
we asked until we couldn’t take it any more. So it 
was decided that we would all go ashore and get 
ourselves a drink. We slid down the ropes and 
anchor chains, in fact anything at all, that would 
get us ashore. We certainly didn’t mutiny, we just 
wanted to get out of those conditions and get 
something to eat and drink from the little cafe on 
the dockside.  

Quite a while later, the C.O. came ashore 
and walked amongst us telling us to get back on 
board, or else! We tried to reason with him and 
get some sort of explanation as to what was 
happening, but he wouldn’t tell us. A lot of 
questions were asked about the Andes and The 
City of Canterbury; the ship we were supposed to 
be sailing on. We didn’t get any answers. 

The C.O. walked passed our group and as 
I was the smallest he grabbed me and accused me 
of being the ringleader. I thought, “Aye-aye, 
you’ve had it.” My mate Big Jimmy Fox was 
standing by the side of me. He grabbed the 
C.O.’s hands and loosened them and we both 



dashed off into the crowd where he couldn’t find 
us.  

The C.O. and his aides went back on 
board, pulling up the gangplank as they went. To 
our amazement ‘The City of Canterbury’ set sail. 
The N.C.O.’s amongst us, kept us in order, and 
put us in lines. We were then finally taken in tow 
by the Military Police, and marched off the 
dockside to Chairwood Camp at Durban. 

30 Of us represented the whole troop at 
the Court Marshall. We never refused to go any 
where, we just wanted to be treated as men not 
cattle. The whole thing was a farce from start to 
finish. No one lost any seniority, the Court 
Marshall was never put on any of our records, 
and the Squadron Leader representing us was 
taken off the case under the pretext of illness. 
Never once during our time here were we put 
under close arrest. 

A short time later, we sailed off to 
Singapore and then eventually to India. We were 
sung on our way by Durban’s ‘Lady in White’ 
who sang every troop ship out with the song, 
Land of Hope and Glory. 

 



Jack During Basic Training. 1940. 
 

J. Fishwick.  
Peterlee, 

County Durham. 
 



PALS 
 

We arrived on aerodrome at midnight, 
and were told to get some sleep before we had to 
put things right for the fighters. 

My mate Jamie and I noticed a bungalow 
and decided to take a look inside. The place was 
empty except for a large suitcase. We opened it 
and inside to our amazement was an alarm clock 
and a big bottle of red wine. Of course we drank 
it. 

We woke up under guard the next 
morning. I asked the Corporal in charge just what 
we were doing there as neither of us could 
remember. We were told that we came in 
absolutely blotto and Jamie called the Sergeant 
Major a square headed B......D. OK, I can 
understand why he's here then, but why me? 
'Well' he said. 'When Jamie turned to you and 
asked, He is a square headed B......D isn't he 
Nick? You replied. If you say so Jamie, of course 
he is. 

Jamie lost his stripes and I got seven days 
W.A.N.T. The OC, apparently, thought it was 
very amusing, but he said, we had to be punished 
out of respect for the Sergeant Major. 

The alarm clock I carried until we got to 
Vienna where I swapped it with a Russian soldier 
for a good wrist watch. 

 
F.J. Nicholls. Rickmansworth, Hertfordshire. 



 
THE WOOL FLOCK MATTRESS 

 
I was posted on a bitterly cold day, from 

Scotland to an RAF Training Station, in the 
Midlands. Due to events beyond my control, I 
arrived late. I reported to the Guard Room 
(around midnight) to be told that there was no 
accommodation available for me on the camp, 
but I had been assigned accommodation in the 
village.  

The N.A.A.F.I. and the canteen were 
closed. I was unable to get even a cup of tea. 
Cold and hungry, I set off through the snow, kit 
bag on my shoulder to find the village.  I had 
rehearsed the address given to me, as to read the 
note in the Blackout would have been impossible. 

I had the good fortune to meet an Air 
Raid Warden who, helpfully went with me to the 
door of the cottage where I was to stay. I almost 
woke the whole village up as I banged on the 
door. It was opened a few minutes later by a very 
large man in a night-shirt. 

He greeted me with, “I told them at the 
camp, that I wasn't having any airmen staying 
here, so just take yourself off.” As he tried to 
close the door, I pushed my way in saying that 
unless I got some shelter, I would probably freeze 
to death on his doorstep. Reluctantly, he gestured 
for me to follow him. I followed his bulky figure 
up the narrow staircase to a tiny bedroom.  “You 



can stay here for the night.” he said. “But just for 
tonight.” 

I entered the room and looked around. It 
was very cold. The damp wall had iced over in 
parts and the only furniture in there was an old 
iron bedstead with a flock mattress on it. There 
was no bedding at all. Tapping on the other 
bedroom door, I asked if they had any blankets. I 
was told angrily that they had none. 

I sat on the loose flock mattress, getting 
colder and colder, and hungrier and hungrier. I 
hadn't had anything to eat since breakfast. I had 
involuntary found a use for my teeth though. 
They were chattering with the cold. I just could 
not stop shivering. By now I was getting 
desperate. 



Looking at the mattress, I was seized with 
a reckless idea. I took out my RAF issue knife 
and then slit it from top to bottom. Complete with 
greatcoat and boots, I climbed amongst the fluffy 
black bits of wool. It worked. I soon fell asleep. 
The next thing I knew, it was 0500hrs. As quiet 
as a mouse, I crept out of the bedroom and out of 
the house, scattering bits of flock everywhere, 
escaping to the safety of the camp, and a nice hot 
meal. 

After the days classes, I went to the Guard 
Room and told them my tale of woe, and 
requested alternative accommodation. The 
answer was a very definite no. All my appeals 
were in vain, my compliant about no blankets and 
bedding just created amusement amongst them, 
with the only suggestion being that I should fall 
into bed with my landlady. 

Eventually the Duty Officer arrived and 
without looking at me asked the Sergeant if he 
had given me an order. To which he gave a 
positive reply. The Officer turned to face me, and 
dismissed me without any further argument. I 
reluctantly tramped back through the snow 
towards the village. Under my arm I had two 
blankets that I had (borrowed) from the camp.   

The nearer I got to the cottage, the more 
my resolve failed.  I began to look out for a 
suitable barn for the night, but there was none. I 
arrived eventually, my hand freezing with fear as 
I tried to knock on the door. “Dare I?” I thought 
to myself. A sudden flurry of snow made my 



mind up for me. As the door swung open, I stood 
looking into the eyes of the landlord and his wife, 
who, I swear looked even bigger than the night 
before. 

Before I had the chance to apologise, the 
landlord said.  “Come upstairs. We've been 
waiting for you.” I prepared myself for anything 
as I followed then up the stairs. I certainly didn't 
expect the sight that greeted me as he flung the 
bedroom door open. The carpet of flock had 
disappeared. The room had been thoroughly 
cleaned, and there was a paraffin heater over in a 
corner. The bed was made up with sheets, 
pillowcases and blankets. There was even a chair 
in the corner. My look of dismay and 
apprehension rapidly changed to bewilderment.  

“Sorry.” they said. “We could only spare 
one blanket from our bed. And don't try to 
apologise either.” said the landlady.  “Last night 
was all our fault.” They both looked at my face 
and burst out laughing. I couldn't help but join in. 
With tears of laughter in his eyes, the landlord 
then said.  

 
“Come on downstairs lad, your supper’s 

ready.” 
 
I knew then that I was going to be ok. 

 
J.K.Cleasby.  

Harwood,  
Lancashire. 



 



The various sketchings that appear throughout 
this book, are copies of original airgraphs taken 
from an untitled book given to me by Mrs. S.R. 
Beynon of Tredegar, Gwent. Mrs. Beynon was 
herself given the book by a neighbour she met 
whilst camping in July 1945. This book is now 
residing in the Imperial War Museum, London. 
 

THE AIRGRAPH 
 
In the spring of 1941, as Rudolf Hess drifted 
earthward into Scotland and a sorrowful Britain 
woke to learn of the tragedy of H.M.S. Hood and 
her brave crew; another important battle at the 
Post Office was being won on behalf of British 
Servicemen everywhere. Undoubtedly, 
circumstance dictates the pattern of mans’ future 
and restricted space in limited air transport, could 
only fuel a fashion of an idea that Kodak, the 
Post Office and the Army Postal Directorate had 
nurtured since before the second world war.  
 

Mail was becoming increasing secondary 
in this conflict when drawn against men and 
essential equipment, but the role the Post Office 
portrayed in the provision of their vitally 
important charge was to become highly 
acknowledged. With such a worrying and 
uncertain future ahead of them, and the world 
theatre in this global conflict extending beyond 
all imagination, love, hope and sincere words 



from home, meant all to our lonely and 
frightened servicemen. 

 
The ‘airgraph’ was born to alleviate the 

increasing burden of too many bulky mail sacks 
and with a normal letter weighing in at roughly 
½ounce, the popularity of this ‘Micro-
photography’ was almost immediate.  

 
In receipt of your airgraph form, simple 

instructions were followed regarding the 
placement of your message; along with stern 
warnings regarding folding or creasing. The form 
was then numbered and photographed by a 16mm 
camera resulting in a film 100 feet long and 
containing 1.700 airgraph copies; the completed 
package weighing in at 5½ ounces, compared 
with original paper weight of 50lbs.  

On arrival at its destination, the whole 
process was reversed, placed in window 
envelopes and delivered through the normal 
postal channels. Later, the service offered 
provision for a small photograph, in many cases, 
the first viewing the proud father would have of 
his most recent family member. 

 
Humour and tragedy were portrayed on 

these airgraphs as the artist, comedian and poet 
that was that serviceman came to the fore. 
Birthday wishes, bedtime stories and certainly 
heart felt desires, were on show for all to see. 
Maybe that was the only ‘negative’ side, if you 



pardon the pun; the lack of privacy. As the war 
progressed and feelings intensified; to those so 
inclined towards snooping; I’m sure suffered 
with, and delighted at, the many and varied 
feelings of the authors. With over 330.000.000 
produced by its discontinuation in July 1945, I’m 
sure they must have found plenty to keep 
themselves occupied on the Home Front. 

 
Ian Billingsley. 
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